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We are a Portuguese company with an important role in the business world
A 50 years of history to honour
A presence in 9 countries to celebrate
And 1,400 employees to inspire our customers to achieve more
This is what we are: a customer-centric company

Our mission starts by understanding their needs
This is what motivate us: being a business partner 

If it’s needed to reinvent the way we work, we do it proactively 
Even if that means to find new partners in a completely different geography
This is what inspire us: striving for excellence 

Our relationship goes beyond the sale
We are always available
To help them to achieve their goals in the most efficient way
Offering the best and most adequate products for their needs
This is our passion: creating value to our customer business

We go to the moon, seven times a month
And around our planet, three times a day
To make a unique delivery to our customers
This is what excites us: achieving what we promise

We do what we do because what our customers do matter to us
We put their ideas into action. We make it happen
Because we want to inspire them for the future
It’s a matter of attitude. Innovative thinking
This is our ambition: adding value beyond what is expected

The best is yet to come, write it on paper
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INAPA 
in the world

Spain

Switzerland

France

Portugal

Germany

Turkey

Angola

Present in 9 countries, Inapa holds 
today a leadership position in the paper 
merchant industry at the European level, 
with 1,400 employees spread in different 
geographies, and more than 70,000 
worldwide clients.

Belux
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Group Holding  
Structure

INAPA – INVESTIMENTOS PARTICIPAÇÕES E GESTÃO, SA
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100% 75% 100%

100%

97.81%
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25% 100% 100% 94.9%

Europackaging
SGPS, LDA

Inapa 
Embalagem, Lda

Da Hora Artigos 
de Embalagem,

Lda

Inapa 
Packaging, 

GmbH

PMF – Print Media
Factoring, GmbH

Inapa Logistics,
GmbH

Inapa Suisse,
SA

Tradembal, 
SA

Inapa
Packaging

Inapa France,
SAS

Inapa Belgique,
 SA

Inapa España
Distribuçión 
de Papel, SA

Surpapel, 
SL

Inapa Angola,
SA

Inapa 
Comunicação 

Visual,
Lda

Paper Union,
GmbH

Inapa Portugal
Distribuição 
de Papel, SA

Inapa Shared 
Center, Lda

0.3%

32.5%
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Inapa 
Deutschland, 

GmbH

Semaq
Emballages

Inapa 
Luxembourg,

SA

Complott Paper 
Union, GmbH

Korda Kagit

67.5%

5.1%

Packaging

Visual Communication

Holding and shared 
services

Paper
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GROUP HOLDING STRUCTURE

PAPER

Offering a full range of products and 
services to the graphic industry and offices, 
including paper, consumables and logistics 
services.

PACKAGING

Tailored solutions, customized packaging 
and global supply of packaging products: 
boxes, films, tapes, fillers, bags, labels and 
equipment.

 

VISUAL 
COMMUNICATION
Distribution of a full range of printing 
products and services for in large format 
digital printers inks / toners, media software 
and technical assistance.

#2
France

IN 2015, INAPA WAS DISTINGUISHED AS THE MOST INTERNATIONALIZED 
PORTUGUESE COMPANY

#1
Portugal

#3
Spain

#1
Angola

#3
Turkey

#3
Switzerland

#3
Germany

#1
Belux
OFFICE
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A      

Message 
from the CEO



MESSAGE FROM THE CEO

I n 2015, we have celebrated Inapa’s 50th anniversary.  
It was 50 years of growth and development. Inapa has 
gone from being a national paper producer to be a group 

present in 9 countries, focused on the distribution of paper, 
packaging and visual communication. Our internationalization 
activity corroborates this, as Portugal represents only 5% of our 
total turnover, reaching 881 million euros in 2015.

The company’s success is due to the constant dedication of 
all employees and their commitment for quality and customer 
satisfaction. There are about 1,400 people working  daily to 
ensure that the products and solutions we offer to our 70,000 
customers are appropriated to their needs and are delivered with 
the highest standards of service.

In 2015, this team has done about 1.5 million deliveries, and 
we estimate that our trucks, in displacement, orbited the Earth 
three times every working day. Thank you all!

The paper consumption, particularly in key markets where 
Inapa operates, continues to show signs of stagnation and in 
some cases regression. This, coupled with the fact that one of 
the paper producers have come into direct competition with the 
distributors that deal with large customers, caused high pressure 
on margins.

These market conditions have affected our core activity, paper 
distribution and consolidated results of the Group. However, 
we should highlight the high resilience and the quality of our 
services, which allowed us to maintain our market position while 
protecting our margins, which were very close to the levels of 
the previous year. This performance allowed us to dispute the 
leadership position in the several markets where we compete.

In this competitive environment, we continued to focus on 
improving our levels of operational efficiency, reaching savings 
of about 5% of the operational costs in the distribution paper 
companies.

 
Packaging and visual communication maintained the growth 

trend, compensating partially the exogenous factors that 
influenced the paper business. The complementary businesses 
increased their importance, representing 14.5% of the total 
turnover and 27.5% of gross margin.

During 2015, our operational companies continued the 
execution of the strategic plan, with a strong focus on improving 
efficiency. There was a reduction of the structure: warehouses were 
closed, distribution costs per ton were reduced, the information 
system management (ISI) was expanded to the various 
geographies of the Group and customer defaults were reduced. In 
aggregated terms, these effects represented more than five million 
euros of cost savings, compared to the previous year.

Improving the financial sustainability of the Group, was another 
of the strategic goals that registered a positive progression, with 
a reduction of about twelve million euros of gross debt and the 
extension of the maturity of the debt, having the medium and 
long-term debt represented 64% of the total at the end of 2015 
(an increase of 6pp compared to the previous year). In addition 
to the cash flow, this reduction of the debt had a strong 
contribution of the working capital optimization which was 
reduced in nine million euros.

Our performance this past year was recognized by various 
national and international entities, which awarded Inapa for 
being the most internationalized Portuguese company, with the 
best corporate governance model, the most innovative packaging 
company in Europe and the best European paper merchant and 
with the best customer service.

With this legacy duly recognized, that much honor us, our eyes 
are now set on the future. We know that success, for the next 
50 years, will depend on our ability to anticipate and overcome  
all our stakeholders expectations.

Nowadays we have a strong team heading for common goals, 
focused on creating value, exploring growth opportunities, 
diversification, efficiency and sustainability.

We would like to thank each of our employees, customers, 
suppliers, financial institutions and shareholders, who, 
during this year, have contributed to Inapa performance and 
development.

We count on your contribution to continue this success story.

Diogo Rezende
CEO
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Group 
Profile

I  napa is the Portuguese company more internationalized, 
with operations in 9 countries and annual sales of 
approximately 900 million euros, occupying a leading 
position in all the markets in which it operates.

Inapa come a long way since its foundation in 1965 as the first 
Portuguese paper mill. 

Inapa is currently very different from the company that was 
founded 50 years ago and is now better prepared for the needs 
and the market expectations. Over these five decades, the 
geographical boundaries of the Group have expanded and the 
business strategy has changed, focusing on paper distribution 
and in two business areas with high growth potential and 
profitability, packaging and visual communication.

Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA is the 
holding that consolidates the Group’s companies in the paper, 
packaging and visual communication areas.

INAPA GROUP
•  At Lisbon Stock Exchange since 1980
•  Headquarters in Lisbon 
•  Operations in 9 countries: Germany, France, 

Switzerland, Belgium, Luxembourg, Spain, 
Portugal, Turkey and Angola 

•  1,400 Employees worldwide  
• 70,000 Clients
• Revenue of 900 million euros 

WATCH THE VIDEO 

ABOUT THE GROUP 

STRATEGY.

INAPA PAPE
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In 2015, the Group has done about 1.5 million 
deliveries: one every five seconds.  

GROUP PROFILE

1.5 Million
deliveries in 2015

on every 5 seconds

3 times
we went  

around our planet
every working day

7 times
we went to the moon

every month

32.2 Millions
km traveled

70,000 
clients
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T he paper distribution sector in Europe generates 
around 9 million tonnes employing over 
25 thousand people.

With about 809 thousand tonnes annually distributed, Inapa 
is the third biggest paper merchant in Europe.

To meet the needs of its 70,000 customers, in the 9 countries 
in which operates, Inapa offers a portfolio of more than 
12,000 references of paper.

Inapa positions itself as a full service provider, complementing 
the paper business with the supply of consumables for the 
printing and office markets and logistic services. Additionally, 
in order to respond to the increasing complexity of graphic 
printing, the Group provides its clients with specialized teams 
for technical advice.

Inapa ensures a delivery service in 24 hours at any point 
of the markets where it operates, and only 12 hours in the main 
economic centers.

This level of service requires more than 5,000 deliveries per day 
and is guaranteed from 30 warehouses and logistic platforms.

In 2015, paper distribution represented approximately 75% 
of Inapa’s turnover and the sale of office papers about 25%.

Paper Distribution

809 thousand 
tonnes

12 thousand
references
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GRAPHIC SUPPLIES

The privileged relationship with clients and the high teams 
technical expertise make graphic supplies distribution a 
logical extension of the distribution of graphic papers. This 
circumstance, together with the knowledge of customers’ needs, 
enabled the Group to be innovative in the industry and position 
itself as a global supplier to the printing industry, contributing 
to a generation of value for its customers.

The turnover and penetration achieved together with the 
recognition of the added value generated by this approach, 
justify the positive expectations on the growth of this business, 
especially since this has been the segment which has shown 
excellent synergies with the  paper merchanting business.

Inapa’s portfolio of graphic supplies was developed based on 
partnerships with recognized brands, and includes an extensive 
range of products, from inks to cleaning products, additives, 
printing blankets, plates and varnishes, produced with renewable 
vegetable raw materials.

In what this business development concerns, Inapa has signed 
new partnerships with well-known brands in the graphic supplies 
segment which has allowed to expand the products portfolio and 
foster cross-selling to existing customer base.

OFFICE SUPPLIES

In the office paper segment Inapa’s customer base includes 
companies, offices and public entities, who have special needs 
and a demanding service level.

In order to provide these clients with one single point 
of contact and supply, Inapa developed a division for the 
distribution of office supplies.

For this purpose partnerships were established with some of 
the most relevant operators in this area, aiming to provide those 
customers the widest range of office consumables and a high 
level of service.

In this context, we underline the partnership established 
between Inapa and Liderpapel, which is a Spanish group that 
is the exclusive distributor of several prestigious international 
brands in Portugal.

Through this partnerships, Inapa offers a wide range of office 
supplies, with more than 8.500 references, specially directed 
to the segment of medium-sized enterprises.

Inapa currently distributes office supplies in Portugal, Belgium, 
France, Switzerland, Germany and Spain.

The future will certainly pass by the expansion and 
development in the markets where Inapa operates, with a very 
significant potential growth, together with the introduction of 
this business model in other countries where the Group operates. 

LOGISTICS SERVICES

As a service provider in the printing and packaging businesses, 
Inapa developed several solutions to meet the needs of its 
customers. The delivery of logistics services is, in this sense, 
an asset in any of the markets where it is available, to help boost 
the competitiveness of its clients.

With about 300 trucks in circulation and many other 
employees to serve a storage area over 180 square meters – 
an unique offer when it comes to transportation and storage 
services – Inapa is able to act as a logistics operator for its 
customers with the consequent efficiency improvements and 
savings that this process allows.

Inapa’s offer stands out by combining logistics expertise with 
extensive knowledge of the paper industry,  being a reference 
in logistic services for the printing industry.

GROUP PROFILE
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The distribution of packaging solutions and materials is the 
second most important business of Inapa. With operations in 
Germany, France and Portugal, this area has multiple synergies 
with the paper distribution as well as cross selling potential, 
either to customers in the graphic industry or to the office’ 
segment.

Economic globalization – specialization and geographic 
concentration of production, consumer behavior change 
and, in particular, the increase of online sales – caused a very 
significant raise in the needs for safe, fast and versatile packaging 
of all types of products, which anticipates a sustained growth 
in the consumption over the medium to long term.

Packaging, in many cases, is the first point of contact between 
customers and suppliers or products and the investment in 
this area will increase, being an additional factor for boosting 
the packaging demand. Inapa, alongside the distribution of 
packaging materials, also develops technologies and unique 
packaging concepts, offering customers not only the unique 
design of their packaging, but also the filling and logistics 
services that may be associated.

The Group anticipates an increase of the weight of the 
distribution of packaging materials and solutions in its 
consolidated sales, as a result not only of the expansion of this 
business segment to other geographies in which Inapa operates, 
but also organic growth of the existing units. Recently the Group 
concluded the unification process of the packaging companies 
in Germany and France that began to operate under the same 
brand – Inapa Packaging. 

Packaging 

74 M€ 
sales*

180
employees

* Includes cross-selling. 64M€ in the packaging companies.
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The new printing technologies, the innovation of the support 
materials and the new communication concepts, led to the 
creation of a specific market: Visual Communication with a 
development and interesting returns on the invested capital.

Given the potential of this new market, and the strong 
complementarity with the paper business, Inapa decided in 2007 
to acquire Complott, one of the leading operators on the German 
market.

Visual Communication is the business segment that has the 
highest printing industry growth rate, including not only the 
print media, but also consumables, sales of printing equipment, 
software and maintenance services.

The fast development of digital printing technology in 
combination with the large format printers have created a new 
market for graphic applications. The large format printers, 
operating between 60 centimeters and 5 meters wide, allow the 
most varied type of impressions in a wide range of media such 
as paper, canvas, vinyl, film, textile or wood.

These developments allow applications as diverse as outdoor 
advertising panels, interior advertisement, sign making, 
prints for use in furniture or domestic appliances, advertising 
in building’s roofs and transportation.

Visual Communication

43 M€ 
sales*

75
employees 

In the German market Inapa is currently the 3rd largest 
operator, operating and by the end of 2011 acquired the company 
FLS Bildsysteme Vertriebs GmbH, located in southern Germany, 
consolidating its market position.

In 2013, Inapa Group entered the visual communication area 
in Portugal, with the acquisition of Inapa Viscom (previously 
Crediforma). This company is HP biggest large format printing 
distributor in the Portuguese market.

This business has proven to be extremely positive, justifying 
the favorable future expectations, both in terms of performance 
and organic growth in the markets where this activity is already 
running, as well as regarding the extension to other markets 
where Inapa operates.

 

*Includes cross-selling. 32M€ of sales in the visual communication companies.

GROUP PROFILE
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Inapa’s History

Inapa 
Foundation

Beginning of paper 
production.

Group is restructured, 
turning Inapa into 

a holding.

Shares are listed in the 
Lisbon Stock Exchange.

Inapa focus 
in paper merchant business. 

•
Acquisition of Papier Union, 

the third largest paper merchant 
in Germany. 

•
Acquisition of Buropapier 

(Belgium).

Acquisition of Mafipa 
Group (France, Belgium, 

Luxembourg, Switzerland) 
in June. 

Paper merchant 
business expands, 

with 10 warehouses 
(5 in Continental 

Portugal, 2 in Azores, 
2 in Spain 

and 1 in the UK). 

Launch of the 
first Inapa Group 

e-commerce website
www.papel.online.pt

1980 1987 1992 1998 2000 20021968

1965
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Start-up of Inapa 
Angola. 

Merger and unification 
of the packaging 

companies in Germany 
and France.

Acquisition 
of Baumgartner 

– Swiss paper merchant.

Acquisition of Olímpia 
– Belgium paper 

merchant.

Acquisition of HTL – 
GmbH Verpackung  

e da Hennessen GmbH 
& Potthoff – packaging 
companies in Germany.

•
Acquisition 

of Logistipak, SAS 
– French packaging 

company.

Acquisition of Complott 
Arte Vertrieb, GmbH – 
visual communication 
company in Germany.

Acquisition of the 
packaging companies 
Semaq (France) and 
Da Hora (Portugal). 

2005 2006 2008 2009 2012 2013 20142004

2015

Acquisition of the Visual 
Communication company, 
Inapa Viscom(Portugal).

•
Acquisition of the packaging 

companies Tradembal 
(Portugal) and Realpack 

(Germany). 
•

Entrance in the Turkish 
market through the 

acquisition of the paper 
merchant Korda.

INAPA’S HISTORY

Chapter printed in Lumiart 130 g/m2 19



T he Inapa Group operates in 9 countries: Germany, 
France, Spain, Portugal, Switzerland, Belgium, 
Luxembourg, Turkey and Angola.

Inapa has a leadership position in all the markets where it 
operates, standing out for being one of the top three players 
of the market. Although the Group was founded in Portugal, 
with headquarters in Lisbon, most of the revenue comes from 
operations in other European countries, with Germany and 
France accounting for about 80% of the Group revenue.

The Group provides to its 70,000 customers, from the several 
areas in which the business is divided, a portfolio of more than 
12,000 references of paper, 16,000 references of office supplies, 
4,000 references of packaging and a full range of materials for 
visual communication and graphic supplies.

With over 300 trucks circulating daily and a storage area of 
over 180 square meters spread over 40 warehouses and logistics 
platforms, the Group annually ensures the placement of about 
850 tonnes of paper to its customers.

In Germany, Inapa owns Inapa Deutschland, which includes 
Papier Union, whose sales represented approximately 55% of the 
Group paper sales, Inapa Packaging and Complott Papier Union, 
in the Visual Communication area. This is the Group’s largest 
market, holding a market share of approximately 20%.

In France, Inapa is the second largest distributor, with 22% 
of the Group sales. In France, Inapa holds Inapa France in the 
paper business, and Inapa Packaging and Semaq in the packaging 
business area.

Markets

Inapa Spain is currently the third largest player in the Spanish 
market, after the acquisition of the Group Burgo in Spain, under 
the brand Ebix, in 2010. Its sales represent approximately 6% 
of paper sales.

The Portuguese subsidiary is leader in the paper distribution 
business. Its sales represent approximately 5% of the Group’s 
paper sales. In Portugal, the group has also Inapa Packaging, 
focused in the business of packaging distribution, and Inapa 
Viscom operating in the visual communication area.

Inapa Switzerland is one of the main merchants in the Swiss 
market. Inapa has been standing out from the competition by 
introducing several innovations, such as the online platform for 
the office customer area.

In Belgium and Luxembourg, Inapa companies are focused 
primarily in the office segment, being the leading distributors of 
paper in that segment. The combined sales of these geographies 
represent approximately 2% of the group’s total paper sales.

Angola was the penultimate country in which the Group 
invested, in 2009, and the first outside Europe. This entry is part 
of Inapa’s paper business consolidation strategy, by exploring the 
potential in emerging markets. The results are now positive.

In 2003, Inapa has entered in the Turkish market with Korda 
acquisition. Korda is one of the leading paper merchants in 
this market, being one of the few with a national scale, with 
4 warehouses (Istanbul, Ankara, Izmir e Gaziantep). The Turkish 
market registered a strong growth in the last years. 
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MARKETS

Packaging

Visual Communication

Paper

Spain

Switzerland

Luxembourg

Belgium

France

Portugal

Germany

Turkey

Angola
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Strategic 
Guidelines

I napa’ strategic agenda relies on its medium-term growth 
plan, anchored in three pillars: diversification, leadership 
and financial autonomy.

Inapa should, in a sustainable way, improve the profitability 
of its business, reducing financial leverage, maintaining 
the risk control, and focusing on the efficiency and return 
to shareholders:

   I.  Sustainable growth based on value creation through 
diversification of markets and business areas; 

  II.  Business risk management by reducing exposure to mature 
paper markets; 

III.  Hold a leadership position in the paper business  
in the markets where we operate;

IV. Reduce the financial leverage.

For sustainable growth and diversification, the complementary 
businesses have an important role, not only from the standpoint 
of sales volume, but also in terms of pioneering and innovation 
Group: Inapa is, for instance, the first paper merchant to make 
cross-selling of graphic and office supplies, and to be at packaging 
and visual communication’s business.

According to this growth plan, Inapa should continue to keep 
its leadership position in packaging distribution in Europe, 
especially in 5 markets: Germany, France, Switzerland, Spain and 
Portugal. Concomitantly, must expand the visual communication 
business to these markets. The cross-selling paper customers 
must continue to play an important role to boost the organic 
growth of the Group.

Regarding paper, the European markets are already highly 
concentrated, with the six major paper distributors owning 
a market share of over 90% in all markets. There are few growth 
opportunities and strong pressure on margins. Our growth 
should be conducted in emerging markets with growth potential 
and profitability, where synergies can be maximized. We 
anticipate a great potential for value creation because in these 
markets i) the paper consumption per capita is still relatively low, 
ii) few international distributors are established and iii) limited 
access to the European reference paper producers.

Inapa aims, in the medium term, to enter in at least two more 
emerging markets establishing a leading position in the top 3. 
It has been achieved an important milestone to achieve this goal 
with the acquisition of a leading paper distributor in the Turkish 
market, Korda.

This will allow the Group to reduce exposure to paper markets 
in economies that have limited growth projections: in the 
medium term, the paper business in the five major markets 
should represent less than 75% of sales and 60% of consolidated 
operating results.

Besides the business diversification effort, Inapa’s strategic 
goal is also to maintain the leadership position in the markets 
where the company operates. Inapa should preserve the 
leadership position in all these markets, continue to adjust the 
local operational model to improve results and leverage the 
dimension and geographic scope as a Group in order to optimize 
central costs. 

Finally, regarding our financial independence, the Group will 
continue the effort to reduce furthermore the financial leverage, 
to achieve a sustainable financial structure through cash flow 
generation and asset sales. 
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STRATEGIC GUIDELINES
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Statutory Bodies

P ursuant to a resolution of the General Assembly 
of Shareholders dated the May 31st 2007, the 
Company adopted the provisions of Subparagraph 

b) of Paragraph 1 of article 278 of the CSC (Portugal’s Companies 
Act) as its administration and supervisory model, which 
comprises a Board of Directors, an Audit Committee and 
a Chartered Accountant and Auditor. 

Emídio de Jesus Maria 
CHAIRMAN 

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís
MEMBER 

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho
MEMBER 

João Vieira de Almeida
CHAIRMAN

Sofia Barata
SECRETARY

Álvaro João Pinto Correia
CHAIRMAN

Election Year 2010 – Age 83

Diogo Francisco Bastos  
Mendes Rezende

VICE-CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD 
CHAIRMAN OF THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Election Year 2015 – Age 48

António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque
MEMBER OF THE BOARD
/EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

Election Year 2010 – Age 63

Frederico João de Moser Lupi
MEMBER OF THE BOARD
/EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

Election Year 2015 – Age 51

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen
MEMBER OF THE BOARD

Election Year 2007 – Age 65

Emídio de Jesus Maria
MEMBER OF THE BOARD

CHAIRMAN OF AUDIT COMMITTEE
Election Year 2008 – Age 64

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho
MEMBER OF THE BOARD/AUDIT COMMITTEE

Election Year 2013 – Age 49

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís
MEMBER OF THE BOARD/AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Election Year 2013 – Age 56

Diogo Francisco Bastos  
Mendes Rezende

CHAIRMAN 

António José Gomes  
da Silva Albuquerque

FINANCE 

Frederico João de Moser Lupi
OPERATIONS

CHAIR OF THE GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY OF SHAREHOLDERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

AUDIT COMMITTEE
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João Vieira de Almeida
CHAIRMAN

Millennium BCP

Maria Isabel Trindade Salgado

Pricewaterhouse Coopers 
& Associados, SROC, Lda 

represented by   
José Pereira Alves

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT

José Manuel Henriques Bernardo
ALTERNATE CHARTERED 

ACCOUNTANT

REMUNERATIONS 
COMMITTEE

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT 
AND AUDITORS

STATUTORY BODIES
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Corporate 
Governance

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

REMUNERATIONS COMMITTEE

CHATERED ACCOUNTANTAUDIT COMMITTEE

Álvaro Correia CHAIRMAN
Diogo Rezende

António Albuquerque
Frederico Lupi

Arndt Klippgen
Emídio Maria

João Sales Luís
Gonçalo Faria Carvalho

João Vieira de Almeida, CHAIRMAN
Pedro Vilas Boas (Millennium BCP)

Maria Isabel Trindade Salgado

Diogo Rezende CHAIRMAN 
António Albuquerque

Frederico Lupi

Emídio Maria CHAIRMAN
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T he corporate governance model adopted assigns the 
following competences to the corporate governance 
bodies:

The Board of Directors represents the Company and manages 
its business operations but is, in this instance, subjected to the 
resolutions of shareholders and to instructions issued by the 
Audit Committee where applicable legislation or the provisions 
of the Company’s Articles of Association so dictate, as well as 
deliberates on the matters set out in the provisions of Sub-
paragraphs a) to n) of Article 406 of the Companies Act, and:

• Delegates the day-to-day management of the Company and 
any other powers it may deem fit to delegate on an Executive 
Committee of the Board by special resolution to the effect;

• Delegates, subject to the limitations set out in applicable 
legislation, specific management powers on one or more 
of the Directors of the Company under necessarily defined 
limits;

• Resolves on whether to issue binding instructions to 
Subordinated Companies, in conformance to the provisions 
and subject to the limitations set out in applicable legislation;

• Resolves on the plan and budget of the Company and its 
Subordinated Companies, under recommendation of the 
Executive Committee;

• Makes investment or disinvestment decisions of relevance 
concerning and to be effected by Subordinated Companies;

• Resolves on the acquisition and sale of majority or 
controlling shareholding interests as well as on transactions 
that are subject to special purchase and sale proceedings 
in compliance with the provisions of the Securities Market 
Code (“CodVM”);

• Resolves on possible company splits, mergers, or dissolution 
transactions by Subordinated Companies or companies 
where Inapa holds an interest;

• Resolves on any matter that any of its Directors may submit 
to the Board for resolution.

In this regard, it is important to note that Non-Executive 
Directors have a duty to monitor the performance of the 
Executive and Audit Committees, to air their views on matters 
that fall under the scope of duties of the Board where they sit 
or that may be submitted to it by either of the aforementioned 
Committees, and to act in an advisory role to the Company’s 
executive management,  whose role is of the utmost relevance 
since it is based on an in-depth knowledge of the matters at hand 
while sufficiently distanced from the demands and constraints 
of daily management.

The performance of these duties by the members of the Board 
of Directors acting in a non-executive capacity has been relevant 
in ensuring that this governance model performs adequately, 
and, to date, no constraints have arisen on that account.

The Executive Committee of the Board of Directors is 
responsible for the day-to-day management of the Company and 
for the following additional duties:

ÁLVARO PINTO CORREIA  ANTÓNIO ALBUQUERQUE EMÍDIO MARIA                            JOÃO SALES LUÍS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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• Setting out plans for implementation of the Company’s and 
Group policies, objectives, and strategy for approval by the 
Board of Directors;

• Setting out general guidelines concerning the Company’s 
internal organization for approval by the Board of Directors;

• Present operational budgets, medium and long-term 
investment and development plans, for approval by the 
Board of Directors;

• Approving contracts for the procurement of goods and 
services up to a limit of 500,000.00 Euros or less, per 
category of goods or services;

• Negotiating and contracting short-term bank finance 
agreements to fund the Company, subject to terms and 
conditions that most adequately suit the interests of the 
Company.

• Negotiating bank finance agreements of a term longer than 
a year and a day to fund the Company and its subordinated 
companies and the issuing of corporate bonds and 
commercial paper programs, for which purpose a binding 
of the Company under any such transactions shall be made 
expressly conditional to a prior resolution of the Board 
of Directors to the effect;

• Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets accounted 
for as fixed assets of the Company in conformance with 
budgets approved by the Board of Directors;

• Purchasing, selling, and pledging goods or assets accounted 
for as fixed assets of the Company not included in budgets 
approved by the Board of Directors up to a value of 1.5% 
percent of realized share capital per item and up to a limit 
of 5% of the aforementioned capital, per annum;

• Renting or letting out any buildings or sectional title 
properties;

• Represent the company in court and elsewhere, actively 
or passively, as well as propose and pursue actions, confess 
them and give up, settle and engage in arbitration;

• Purchasing, selling, or pledging shares in other companies, 
provided the transactions in question are included in the 
budget or in approved action plans not exceeding a limit 
of 5,000,000.00 Euros per transaction, above which limit 
prior approval from the Board of Directors shall be required;

• Entering into, amending, and terminating employment 
contracts and exercising powers of discipline over the staff;

• Opening, transacting, and closing bank accounts;

• Appointing duly mandated representatives of the Company.

The Audit Committee has the following duties:

• Supervising the administration of the Company;

• Ensuring due compliance with the Law and the provisions 
of the Articles of Association;
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• Verifying due compliance of the accounting books, records, 
and supporting documentation;

• Verifying, as and when it may deem fit and in the manner 
it may find appropriate, cash balances and stocks of any type 
of goods or assets owned by the Company or held in lieu 
of security or in trust or under any other entitlement;

• Verifying the accuracy of the financial statements;

• Verifying whether the accounting policies and valuation 
criteria adopted by the Company are conducive 
to appropriately representing its assets and results;

• Compiling an audit report on its audit and supervisory action 
and issuing an opinion on that report and accounts and 
proposals of the Board of directors, on an annual basis;

• Convening a meeting of the General Assembly of 
Shareholders, should its Chairman fails to do so, having 
a duty to so act;

• Auditing the effectiveness of the risk management system, 
the internal control system, and the internal audit system;

• Being the recipient of reports on irregularities which 
shareholders, employees of the Company, or other parties 
may submit;

• Auditing the process of preparation and disclosure 
of financial statements;

• Recommending to the General Assembly of Shareholders the 
appointment of a Chartered Accountant and Auditor;

• Supervising the audit of the financial statements of the 
Company;

• Supervising the Chartered Accountant and Auditor’s 
independence, namely with regard to provision of additional 
services;

• Notifying the Office of the Public Prosecutor of any 
contraventions of the Law constituting a public crime 
of which it may have become aware;

• Contracting the provision of expert services in order to assist 
one or more of its members in the performance of their 
duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Chartered Accountant and Auditor have the following 
duties under the Law: verifying due compliance of the accounting 
books, records and supporting documentation; verifying, as and 
when he or she may deem fit and in the manner he or she may 
find appropriate, cash balances and stocks of any type of goods 
or assets owned by the Company or held in lieu of security 
or in trust or under any other entitlement; verifying the accuracy 
of the financial statements; and verifying whether the accounting 
policies and valuation criteria adopted by the Company lead 
to a correct evaluation to  of its assets and results.
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Main 
Shareholders

A s of December 31, 2015, shareholders with 
qualified holdings in conformity with the revisions 
of articles 16 of the CVM were as follows: 

The trading volume of ordinary share in 2015 was 39.6 million 
shares, representing 26% of the issued capital in ordinary shares. 
According to article 16 of CVM during the year there was no 
communication of new qualified stakes.

All qualified stakes represent 54.16% of the total capital 
represented by ordinary shares, which puts the free-float of this 
title in 45.84%.

All qualified stakes represent 99.01% of the total capital 
represented by preferred shares, which puts the free-float of this 
title in 0.99%.

ORDINARY 
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY 
SHARES

PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

 % PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% VOTING 
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas SGPS, SA 49,084,738 32.72% 8.26%
Shares attributed to CGD 2,762 0.002% 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

Fundos de Pensões de CGD 1,262 0.001% 0.00%

Caixa Banco de Investimento, SA 1,500 0.001% 0.00%

Parcaixa – SGPS, SA 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

Shares attributed to Millenium BCP 18,452,250 12.30% 121,559,194 40.39% 31.05%

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP 16,491,898 10.99% 45,810,827 15.22% 13.81%

Banco Comercial Português, SA 1,960,352 1.31% 75,748,367 25.17% 17.23%

Novo Banco, SA 27,556,665 9.16% 6.11%

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA 13,701,000 9.13% 3.04%

Total of qualified participations 81,240,750 54.16% 298,004,725 99.01% 73.53%
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A Inapa Human Resources’ strategy is developed in 
line with the strategic guidelines of the Group and 
its business needs. As a result, there is a common 

platform with processes and policies for the different companies 
of Group in the various geographies.

Our HR policies are based on seven objectives: diversity 
and equality; attraction and commitment; development and 
enhancement; recognition and merit; prevention and safety; 
management change and work life balance.

In this context, it has been done a readjustment of the number 
of employees of the respective companies to the economic 

Human 
Resources

environment and business evolution, reorganizing the packaging 
segment in different countries and strengthening skills in Inapa 
Shared Center (Shared Services Company).

The effect of all these reorganization actions, commercial 
and operational resizing resulted in a decrease of 57 employees 
compared with the same period last year, setting up in 1.370 the 
average number of employees of all group companies in 2015.

Reflecting the composition of the business, 77% of the total 
workforce is engaged in the paper distribution area.

EVOLUTION OF EMPLOYEES’ PER GROUP SUBSIDIARY

BUSINESS AREA COMPANY COUNTRY 2015 2014 2013 2012

Paper

Papier Union Germany 545 588 617 634

Inapa France France 192 201 221 238

Inapa Suisse Switzerland 70 75 79 79

Inapa Portugal Portugal 69 73 78 82

Inapa España Spain 87 85 85 89

Inapa Belgique Belgium 30 29 29 29

Inapa Luxembourg Luxembourg 1 2 2 4

Inapa Angola Angola 9 10 9 10

Korda Turkey 50 54 51 n.a. Acquisition in Oct/2013

Packaging

Inapa Packaging Germany 66 75 78 71

Inapa Packaging France 33 29 25 27

Semaq France 33 22 30 29 Acquisition in 2012

Da Hora Portugal 22 24 23 18 Acquisition in 2012

Tradembal Portugal 25 25 20 n.a. Acquisition in Sep/2013

Inapa Embalagem Portugal n.a. n.a. n.a. 7 Started in 2012

Visual Communication
Complott PU Germany 64 68 67 71

Inapa Viscom Portugal 9 8 10 n.a. Acquisition in Mar/2013

Holding Inapa IPG Portugal 17 18 19 19

Shared Services Inapa Shared Center Portugal 49 41 27 20

Total 1,370 1,427 1,470 1,427

HUMAN RESOURCES
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Board & Senior Management

Administrative & Back Office

Sales & Marketing

Logistics & Others

EMPLOYEES PER FUNCTIONAL AREA

6%

14%

44%

36%

O  In order to achieve the strategic goals of Inapa 
Group the employee’s weight in complementary 
businesses increased representing 19% in 2015.

Reflecting the need to adapt the Group processes and 
operations to the business evolution, and with the purpose of 
promoting efficiency, creating value, reducing costs and providing 
better services to the Group, the shared center grew slightly 
to 5% of the total number of employees in the Group. 

Individually, and considering the total of the business, 
Germany accounts for 50% of total Group employees, a little 
less weight than in the previous year and equivalent to its share 
in consolidated sales. The slight variation was also due to the 
reorganization of packaging in Germany and to the closure 
of warehouses in Germany. 

France, the second largest market of the Group, with a weight 
of 22% in sales, is also the second largest employer with 258 
employees, which represent 19% of the total workforce. The 
adjustment made in Inapa France was due to the expansion 
of the packaging business in line with the Group’s strategy for 
this segment.

In Spain, It shows a slight increase of 2 employees over the 
previous year, from 85 to 87 in 2015, reaching their weight 
around 6%.

In Portugal, the operating companies, with the restructuration 
of paper and packaging business, the number of employees 
slightly declined. The shared services company called “Inapa 
Shared Center” continue to extend its spectrum of activity, 
increasing its action area to more companies of Inapa Group. 
Between inputs and transfers of employees, the balance 
in Portugal was of 191 employees.

Inapa Switzerland, with 70 employees, reduced 5 employees 
compared to the previous year and represents about 5% of the 
Group total.

The remaining countries have now 90 employees, an 
adjustment of less 5 employees mainly due to the variation 
in Korda – company located in Turkey - representing 7% of the 
Group’s effective.

Due to the Group’s commercial nature, per category, sales and 
marketing has the largest number of employees with about 44%, 
followed by the logistics and transport with 36%. The areas of the 
support – technical staff area, administrative and back office  
– represent 14% of Group employees.

Board Members and senior management account for around 
6% of the total of Group employees.

The distribution of the staff remained roughly unchanged 
when compared to 2014.

The following table illustrates the breakdown of our employees 
by occupational categories.
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T he Group’s main activity is the distribution of paper, 
and as such, it acts as a link between the upstream 
paper producers and the downstream intermediate 

consumers (namely companies and paper manufacturing 
industries, such as printers, advertisers, media companies, 
and newspaper and book publishers, among others), modern 
distributors (large-scale suppliers and specialized retail chains) 
and end consumers (companies in the office segment and 
individuals).

Inapa is subject to the inherent risks of the economic sector 
where it operates and especially to fluctuations in paper price, 
short-term imbalances between demand and supply, changes 
in consumption patterns and the performance of the economy 
in general.

In this context, the most relevant risks to which Inapa 
is exposed while conducting its business are associated with 
its capacity to pass changes in the purchase price of paper and 
in its operating costs on to customers through selling prices, 
particularly costs related to logistics and transportation.

Additionally, the paper distribution business is sensitive 
to changes in the behavioural patterns of the demand, mainly 
in segments such as advertising and media, and to changes 
in the distribution structure.

The balance between supply and demand depends on a variety 
of factors, among which we highlight the trends in installed 
production capacity and the level of overall economic activity.

The Group’s products prices, or the fees it charges for the 
services it provides, are impacted by the increase of paper price 
and/or fuel. The direct margins of products sold and the net 
contribution of services rendered, may be adversely impacted by 
such adverse trends. The transport costs associated to our delivery 
services may increase and consequently adversely impact on the 
Group’s performance, financial situation, and earnings.

Inapa counts with some means of mitigating this risk, among 
which stand out its systems, which introduce various levels 
of authority according to the margin generated by the operation 
in the sales process.

Risk 
Factors

The developments in the productive capacity of the different 
geographical markets, trends in paper demand in emerging 
economies such as China and India and its impact on those 
markets’ suppliers, the impact of exchange rate fluctuation 
on the competitiveness of the various markets, and a number 
of regulatory issues that affect the world paper trade are all 
factors which, either in combination or in isolation, may directly 
or indirectly impact the performance of the Company, its financial 
situation, and its earnings performance.

Furthermore, the paper distribution business has undergone 
structural changes in recent years, as a result of mergers among 
paper merchants, especially in Europe. Competitor moves may 
directly or indirectly impact the Company’s future strategic 
decisions and, therefore, its positioning in each particular market 
and, consequently, affect its economic and financial returns and 
asset allocation.

The fact that the Group’s foreign activities represent about 95% 
of the total turnover, also puts Inapa naturally more exposed 
to the risks of performance specific to each of the 9 economies 
in which it operates.

However, the currency exposure is limited, although real, as the 
value of sales in a currency euro (Swiss franc, US dollar, kwanza 
and Turkish lira) represent about 9.7% of total Group sales.

As in any company or economic group, Inapa’s performance 
depends on its ability to maintain its customer base. 

In addition to over 70,000 customers, the geographic 
dispersion, offering a wide range of products, competitive and high 
quality, along with an adequate level of service pre- and post-sales, 
Inapa has been developing a customer loyalty program that offers 
complementary services and products to its core business, with 
the purpose of becoming more and more a global service provider 
in the paper market.

The impact on local economies of a downturn in the world 
economy may make it difficult for customers of the Inapa Group 
to meet their obligations towards the Group.

RISK FACTORS
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As a credit risk mitigation factor, Inapa contracted in 2011, 
a credit insurance policy to cover for credit risk of its operating 
subsidiaries with a major insurance company in Europe. This 
insurance covers the five core countries of the Group (Germany, 
France, Switzerland, Portugal and Spain), thus covering 
approximately 90% of Group sales.

Regardless of the coverage contemplated above, Inapa also 
manages credit risk by acting as follows: each Group subsidiary has 
its credit collections committee composed by the CEO, CFO and 
head of sales and purchases; credit limits are defined and recorded 
in the information system and inhibit new orders when limit is 
fully utilized; limits of credit granting are subject to annual review 
and/or whenever there is relevant information arising from the 
recommendation of the internal and external monitoring systems; 
approval of sales above the defined credit limits are subject 
to Board approval.

A slowdown in economic growth rates or a decrease in consumer 
and producer confidence indexes may, in turn, lead to a slowdown 
or fall in the paper demand, namely the demand for writing and 
printing paper, and consequently affecting its operations, sales, 
earnings, and the overall financial standing of the Inapa Group.

The Group’s ability to successfully implement the established 
strategy depends on retain, and if necessary to hire, the most 
competent and adequately skilled employees to perform each duty.

Inapa gives to some employees of its subsidiaries: Inapa 
France, Inapa Switzerland and Papier Union, supplement plans 
of retirement and survivors’ pensions, having duly accounted for 
the inherent expenses and costs associated with such benefits 
in accordance with the specifications of International Accounting 
Standard 19 (IAS 19).

The balance reported in the consolidated accounts under 
liabilities for pension benefits is based on predefined assumptions 
on mortality rates, whereas the beneficiaries of the pension fund 
schemes in question may live longer than what such assumptions 
accounted for and, as such, may draw benefits from the pension 
fund in excess of the provisions for such benefits. Therefore, 
liabilities for pension benefits may have an adverse impact 
on cash flows.

Regarding the consolidation of accounts, Inapa has methods 
to mitigate internal and external risks.

Like in any other activity, Inapa is subject to being part of a 
plurality of disputes related to its activity, including those whose 
judgment has been favourable to the group, the total or in part 
and may be appealed by counterparts in accordance with the 
applicable procedural rules and to the final judgment of these 
same sentences.

The most relevant case in which Inapa is currently part, it refers 
to a declaratory action with ordinary procedure filed on August 
1, 2007, by Papelaria Fernandes – Industry and Trade, SA, which 
has been granted the procedural value of 24,459,906.14 euros on 
the events that took place between 1991 and 1994. In that action, 
Papelaria Fernandes requires, in essence, a declaration of nullity 
of agreements and transactions concluded in that period involving 
Inapa and Papelaria Fernandes. Nevertheless, Inapa cannot 
guarantee that it will win this action, or any future actions related 
to its activity. A negative decision in any action that is the subject 
may have an adverse effect on the activity, financial situation and 
results of the Group.

Inapa Group’s operations require investments. It is Inapa’s 
intention to partly fund those investments with cash resources 
generated from operations. However, should its operations fail 
to generate sufficient cash resources, Inapa may be required to 
partly fund the envisaged investments with funding raised from 
external sources, including bank finance and bond issues.

In addition, Inapa Group is exposed to a number of other risks, 
namely liquidity risk, interest rate risk, market risk on the price 
of raw materials, operating risk, environmental, and other risks.

Considering that Inapa does not hedge its exposure to adverse 
changes in market interest rates, such changes may, in turn, have 
an adverse impact on its performance, financial situation, and 
earnings.

Nevertheless, and in order to manage such risks, the Group’s 
Finance Department strives to manage the impact of changing 
interest rates by monitoring market developments on an ongoing 
basis and by being in a position to contract financial instruments 
to mitigate the impact of interest rate volatility.

In a context of sector consolidation, Inapa may be the target 
of a public tender offer. 

Despite the fact that the Group has been implementing careful 
risk management methodologies to manage every type of risk to 
which it is exposed, in the event of exceptionally adverse scenarios 
materializing, the policies and procedures employed by Inapa to 
identify, monitor, manage, and mitigate such risks may prove not 
to be fully effective.

The Company believes that it is sufficiently equipped to 
effectively control the risks arising from the business conducted by 
the Company and the companies it controls, and deems that the 
actions being conducted by the Heads of its Management Control 
and Finance Departments, who have been specifically charged 
to manage its risks, particularly Inapa Group’s liquidity risk, 
are effective.
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Inapa manages the Group’s liquidity risk by acting as follows: 
striving to structure the Group’s financial indebtedness to 
feature a large percentage of medium and long-term debt, with 
a maturity that adequately matches its ability to generate cash 
resources; resorting to credit facilities it may draw on at any time 
(credit facilities on current accounts); treasury management is 
done locally in each Group company supervised by the Holding 
Company; cash flow forecast is regularly updated and monitored 
to avoid potential deviations.

On note 3 of the consolidated financial accounts there is more 
detailed information about the management of the different 
natures of financial risks (market, receivables, concentration 
of credit lines and liquidity risk).

On notes 8 and 9 of the consolidated financial accounts it 
can be analysed the goodwill and intangible assets with their 
impairment and sensitivity tests.

In the course of conducting Inapa’s normal business, and owing 
to its organizational structure, the Group is subject to certain 
operational risks, including possible interruptions in the services 
it renders or delays in providing such services, omissions, errors.

Those risks are monitored by the Company on an ongoing 
basis by means of the administrative and information systems 
it implemented for that purpose, having also arranged for 
insurance policies to cover certain operational risks.

Inapa Group’s operations are also dependent on IT processing, 
which involves the storing and processing of financial reporting 
records, monitoring and control records from its logistics, 
warehousing and delivery services, and internal accounting 
records.

Notwithstanding the ongoing assessment of the condition 
of its information systems and the fact that our capacity has 
proven to be reliable, it is not possible to absolutely guarantee 
a full identification and timely redressing of every single issue 
concerning the information technology systems or the unqualified 
success of every single implementation of a technological 
enhancement to such systems.

In this scenario, there could be significant changes in Inapa’s 
current strategy with implications for the several businesses and 
markets where it operates.

Inapa Group may be adversely affected by amendments to ruling 
legislation and to other tax legislation applicable in Portugal, the 
European Union, and the particular countries where it operates.

The Group’s units are subject to risks that are inherent to the 
conduct of any economic activity, such as accidents, faults, or 
natural catastrophes that may cause damages to the Group’s assets 
or a temporary interruption of its trading activities.

RISK FACTORS
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Sustainability

T wo of the grounding pillars of corporate 
sustainability are environmental and social 
responsibility. The third pillar is, by definition, 

economic responsibility.

We dedicate the following pages to the environment and social 
topics while the economic aspect is approached along the Report. 

Environmental Responsibility 
During 2015, management and teams of the group carried 

forward their commitment to environmental sustainability and 
proactively went about environmental challenges by promoting 
environmental protection and by intensifying the customer 
dialogue about eco-responsible paper sourcing. 

The environmental management of the Group lays emphasis 
on  

   I) Legal compliance;
  II)  Environmental certification of subsidiaries and product 

supply chain;
III)  proactive product management around the environment 

topic; and 
IV) Efficient management of the operations carbon footprint.

I) LEGAL COMPLIANCE

Increasing numbers of environmental initiatives and 
regulations, on national and EU level, request for continuous 
concern and action regarding the groups eco strategy and in daily 
business.

Since its installation the groups due diligence management 
proved to be effective with excluding the risk of illegal wood fiber/
paper from its supply chain. A control audit conducted by German 
authorities during spring 2015 verified that even products sourced 
from outside the EU are handled carefully and in compliance with 
the requirements of EU Timber Regulation.

Another important/relevant German political initiative related 
to the introduction of minimum wages by legal directive in early 
2015. A new regulation not only requires organizations to pay 
minimum rates to its own employees, but to extend control 
of legal compliance to its suppliers, too, including high monetary 
penalties for the case of infringement. Based on the Inapa Code of 
Conduct for suppliers, which had been introduced the year before, 
Papier Union could provide legal compliance and risk minimization 
short term by rolling out a striking control program that records all 
its suppliers and service providers effectively.

II) ENVIRONMENTAL CERTIFICATION

Since 2004 Inapa operations follow a policy of Chain of 
Custody certification by independent external bodies in order 
to ensure that legal or environmental risk is removed from its 
supply chain. Papier Union was the first merchant in Germany 
to be certified both to FSC® and PEFC™ standard. 

Today all Group operations have multiple certifications and 
obtained high levels of experience in effective Chain of Custody 
management providing that customers can rely on the legality 
and eco friendliness of its products. 

Even under difficult economic market conditions the Groups 
forceful product management increased the share of eco-friendly 
papers by 18%.

ECO PAPERS* SHARE

* Certified or recycled papers

+18%

78%

66%2014

2015
ECO PAPERS
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SUSTAINABILITY

It needs to be pointed out that Portuguese, Benelux and 
German operations only contributed by increased sales of 
more than 12,000 tons of paper certified to this most strictly 
certification scheme.

Overall, eco papers share jumped up by 18% from 66% (2014) 
to 78% (2015) of total sales, meaning, that 3 of 4 sheets of 
paper sold to our customers were based on fibre material from 
sustainably managed, FSC® or PEFC™ certified forests or were 
made from recycled paper.

The Groups commitment to provide first class Eco product 
performance to its customers in all markets it operates, it can’t 
be overseen that national markets and consumers show different 
grades of development and awareness for environmental criteria 
when sourcing print media. This is reflected by significant 
differences in the weight of eco papers sales by Inapa country 
operations which range from 44% (Portugal) to 100% (Benelux; 
Office paper sales only).

ECO PAPERS SHARED BY COUNTRY – 2015

FRANCE

BELGIUM

SWITZERLAND

GERMANY

PORTUGAL

SPAIN

INAPA

84%

44%

72%

80%

100%

73%

80%

III) PROACTIVE MANAGEMENT 
OF ECOFRIENDLY PRODUCTS

Inapa prosecuted its strategy of continuous growth 
of eco-friendly products and replacement of less environmental 
favorably solutions.

The growth in the number of eco brands (6%) shows 
considerable progress in the process of optimizing the Group’s 
ecological portfolio, whilst standard products were kept nearly 
on the same level. 

COATED PAPER SALES – 2015

FSC

Eco papers

Others

34%

6%

60%

ECO PAPERS SALES

Certified papers

Recycled

Others

22%

4%

72%

Nevertheless Inapa has set the course to reach its goal 
of outperforming the threshold of 80% eco papers share until 
2020 on Group level.
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The sales of certified coated sheet papers, representing the 
biggest single market segment of the Group’s activities, reached 
new records with a share of 94% and exceeded all expectations. 
This was primarily achieved by a big re-launch promotion of the 
GALAXI brand, with best-in-class quality and FSC® certification 
from stock now. Additionally, and as a stand-alone feature, 
Germany offers GALAXI Keramik carbon neutral as a standard 
and free of upcharge. There for, production and transport related 
greenhouse gas emissions of GALAXI were calculated under 
ISO conditions by independent third party. For offsetting these 
emissions, Inapa invested in carbon credits of a reputable FSC® 
certified forest project, Santa Maria Forestal in Brazil. For every 
purchase of GALAXI carbon neutral customers receive a certificate 
that shows the offset amount of carbon “free to warehouse”.

With this service Inapa enters new eco markets and targets 
new customers which require for advantageous carbon footprint 
data as an important indicator for climate and environmental 
friendliness and for improvement of their own carbon foot print.

In France,  it was developed  an eco training program for 
the sales teams with 70% of the staff having entered advanced 
learner’s levels by end of 2015. In parallel a customer eco 
information and service program was started successfully that not 
only provides facts and figures about eco labeling and certification 
issues but also guidelines purchasers to eco-reasonable sourcing 
by using Inapa logistic services.
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SUSTAINABILITY

GHG EMISSIONS (BY SCOPE)

Scope 1: Fuel consumption own car/truck, heating

Scope 2: Energy consumption (electricity, for instance)

Scope 3: Allocate emissions, e.g. external transports

92%

1%
7%

For this evaluation mechanism of GHG measures direct and 
indirect emissions in Germany and Switzerland, but in 2016  
it is planned to extend the carbon foot print to further subsidiaries.

A) ENERGY EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
The improvement of energy efficiency continues to be 

an important element of Inapa’s environmental policy and 
several measures were taken to significantly reduce energy 
consumption including related GHG emissions. 

As verified by an independent energy audit, that German 
operation passed through during autumn 2015, electricity 
consumption was further reduced by replacing existing 
lighting with new LED systems in 15,000 qm of the German 
warehouses. Thus, not only energy consumption was reduced 
up to 70% (120 tons CO2) but working and safety conditions 
were significantly improved.

Inapa Portugal started another energy saving project with 
exchanging the illumination of the Inapa logo tower at Sintra 
site. By replacing old bulbs by LED lightning, obtained a higher 
brightness combined with lower electricity consumption 
and reducing CO2 emission. 

IV) OPERATIONS CARBON 
FOOTPRINT

Carbon Foot Printing has become an integrated part of the 
Group’s strategy to measure and improve the environmental 
performance of its operations. At once, more and more customer 
request for specific carbon information related to their print media 
supply as a part of their corporate eco balance. Since Germany 
successfully completed its corporate carbon foot print in July 
2015, today 60% of the group’s business emission, including 
water pollution and waste, are balanced due to international GHG 
protocol standard. Substantial efforts were made on data tracking 
of scope 3 emissions, primarily related to transport services by mill 
suppliers and logistic partners.

Thereby, Inapa goes beyond the standard requirements of the 
GHG protocol that defines scope 1 and 2 emissions as obligatory, 
but scope 3 information as optional only. 

As these Indirect emissions represent more than 90% of the 
Group carbon foot print, they are a precedent condition for highly 
qualified, comprehensive customer specific carbon emission 
data and enable German and Switzerland operations to provide 
customers a realistic picture of their total print media related 
emissions.

Following its green transportation program Inapa 
Switzerland reorganized its logistics to Ticino region by 
combining the use of truck and train. In cooperation with 
external service providers delivery services were improved 
and CO2 emissions could be further reduced. 

B) USE OF RENEWABLE ENERGIES  
In 2015 a further reasonable contribution to the Group 

renewable energy program was made by changing the electricity 
consumption of the German operation to hydroelectric 
generated power production. This zero emission electricity 
program, started in 2014 and it is calculated that 90% of the 
total German electricity usage, which is directly sourced from 
power producers, can be saved avoiding 1,100 tons CO2e p.a.
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Social Responsibility
Inapa understands social responsibility as a contribution to 

the construction of a sustainable future, more fair and balanced. 
Inapa’ solidarity activities are part of our culture in the various 
countries where the Group operates.

On behalf of the employees and shareholders, the Group 
assumes a socially responsible posture because it believes that 
small gestures can make a difference. Thus, in partnership with 
NGOs and other organizations, the Group annually responds 
to a number of requests for support in social, culture and sports 
areas, at national and international level.

In this context, Inapa Portugal supported the ‘Associação 
Mãos Libertas’, which promotes the development of children 
and youth activities, from families with unstable environment, 
helping them to grow with values based on dignity, respect and 
honesty, with the purpose of becoming adults fully integrated 
in a constantly evolving society. Inapa contributed throughout 
the year with a kit of school supplies for approximately 
50 children from needy families, and paper for all daily activities 
and administrative services of the association.

Cognizant of the importance of its role in the community 
in which it operates, Inapa Portugal made donations to two social 
associations – ‘Obra Social Religiosas Dominicanas Irlandesas’ 
and ‘Igreja Paroquial Santa Maria de Belém’ – and sponsored the 
International Festival of Cascais Culture 2015, which celebrated 
the importance of paper books. Supported also the participation 
of one of its employees in the Lisbon Half Marathon, in order 
to promote the healthy lifestyle within the company.

In Portugal and Spain, Inapa has launched, for the third 
consecutive year, the design competition for Inapa calendar 
2016, connecting young students to the labor market, offering 
them the opportunity to participate in a real Iberian project. 
This project had the participation of 300 works of students 
of the most prestigious art schools in Portugal and Spain. They 
had the opportunity to present their work in Inapa high-quality 
materials.

Inapa Spain also sponsored the art project – ‘Producto Fresh 
2015’ – which annually presents in Madrid, the best product 
design of the year in Spain and internationally.

In the context of diversity and social inclusion policy of human 
resources of the Group, Inapa Spain sponsored the activities 
of Fundación Addeco, which supports the inclusion in the labor 
market of people who, for different reasons, face difficulties in 
finding employment. Some of Inapa’s employees voluntarily 
participated in a race organized by the Foundation – ‘VI Carrera 
de las Capacidades’ –  for promoting the social and labor 
integration of people with disabilities.

With the purpose of facilitating the integration in the labor 
market, Inapa France gives merit grants to students, and Inapa 
Switzerland develops several internship programs for young 
talents with no work experience to give them the opportunity 
to work with the leaders of Inapa.
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SUSTAINABILITY

Concomitantly, and following the diversity of political and 
social inclusion of the group in Switzerland, Inapa has supported 
the education of young talents with special needs, in sales 
and management areas, in a relatively protected environment. 
In collaboration with two local partners, specialists in the 
integration of people with special needs, Inapa Switzerland 
created a protected workplace for people with physical 
or psychological problems.

Extending this social inclusion policy to sports, Inapa 
Switzerland joined the organization “Swiss Special Olympics” 
to support the trainings of three children with special needs 
during the year.

Further to its social commitment, Inapa Switzerland has also 
participated in a campaign of fundraising for the organization 
of ‘Terre des homme’ that develops and implements projects 
designed to improve the health conditions of thousands 
of children in developing countries, who do not have access 
to health system. By buying oranges, Inapa Switzerland 
guaranteed 1 to 2 years of hospital treatment for a child, which 
in extreme cases, can benefit them in Switzerland.

In addition, Inapa Switzerland made some donations in kind 
to schools and institutions. Throughout the year, offered paper 
for activities with children, elderly or people with special needs. 
Germany, Turkey and Belgium followed suit. In Germany, paper 
donations were made to local schools and to Africa in the context 
of the project ‘Paper without Borders’, and also for children 
sexual abuse campaign.

In Turkey, it was provided paper and school supplies for 
educational programs for children’s institutions, abandoned 
children and orphans. In Belgium, the school supplies were 
donated to the BUSO Halle institution, which supports 
educational activities of teenagers with special learning needs.

In Germany, Inapa made several donations to different 
children institutions, as it was the case of ChildFund 
Deutschland, SOS and Olgahospital villages, helping them 
to keep its financial capacity to host temporarily or permanently 
children who are in clinical and/or social risk.

Under the 50th anniversary of the company, the Group held 
in 2015, the first global initiative of social responsibility, in order 
to demonstrate our gratitude for all we have received over the 
past five decades, giving something back to those in need. It was 
with this purpose in mind that the Group decided to challenge 
the different countries to take part in a blood donation campaign.

All the Group’s operations have participated in this initiative 
and contributed to the blood donation, which took place from 
June to October, at the various companies of the Group. In Paris, 
Sintra, Leganés, Brussels, Regensdorf, Hamburg, and many other 
sites, we witnessed a demonstration of altruism on the part 
of our employees .

Through this project, the Group overcome distances and 
increased the solidarity that unites us, showing that contributing 
to great causes and helping people in need “it’s us in our blood”.
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Main Activity 
Indicators
MILLION EUROS 2015 2014 2013 2012 VAR. 15/14

Tonnes ('000) 809 837 798 833 -3.3%

Sales 881.3 909.5 888.7 926.7 -3.1%

Gross margin 159.3 165.9 164.0 166.7 -4.0%

Gross margin (%) 18.1% 18.2% 18.5% 18.0% -0.1pp

Operational costs 1 133.4 137.6 136.4 140.1 -3.1%

Provision for current assets 2.7 3.8 4.2 9.0 -28.7%

Re-EBITDA 23.2 24.5 23.4 17.5 -5.3%

Re-EBITDA margin (%) 2.6% 2.7% 2.6% 1.9% -0.1pp

EBIT 17.0 18.3 17.1 10.7 -7.1%

EBIT margin (%) 1.9% 2.0% 1.9% 1.2% -0.1pp

Net financial costs 15.3 15.9 14.9 16.7 -3.6%

EBT 1.7 2.5 1.9 -4.7 -29.8%

Taxes on Profits -2.2 -0.5 -0.6 -1.2 362.0%

Net income -0.4 2.1 1.3 -6.0 -119.4%

ROCE (%) 10.4% 10.4% 9.2% 6.8% 0.0pp

Market capitalization2 60.9 78.1 105.2 69.2 -22.1%

31.12.2015 31.12.2014 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 VAR. 15/14

Net debt 3 310.9 316.7 341.2 346.1 -1.8%

Interest coverage 1.5x 1.5x 1.6x 1.0x

Working capital 137.9 147.3 159.2 162.9 -6.4%

1 Net of income from services and excludes provisions.
2 Includes preferred shares since 2011.
3 Includes securitization.

GLOSSARY
Re-EBITDA: Recurrent results before depreciation and amortization, 

non-recurrent cost, financial costs and taxes.

Re-EBITDA margin: Re-EBITDA/Total Sales.

EBIT margin: EBIT/Total Sales.

Net debt: Non-current loans + current loans + financing associated  

to financial assets + financial leases – cash and cash equivalents.

Working capital: Trade receivables + Inventories - Suppliers.

Market capitalization: number of shares x stock price.

ROCE: Re-EBITDA/(Tangible fixed assets + non-current investments  

+ working capital). 

Interest coverage: Re-EBITDA/Net Financial Costs.
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MARCH

19.03.2015
2014 results announcement.

APRIL

02.04.2015
Notice for the General Meeting.

06.04.2015
Court sentence to reject the suspension 
of the decision adopted at the General 
Meeting of August 4, 2014 filled by Nova 
Expressão SGPS, SA.

28.04.2015 
Ordinary General Meeting.

MAY

21.05.2015
1st quarter 2015 results announcement.

31.05.2015
Resignation of the director José Félix 
Morgado.

JUNE

09.06.2015
Lawsuit from Parcaixa.

17.06.2015
Management transaction.

JULY

23.07.2015
Resignation of the director Jorge Pinto 
Bravo.

29.07.2015
Co-optation of Diogo Rezende as director 
and CEO.

AUGUST

27.08.2015
1st half 2015 results announcement.

OCTOBER

01.10.2015
Co-optation of Frederico as director and 
member of the executive committee.

28.10.2015
3rd quarter 2015 results announcement.

SUBSEQUENT 
EVENTS
Until the date of publication, 
no subsequent events were 
registered.

RELEVANT FACTS OF THE YEAR
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Economical 
Context

Macroeconomic Context
The global economy has been decelerating estimating for 

2015, a growth of only 3%, below initial forecast and similar 
to 2014. Despite the slight recovery in 2015 in developed 
countries (particularly in the US whose economy grew by 2.4%), 
this reflects the slowdown in emerging economies (especially 
in BRICs, Brazil, Russia, India and China), together with the 
fall of raw material prices, the slowdown of high volatility 
international trade in financial markets and the slowdown 
of capital flows access.

For 2016 it is estimated a moderated growth in global 
economic activity of 3.3% , subject to several risks, including 
the risk of further deceleration in emerging economies and 
developed countries, disturbance in financial markets, continued 
fall in the price of raw materials and political instability, with 
important effects on investment.

In the euro zone, which concentrates more than 90% of Inapa 
Group activity, the economy grew 1.6% (0.8% in 2014) mainly 
due to the growth both of internal and external demand. For 
2016, it is forecasted the euro zone economy to maintain the 
current growing, expected to stand at 1.7%, depending on 
the evolution of the global economy and the factors condition 
mentioned above. Therefore, it is very important, the response 
monetary and government officials define to face the persistent 
low level of inflation rates whose success will have a major impact 
in the economy’s growth.

In Germany there was a GDP growth rate of 1.7% in 2015 
(1.5% in 2014) mainly based on increased internal demand, 
supported by a high employment rate and some increase in 
public expenses. However, there has been a decrease in the 
investment. The growth forecast for 2016 is 1.8%, a similar 
level to previous year.

French economy grew in 2015 vs 2014. The GDP growth 
was 1.1% (0.4% in 2014) based on the increase of private 
consumption supported by low oil prices. For 2016 it is 
estimated an increase of 1.3%, still modest, but slightly higher 
than in 2015.

Spain registered in 2015 a remarkable economic growth 
(3.2% vs. 1.2% in 2014). In 2016 it is expected a significant 
although slightly lower growth (2.8%). Internal demand was the 
main factor to the growth registered and will be crucial for the 
growth forecast for 2016 and consequently, a slight employment 
increase.

In Portugal, GDP grew 1.5% in 2015 supported by an increase 
in internal demand, although there was a slowdown in the 
last quarter of 2015. External demand decreased due to the 
slowdown in the economies of some of the countries to where 
Portugal exports. In 2016 it is estimated an economic growth 
of 1.6%.

Outside the euro zone, Swiss economy maintained during the 
year a low growth of just 0.7%. Internal demand remained at low 
levels reflecting lack of confidence. For 2016, it is estimated that 
the growth will remain below its potential and the recovery will 
depend on the evolution of the Swiss franc and the regaining 
of external demand. In this context, it is estimated a growth 
in 2016 of only 1.1%.

The Turkish economy has shown remarkable endurance and 
increased by 4.2% in 2015. For 2016 it is estimated a growth 
of 3.5%, but there are still unknown impacts of economic 
sanctions that Russia imposed on Turkey, as well as the evolution 
of geopolitical tensions in the area.
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ECONOMICAL CONTEXT

PAÍS 2013 2014 2015 P 2016 E 2017 E 2013-2015 P 2015 P-2017 E

Germany 0.1 1.5 1.7 1.8 1.8

France 0.3 0.4 1.1 1.3 1.7

Spain -1.2 1.2 3.2 2.8 2.5

Portugal -1.4 1.0 1.5 1.6 1.8

Belgium 0.3 1.0 1.3 1.3 1.7

Luxembourg 2.0 3.0 4.7 3.8 4.4

Euro Zone -0.5 0.8 1.6 1.7 1.9

Switzerland 1.9 1.9 0.7 1.1 2.0

Turkey 4.0 2.9 4.2 3.5 3.5

Source: Eurostat, SECO and IMF.

Sector Framing
The year of 2015 showed an overall growth on the euro 

zone with economic indicators registering improvements over 
the same period, namely the Gross Domestic Product (GDP), 
unemployment and internal demand. The persistently low 
inflation rate is currently one of the biggest macroeconomic 
concerns in the euro zone.

The paper and cardboard market remained relatively stable 
in 2015 and it is foreseen to register a slight decrease of 0.3% 
(according to CEPI preliminary statistics). Separately, the 
perspective is mixed, as the paper market continues to register 
a fall due to graphic, publishing and printing low performance. 
The cardboard sector’s forecast is to rise in line with previous 
years.

Eurograph Statistics, regarding consumption evolution of 
paper for graphic arts, printing  and writing, signaled a decline 
in Western Europe of 3% in coated paper (woodfree coated) vs. 
the year 2014, while uncoated papers (uncoated woodfree) had 
a decrease over the same period of around 1%.

According to these statistics, paper sales volume in the five 
major Inapa markets (Germany, France, Switzerland, Spain and 
Portugal) have declined around 2%, with Spain, in counter cycle, 
the only market estimated to a have a growth of 5%. In other 
markets, the preliminary data point to a decline, in Germany 
a fall of 3%, in France 2%, Swiss market with a fall of 4% and 
2% in Portugal. These data constitute the aggregated volumes 
of coated and uncoated – totaling between 80 and 85% of 
marketed paper – and do not include the remaining subfamilies, 
such as paper specialties, cardboard and self-adhesive.

The situation concerning overcapacity in the production 
of coated papers remains the same and we estimate it at about 
half a million tons. For uncoated papers, despite the increase 
in the installed utilization rate and the conversion of some mills, 
there is still an overcapacity situation, which resulted in overall 
margin pressure in the sector.

The paper distribution business registered two important 
impacts throughout 2015, the activity enlargement of a 
manufacturer into direct distribution to large customers and 
PaperlinX insolvency, although the latter had a limited presence 
in the markets where Inapa operates.

In the period 2013-2015 the combined economies where the 
Inapa Group operates, recovered to positive but moderate growth 
levels. The forecast for 2016 and 2017, with small variations 
from country to country, points to continued moderate growth 
rates.
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Consolidated 
Performance

I n 2015 Inapa consolidated sales decreased around 3% 
over the same period, reaching 881.3 million euros. 
In the paper business, sales dropped 4%, due to a 

negative evolution in some of the countries where the Group 
operates. The complementary businesses – packaging and visual 
communication – had a positive progression, reaching a growth 
of around 4%.

Despite the growth, though modest, verified in the euro zone 
economy in 2015, the demand for graphic, printing and writing 
papers continued to be influenced, on one hand, by uncertainty 
concerning economic recovery consolidation and, on the other 
hand, by structural effects associated with digital media, namely 
in mature markets. Despite the pressure on prices and margins 
induced by competition and via producers, Inapa was able to 
maintain its gross margin protection policy and the average 
paper price with a level in line with the previous year.  Inapa 
has continuously settled its strategy to defend the sales margin 
allowing the Group to maintain the balance and sustainability 
of its operational structure. Paper sales mix and the growth of 
complementary businesses, with higher margins, supported a 
global gross margin at 18.1%, 0.1 percentage points below 2014.

The strict management of operational efficiency led to a 3% 
reduction of operational costs, reaching 133.4 million euros. 
These savings were achieved at different levels of operational 
costs, namely on distribution costs per ton, personnel expenses 
and administrative expenses.

In 2015, customer impairment decreased 29% compared 
with the same period of the previous year, to 2.7 million euros, 
representing 0.3% of sales. The sustained decrease on the total 
amount of customer impairment is the result of a prudent 
commercial policy on the analysis of the risk of collection of the 
portfolio of customers, in articulation with the Group credit 
insurance company.

The maintenance of the gross margin at 2014 levels and the 
decrease in operating costs and impairment charges led to a 
recurring EBITDA as a percentage of sales of 2.6%, in line with 
the previous year (2.7%). In value, there was a decrease of 5% 
to 23.2 million euros.

Given the challenges faced by the Group, regarding the 
prospects of paper business development, Inapa reacted by 
reinforcing the opportunities to grow in the new business areas 
and improving the operational efficiency.
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With a constant focus on improving the levels of efficiency 
and productivity, Inapa maintained a significant effort to adjust 
its business model and organization, adapting it to 2015 lower 
activity. In this context, organizational restructuring occurred, 
mainly in logistics and sales in Germany and France, with 
non-recurring charges of 1.2 million euros.

Operational results (EBIT) decreased 7% to 17.0 million 
euros, representing a decrease of 1.3 million compared to 2014, 
representing around 1.9% of sales (2.0% in 2014).

The reduction in average debt and the renegotiation of some 
loans resulted in a decrease in net interest cost of 4% to 15.3 
million euros, which represents a decrease of 0.6 million euros 
compared to 2014.

Consolidated earnings before taxes were 1.7 million euros, 
compared to 2.5 million euros in the previous year, a decrease 
of 0.8 million euros compared to 2014. 

Net income was -0.4 million euros. Income tax, with a 
variation of 1.7 million over the same period, was 2.2 million 
in 2015, of which about 0.7 million refer to current taxes and 
1.5 million euros relate to deferred taxes, mainly related to tax 
losses.

Working capital decreased 9 million euros to 138 million 
euros, compared with 2014. This evolution reflects the constant 
improvement in the management of working capital based on a 
strict control of inventory levels and adequacy of receivables days 
and payments to suppliers.

Consolidated net debt on December, 31 2015, was 311 million 
euros, representing a decrease of about 6 million euros compared 
with the previous year. This variation results from the cash flow 
generated by the activity alongside with the optimization in the 
management of working capital.

Inapa Group is determined to continue with the execution 
of the strategy settled aiming to reduce its financial leverage 
in order to achieve a more sustainable financial structure.  
As a result of the joint work with our major banks it was possible 
to increase the weight of non-current debt to 64% of total gross 
debt, an increase of 21 percentage points in two years.

CONSOLIDATED PERFORMANCE
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Performance 
Of The Group’s 
Business Areas

T he paper industry has been facing major structural 
changes due to the increasing digitization both 
of society and enterprises as well as the globalization 

of industries. Last years have been extremely challenging for 
the paper industry globally and especially for those operating 
in the Western markets where paper consumption has been 
decreasing consistently. While most advanced societies replace 
the use of paper by digital media, e-banking and e-invoicing, 
in emerging markets the increase in population, urbanization 
and the development of the middle classes contribute to the 
growth of paper consumption. Aligned with these developments, 
the packaging area is increasing its importance for e-commerce 
or other markets such as food processing, while visual 
communication area continues to increase its innovation trend, 
with new products and applications that support the activity 
growth.

The strategic plan Agenda 2020 delineated by Inapa, pointed 
as strategic business objectives a sustained growth based 
on value creation, the diversification into new complementary 
businesses and the reduction of the exposure to more mature 
markets while maintaining its European leadership positions, 
both in volumes and in efficiency.

Following this strategy, the entrance in the Turkish market 
allowed us to benefit from the dynamism of an emerging market, 
reaching in 2015 a turnover growth of 12% compared to 2014. 
The complementary business of packaging, visual communication 
and graphics and office supplies, including cross-selling, grew 4% 
to 127.7 million euros, representing 14.5% of total sales.
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Paper

SALES (MILLION EUROS)

EBIT (MILLION EUROS)

Sales volumes were 809 thousand tonnes, a decrease of 3.3% 
compared to 2014.

As a result of the implementation of the goals set out in its 
strategic plan, particularly in what concerns to geographical 
diversification into emerging markets with growth and 
profitability potential, Inapa completed the acquisition of 
Korda, company in the Turkish market, in the last quarter of 
2013, having achieved in 2015 a double-digit turnover growth, 
confirming the appropriateness of this strategy. In the more 
mature European markets, the demand of paper for graphic, 
printing and writing continued the downward trend of recent 
years, which was reflected in the markets where Inapa operates, 
with the exception of Spain and Belgium.

Sales of paper companies were 785.1 million euros in value, 
compared with 812.9 million euros in 2014, representing a 
decrease of 3.4%. During 2015, in order to level the decline that 
has been observed in the paper area, Inapa proceeded with the 
strategy of increasing market penetration through cross-selling 
of packaging, visual communication and graphics and office 
supplies, whose sales amounted to euro 32 million in 2015  
(+19% than in 2014).

During 2015, the average selling price decreased by 1% 
to € 931 per ton as a result of competition, due to persisting 
structural imbalances between demand and supply and the 
change of business model of one of the manufacturers, which 
entered into direct distribution to large customers.

The Group maintained a defensive margin policy focused 
on improving profitability through the mix of products sold, 
reaching a gross margin in the paper business of 16.4%, down 
0.4 percentage points when compared with the same period 
in 2014.

Operating costs decreased 5%, compared with the same 
period in 2014, reflecting the strict management of operations 
and adjusting them to lower levels of demand. Noteworthy is 
the improvement of efficiency in terms of i) distribution costs 
reduction, with a cost per ton reduction of 6%; ii) personnel 
costs reduction, despite some non-recurring costs related with 
restructuring; iii) administrative costs reduction;  
and iv) customer impairment balances reduction.

Operational results (EBIT) of the paper business had 
a positive performance, standing at 16.9 million euros, 
representing 2.0% of sales, an increase of EUR 0.5 million 
compared with the same period of last year.

Overall, the paper business had a performance driven 
by the margin decrease due to lower sales, counterbalanced 
by an improved product mix and increased market 
penetration through cross selling, together with a strict 
management of operational costs and a reduction 
on depreciation/amortization and financial costs.

201520142013

785.1812.9794.6

201520142013

16.916.415.4

PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AREAS
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Packaging

The packaging business had a positive evolution, with sales of 
73.9 million euros, representing an increase of 1.5 million euros, 
(+2.1% compared to 2014). Excluding the cross-selling sales 
stood at 64.1 million euros in 2015.

In 2015 Inapa kept the strategy of sales development focused 
on offering individualized packaging solutions, leveraging its 
existing know-how and skills to design these solutions. Inapa 
continued also to focus on a greater penetration in medium-sized 
customers supported on a new CRM system that allowed 
to optimize this approach. Growth in activity was boosted 
by sales to wine producer’s sector, food processing, chemical and 
cosmetics, which had a very positive progression, supported 
by a solid commercial performance and marketing promotion, 
offering a wider range of products with quality.

Operational results (EBIT) of the packaging companies were 
2.9 million euros, representing 4.4% of sales. Inapa continued 
with a consistent policy of margin protection. Despite the loss 
of some turnover in one of the geographies, Inapa maintained 
a consistent margin protection policy, which together with 
the optimization of its structure allowed an improvement 
of efficiency. During 2015 Inapa management maintained its 
focus on the quality of service, being proactive towards the needs 
of customers, on the harmonization of the product portfolio 
for the different markets and on strengthening commercial 
relationship with key suppliers.

SALES* (MILLION EUROS)

EBIT (MILLION EUROS)

201520142013

64.164.962.5

201520142013

2.93.1
3.4

*Direct sales, excluding cross-selling
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Visual Communication
In 2015 visual communication business had a positive 

progression, increased by cross-selling in the paper area 
companies. Sales reached 42.8 million euros, an increase 
of 3.0 million euros (+ 7.6% compared to 2014). Excluding 
cross selling, sales amounted to EUR 32.1 million, representing 
a growth of + 1.1% compared with the same period of 2014. 
In the beginning of the second half of the year, and to better 
respond to the increasing demand verified, Germany moved 
to larger premises with a bigger showroom, which should allow 
to improve sales of used equipment, an area that is steadily 
growing.

The economic situation remained favorable to investment 
decisions, boosting equipment sales that kept continuing to have 
a positive progression, with the inherent technical assistance 
services, sale of spare parts, software and inks. In order to ensure 
a more dynamic sales growth and efficient service, it was 
decided to increase the sales and technical internal structure, 
complemented with appropriate investment in support tools.

The reorganization and investment process implemented in 
Germany affected sales activity during the third quarter and led 
to a higher level of costs for facilities, computer systems and 
personnel. The positive impact of this investment in 2015 has 
been minimum, for what operational results (EBIT) decreased 
to 0.1 million euros or 0.3% of sales.

SALES* (MILLION EUROS)

EBIT (MILLION EUROS)

201520142013

32.131.731.6

201520142013

0.1

1.2

1.5

PERFORMANCE OF THE GROUP’S BUSINESS AREAS

*Direct sales, excluding cross-selling 
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Summary 
of Inapa – IPG 
Activity 

C  oordination of the activities of the subsidiaries 
in the various markets where it operates and 
the search for synergies between the various 
businesses.

• Definition of the Group’s strategic guidelines;

•  Coordination of the implementation of the Strategic Plan 
to the markets where the Group operates;

• Definition of commercial guidelines for each market;

•  Settlement of purchase and negotiation policies with the 
main Group suppliers; 

•  Settlement of a funding policy and coordination  
of its implementation;

•  Coordination of treasury and development of relationships 
with the financial system; 

• Planning and management control; 

• Definition of Group accounting policies;

• Internal audit;

• Definition and monitoring of main risks;

•  Development of relationships with the shareholders, 
investors and capital market regulatory institutions;

•  Settlement of an investment policy and coordination  
of its implementation;

• Management coordination of information systems;

• Corporate communications;

• Group legal advisory.

Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA, reported 
a negative net consolidated result of 0.4 million euros, which 
compares with a result of 2.1 million euros in the previous 
financial year.

According with the new SNC accounting standards, sales 
and services rendered and other income (arising from services 
rendered to subsidiaries, the negotiation of purchases with 
the main suppliers and the management of own brands) 
reached 13.5 million euros. Operational results in 2015 were 
of 7.4 million euros.

Total equity on December 31 was 190.6 million euros. Total 
net assets amounted to 375 million euros and compares with 
377 million euros of the previous year.

SUMMARY OF INAPA – IPG ACTIVITY 
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Outlook 
for 2016

I t is estimated that in 2016 growth in the euro zone 
will continue to be moderate, with a yet slow recovery 
compared with other developed economies. Some 

positive factors such as oil prices and low interest rates may 
provide a stimulus to consumption; however, incentive to 
investment will remain moderate given the uncertainty of 
economic and political scenario in some Eurozone economies.

In the paper market, we approach a situation of a better 
balance between demand and supply after the closure or 
conversion of different uncoated and coated paper production 
units. However, the pressure that is still felt in the industry 
due to high costs of raw materials, it may lead to maintain an 
upward tendency in sales prices that has already been felt by the 
end of 2015, for both coated and uncoated papers. The biggest 
uncertainty is the impact of the termination of anti-dumping 
taxes for woodfree-coated paper coming from China, in May 
2016.

Regarding the paper distribution area, despite the insolvency 
of one of the market players, there is still a significant potential 
for efficiency gains, so, some consolidation movements or 
cooperation between different competitors may occur.

Inapa will remain focused on a policy of margin protection and 
management of the product mix as well as on a strict credit risk 
management. We will continue to maintain an increased focus 
on operational costs in order to maintain the downward trend 
already observed, working constantly on the adjustment of the 
organizational model and its adaptation to the business structure 
in order to achieve greater efficiency.

Regarding paper business, we predict a slight volume recovery 
in the major markets where Inapa operates, despite the constant 
pressure arising from the digital sector such as tablets and 
e-readers. There will be some pressure regarding prices, which are 
anticipated to increase marginally, and gross margins.

Regarding complementary businesses, packaging and 
visual communication, we foresee a positive perspective, 
which has already been observed, based on organic growth 
through increased market penetration where we operate and 
on expanding into other markets, together with an increased 
promotion of cross selling. Inapa will actively pursue investment 
opportunities that show prospects for growth, profitability and 
value creation according to the standards that have been adopted 
by the Group in recent years.

In terms of balance sheet, the Group will continue to pursue 
the goal to reduce its debt ratio through the optimization of 
working capital and cash-flow generation resulting from the 
activity. Inapa will keep the on-going efforts to improve the debt 
maturity profile in order to adjust it to the free-cash-flow of the 
business units.
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Stock Exchange 
Performance

2015 was marked by a mixed market behaviour, with an 
appreciation during the first four months of the year and a 
correction during the rest. European economical context was 
better than previous year, with growth during the first half of the 
year and a slowdown on the following quarters. At national level, 
during the first half of the year there was a slight improvement 
on economic indicators, with an increase on confidence levels, 
higher consumption levels and lower unemployment, with the 
last quarter of the year being marked by the political uncertainty.

In aggregated terms, the Portuguese market registered 
an appreciation over the previous years, with an increase  
of the PSI-20 of 11%.

Inapa ordinary shares in the first quarter registered a strong 
appreciation, reaching a maximum price of € 0.202. During the rest 
of the year there was a depreciation of the quotation. On a year-end 
basis, the price of the stock felt 30% from € 0.150 to € 0.105.

 

EVOLUTION OF ORDINARY SHARES QUOTE IN 2015

€0,25

€0,20

€0,15

€0,10

€0,05

€0,00
JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC

LEGEND OF GRAPH
1. 2014 results announcement (March 19)

2. Notice for the General Meeting (April 2)

3. Court sentence to reject the suspension of the decision adopted at the 

General Meeting of August 4, 2014 filled by Nova Expressão SGPS, SA 

(April 6)

4. Ordinary General Meeting (April 28)

5. 1st Quarter 2015 results announcement (May 21)

6. Resignation of the director José Félix Morgado (May 31)

7. Lawsuit from Parcaixa (June 9)

8. Management transaction (June 17)

9. Resignation of the director Jorge Pinto Bravo (July 23)

10. Co-optation of Diogo Rezende as director and CEO (July 29)

11. 1st Half 2015 results announcement (August 27)

12. Co-optation of Frederico as director and member of the executive 

committee (October 1)

13. 3rd quarter 2015 results announcement (October 29)

1
2 5
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The evolution of the title continued to be influenced by the 
Portuguese market context, despite its diminutive weight in 
consolidated sales, and by the company’s indebtedness level.

When compared the performance of the title with comparable 
entities, namely Sequana, it is possible to see a similar pattern. 
Spicers (formerly known as Paperlinx) saw its stock price 
appreciate due to its profound restructure, with the sale and 
insolvency of all its European and American subsidiaries.

Inapa shares transaction volumes during 2015 registered 
a slowdown relatively to previous year. In the first quarter there 
was an increase of volumes, while in the rest of the year there 
were lower transaction volumes, which on aggregated terms 
represented a decrease of 55% relatively to 2014.

 
In 2015 preferred shares had low trading volumes. During the 

year, there were traded eighty four thousand shares with its stock 
price at €0.150. This evolution represented a decrease of 32% 
to previous year, a similar trend to ordinary shares.

TOTAL ORDINARY SHARES TRADING 
VOLUMES (THOUSAND OF SHARES)

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

78,439

26,932

11,065

48,675

88,064

39,618

INAPA SHARE PRICE EVOLUTION VS. PSI20 VS. COMPARÁVEIS

250
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0

+54%

STOCK EXCHANGE PERFORMANCE

-27%

+11%

-30%

Inapa Sequana PSI-20 Spicers

JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC
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Own 
Shares

Proposed 
Earnings 
Distribution

The Company did not sell or purchase any of its own shares 
during the course of 2015 and, as so, does not own any of its 
own shares.

AUTHORIZATIONS GRANTED FOR 
TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN THE 
COMPANY AND ITS DIRECTORS

During the course of the financial year under analysis, 
no transactions were entered into by the Company and any 
of its Directors, and no requests for authorization of any such 
transactions were submitted to the Company.

The Board of Directors hereby proposes that Inapa – 
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA’s negative net profit for 
the year, totalling € 402,173.90 euros, be transferred to Retained 
Income.
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Declaration 
of Conformance

In conformance with the provisions of Subparagraph c) of Paragraph 1 of Article 245 
of the Código de Valores Mobiliários (the Securities Market Code), the members of the 
Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA hereby declare that, 
to the best of their knowledge, the information contained in the Directors’ Report, the 
Annual Accounts, the Legal Certification of the Accounts, and ancillary financial statements 
reported through 31 December 2015 to be submitted in compliance with the provisions 
of applicable legislation and regulations were prepared in conformance with applicable 
accounting standards and regulations and represent the assets and liabilities, financial 
situation, and results of the Company and its subsidiary and associate companies included 
in its consolidation perimeter in a truthful and appropriate manner, and that the Directors’ 
Report faithfully presents the performance of its corporate business and the financial 
performance and standing of the Company and its subsidiary and associate companies 
included in its consolidation perimeter, including a description of the main risks and 
uncertainties incurred by the aforementioned companies.

Lisbon, March 18, 2016

Álvaro João Pinto Correia
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende
Member of the Board of Directors and CEO

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen
Member of the Board of Directors

António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque
Director and member of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

Frederico João de Moser Lupi
Director and member of the Executive Committee of the Board of Directors

Emídio de Jesus Maria
Director and Chairman of the Audit Committee

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís
Director and member of the Audit Committee

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho
Director and member of the Audit Committee

DECLARATION OF CONFORMANCE
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Celebrating 
the Present 
is to share 
who we are

WATCH THE VIDEOS OF 

THE CELEBRATION OF 

THE 50TH ANNIVERSARY 

OF THE GROUP

Inapa is now a global company, which 
invests in the efficiency, innovation  
and excellence of its solutions in order 
to generate added value to the business 
of its customers.



Financial
Information

Printed in 
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IN 2015, OUR INNOVATION 

HAS BEEN RECOGNIZED. 

WE WILL CONTINUE  

OUR LEADERSHIP  

PATH FOCUSING  

ON DIFFERENTIATING 

SOLUTIONS.



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER, 2015 
(Amounts in thousands of Euros)

Consolidated Accounts

ASSETS NOTES  31 DECEMBER 
2015

 31 DECEMBER 
2014

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets 7 84,298 86,487 

Goodwill 8 164,787 164,520

Other intangible assets 9 115,641 114,725 

Investment in associate companies 10 1,117 1,077 

Available-for-sale financial assets 11 40 39 

Other non-current assets 15 6,140 7,045

Deferred tax assets 12 21,886 23,055 

Total non-current assets 393,907 396,949

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 13 63,214 62,957 

Trade receivables 14 127,928 134,705 

Tax to be recovered 15 6,998 6,172 

Available-for-sale financial assets 15 30,844 31,977

Other current assets 16 25,513 31,831 

Cash and cash-equivalents 15 808 - 

Total current assets 255,305 267,643

Total assets 649,212 664,592 

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY NOTES  31 DECEMBER 
2015

 31 DECEMBER 
2014

Share capital 18 180,135 180,135

Own shares 19 450 450

Share issue premium 19 46,539 44,752

Reserves 19 -36,096 -36,097

Retained earnings 19 -402 2,078

Net profit for the period 190,625 191,318

Non controled interests 21 26 133

Total shareholders equity 190,651 191,452

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans 22 172,230 156,560

Financing associated to financial assets 22 44,647 44,878

Deferred tax liabilities 12 24,276 23,853

Provisions 23 324 344

Liabilities for employee benefits 24 8,637 8,022

Other non-current liabilities 25 5,646 6,721

Total non-current liabilities 255,761 240,377

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Loans 22 119,529 147,101

Suppliers 25 53,259 50,409

Tax liabilities 25 11,222 12,617

Other current liabilities 25 18,789 22,636

Total current liabilities 202,800 232,763

Total shareholders equity and liabilities 649,212 664,592

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER, 2015
(Amounts in thousands of Euros)

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
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NOTES  31 DECEMBER 2015 4º QUARTER 2015*  31 DECEMBER 2014 4º QUARTER 2014*

Tonnes* 809,497 208,226 837,467 206,730
Sales and service rendered 26  889,479 229,165 919,266 230,493

Other Income 26  20,244 4,568 23,251 5,622

Total Income 909,723 233,733 942,517 236,115

Cost of sales 13 -730,172 -188,006 -751,948 -188,257

Personal costs 27 -77,365 -19,063 -79,482 -20,986

Other costs 28 -80,092 -19,010 -87,257 -21,097

22,095 7,654 23,830 5,775

Depreciations and amortizations 29 -5,095 -1,335 -5,648 -789

Gains/losses in associates 10 40 -29 9 14

Net financial function 30 -15,317 -3,663 -15,738 -3,551

Net profit before Income tax 1,722 2,627 2,451 1,449

Income tax 31 -2,231 -2,165 -483 -272

Net profit/(loss) for the period -510 462 1,968 1,177

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the company -402 505 2,078 1,289

Non controlling interests -108 -43 -110 -113

Earnings per share of continued operations (euros)

Basic 20 -0.001 0.001 0.005 0.008

Diluted 20 -0.001 0.001 0.005 0.008

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
* Non audited.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT AT 31 DECEMBER, 2015 AND 31 DECEMBER, 2014
(Amounts in thousands of Euros) 
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 31 DECEMBER 
2015

4º QUARTER 2015*  31 DECEMBER 
2014

4º QUARTER 2014*

Net profit for the period before minority interest -510 462 1,968 1,177
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Acturial gains/losses -670 - -3,200 -

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Change in value of available-for-sale financial assets  -    -    -    -   

Currency translation differences 413 13 191 13

Income recognized directly in equity -257 13 3,009 13

Total comprehensive income for the period -767 475 -1,041 1,190

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the company -659 518 -931 1,303

Non controlling interests -108 -43 -110 -113

-767 475 -1,041 1,190

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
* Non audited.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AS AT 31 DECEMBER, 2015 
(Amounts in thousands of Euros)

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros)

NOTES  31 DECEMBER 2015 4º QUARTER 2015*  31 DECEMBER 2014 4º QUARTER 2014*

CASH FLOW GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 922,680 265,902 957,114 245,582

Payments to suppliers -758,780 -211,448 -773,347 -200,162

Payments to personnel -75,519 -18,452 -78,536 -20,554

Net cash from operational activities 88,380 36,002 105,232 24,866

Income taxes paid -1,865 -561 -1,208 34

Income taxes received 1,696 88 1,332 -339

Other proceeds relating to operating activity 27,072 7,504 22,815 1,264

Other payments relating to operating activity -76,350 -24,090 -68,610 -9,463

Net cash generated from operating activities 38,932 18,943 59,561 16,362

NET CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Financial investments - - -  -   

Tangible fixed assets 1,121 591 6,286 4,281

Intangible assets 1 1 -  -   

Interest and similar income 2,943 468 3,030 220

Dividends - - -  -   

4,065 1,060 9,315 4,501

Payments in respect of:

Financial investments -290 -27 -1,427 -32

Tangible fixed assets -3,260 -1,047 -3,450 -650

Intangible assets - - -1,644 -857

Advances from third-party expenses - - -  -   

Loans granted - - -  -   

-3,551 -1,074 -6,522 -1,539

Net cash used in investing activities 514 -13 -2,794 -2,963

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
* Non audited.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT 31 DECEMBER, 2015
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros) 

NOTES  31 DECEMBER 2015 4º QUARTER 2015*  31 DECEMBER 2014 4º QUARTER 2014*

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Loans obtained 110,653 14,908 75,420 14,553

Capital increases, repayments and share premiums - - -  -   

Treasury placements - - -  -   

Changes in ownership interests - - -  -   

110,653 14,908 75,420 14,553

Payments in respect of:

Loans obtained -116,591 -17,528 -66,261 -1,888

Amortization of financial leases -1,535 -346 -1,181 -517

Interest and similar expenses -18,147 -4,896 -18,280 -5,578

Dividends - - -542  -   

-136,273 -22,770 -86,264 -7,983

Net cash used in financing activities  |3| -25,620 -7,862 -10,844 -6,570

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash-equivalent  |4| = |1| + |2| + |3|                           13,826 11,069 -51,511 -25,895

Effect of exchange differences 438 -54 -93 -26

14,264 11,015 -51,419 -25,869

Cash and cash-equivalents at the begining of period -55,744 - -107,162  -   

Cash and cash-equivalents at the end of period 12 -41,480 11,015 -55,744 -25,869

14,264 11,015 -51,419 -25,869

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.
* Non audited.

CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS
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ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

SHARE 
CAPITAL

SHARE 
ISSUANCE
PREMIUM

FOREIGN 
EXCHANGE

ADJUSTMENTS

OTHER 
RESERVES

AND RETAINED
EARNINGS

NET PROFIT 
/(LOSS)

FOR THE 
PERIOD

TOTAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

TOTAL 
SHAREHOLDER 

EQUITY

Balance as at January 1, 2014 204,176 450 4,612 -17,865 1,273 192,648 1,211 193,859

Total earnings and costs recognized  
in the period

- - 191 -3,200 2,078 -931 -110 -1,041

Previous year net profit and loss result - - - 731 -731 - - -

Dividends - - - - -542 -542 -102 -644

Changes in Capital -24,042 - - 24,042 - - - -

Other changes - - - 143 - 143 -866 -723

Total of gains and losses of the period -24,042 - 191 21,716 805 -1,330 -1,078 -2,408

Balance as at December 31, 2014 180,135 450 4,803 3,851 2,078 191,318 133 191,452

Balance as at January 1, 2015 180,135 450 4,803 3,851 2,078 191,318 133 191,452

Total earnings and costs recognized  
in the period

- - 413 -670 -402 -659 -108 -767

Previous year net profit and loss result - - - 2,078 -2,078 - - -

Dividends - - - - - - - -

Other changes - - - -33 - -33 - -33

Total of gains and losses of the period - - 413 1,375 -2,480 -692 -108 -800

Balance as at December 31, 2015 180,135 450 5,216 5,226 -402 190,625 26 190,651

To be read in conjunction with the Notes of interim consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 AND DECEMBER 31, 2014
(Amounts expressed in thousand of Euros)
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Notes to the 
Consolidated 
Financial 
Statements 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015 
(Values expressed in thousands of Euros, except where explicitly 
stated otherwise) 

NOTE 1
INTRODUCTION

Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA 
(Inapa – IPG) is the parent company of the Inapa Group, 
with the business purpose of owning and managing tangible 
and intangible assets, holding shares in other companies, 
exploiting its own and third-party commercial and industrial 
establishments and providing support to its subsidiaries.   
Inapa – IPG is listed on the Euronext Lisbon stock exchange. 

• Headquarters: Rua Braamcamp n.º 40 – 9.º D, 1250-050 
Lisbon – Portugal

• Share capital: 180,135,111 Euros
• N.I.P.C. (Corporate Tax Identification Number): 500 137 994

As a result of its development and internationalization plan, 
the Inapa Group holds shares in the Paper supply sector in 
various European countries, specifically (i) Inapa Deutschland, 
GmbH headquartered in Germany, which has a stake in Papier 
Union, GmbH, which in turn holds shares in Inapa Packaging, 
GmbH, and Complott Papier Union, GmbH, headquartered in 
the same country; (ii) Inapa France; (iii) Inapa Suisse, a subsidiary 
controlled directly and indirectly through Inapa Deutschland, 
GmbH, which operates in the Swiss market; (iv) Inapa Portugal – 
Distribuição de Papel, SA, the Portuguese company in the Group 
which has a stake in Inapa Angola – Distribuição de Papel, SA and 
Inapa Comunicação Visual, Lda; (v) Inapa España Distribuición 
de Papel, SA, operating in Spain, which has a stake in Surpapel, 
SL (a company that markets paper); (vi) Europackaging, SGPS, 
Lda, based in Portugal that develops its activity in Portugal and 
France through its subsidiaries; and (vii) one company located in 
the United Kingdom – Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd, company 

without activity; (viii) Inapa Belgium and Inapa Luxembourg, 
operating in the Benelux market and Korda Kağıt Pazarlama ve 
Ticaret Anonim Şirketi, operating in the Turkish market. 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the 
Inapa – IPG’s Board of Directors on March 18, 2016, being subject 
to shareholder approval at the General Meeting. It is the opinion 
of the Board that these financial statements appropriately reflect 
the Group’s operations and financial position.

NOTE 2
MAIN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The main accounting policies used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements are described below. These 
policies were applied consistently in all of the given exercises, 
unless otherwise stated. 

2.1. BASIS FOR PRESENTATION
The consolidated financial statements for the Inapa Group 

are prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IAS/IFRS) issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and with the interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) or by the earlier Standing Interpretations Committee 
(SIC), as adopted by the European Union and in force 
at December 31, 2015. 

The Inapa consolidated financial statements are prepared 
assuming the continuity of operations, from the financial books 
and records of the companies that constitute the Group, which 
are listed in Note 35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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The preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
demands the use of estimates and judgements regarding the 
application of the Group’s accounting policies. The principal 
assertions, where a greater degree of judgement or complexity 
is involved, and the more significant assumptions and estimates 
used for preparing the consolidated financial statements are 
described in Note 5. 

2.2. BASIS FOR CONSOLIDATION

Investments in subsidiary companies 
The Group’s investments in companies in which, directly 

or indirectly, it has the power to control their financial and 
operational policies, usually represented by holding more 
than 50% of its voting shares, were included in this financial 
statements using the full consolidation method (Note 35). The 
equity and the net profit that are held by a third party are booked 
under the caption Non-controlling interests on the consolidated 
balance sheet and on the consolidated income statement. The 
subsidiaries are included in the Consolidation from the date 
on which control was acquired until the date on which this 
effectively ends. 

Accounting for the acquisition of subsidiaries is carried out 
using the purchase method, where the assets and liabilities 
of each subsidiary are identified at their fair value, on the date 
of acquisition, in accordance with IFRS 3. Any surplus/(deficit) in 
the acquisition cost when compared with the fair value of the net 
assets and liabilities is recognized as a consolidation difference 
(Goodwill), which is described in Note 8. In the case of a deficit 
and if the fair value does not suffer any changes after revaluation, 
the difference is booked in the income statement for the period. 
The minority shareholder interests are given by the respective 
proportion of the fair value of the identified assets and liabilities. 

Transactions of sale, acquisition of participation shares 
of non-controlling interests do not result in the recognition 
of expenses, loss or goodwill, being any difference between the 
transaction value and book value of the traded participation, 
recognize in Equity.

Whenever necessary, the financial statements of the 
subsidiaries are adjusted so to reflect the Group’s current 
accounting policies. Inter-company transactions, balances and 
dividends distributed between Group companies and unrealized 
gains are eliminated during the consolidation process. Unrealized 
losses are also eliminated, unless they cannot be recovered due 
to evidence of impairment. 

Investments in associated companies 
Investments in companies where Inapa exercises significant 

influence, directly or indirectly, but does not have control, 
generally where it detains between 20% to 50% of the (associated 
company) voting shares, are accounted for by the equity method. 

In accordance with the equity method, the investments are 
recorded at their acquisition cost, adjusted by the amount 
corresponding to the Group’s share on the variations in the 
equity of the company (including net profit or loss) and by 
the dividends received. The variation in the company’s equity, 
resulting from net profit or loss, is recorded against the gains and 
losses for the period. 

Positive differences between the acquisition cost and the fair 
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of an associate 
on the date of acquisition are recognized as Goodwill and are 
included in the value of the investments (Note 10). If these 
differences are negative, they are recorded as revenue for the 
period in the line Gains/(losses) in associated companies. 

The investments in associated companies are evaluated if there 
are indications that there may be impairment of the asset. Any 
impairment losses are recorded as a cost. When impairment 
losses recognized in previous years cease to exist, they are 
reversed. 

When the participation of the Group in the losses of an 
associate equals or exceeds its investment in the associate, 
including receivables not covered by guarantees, the Group no 
longer records additional losses, unless it has incurred liabilities 
or made payments in the name of that company. 

Whenever necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of the associates to reflect the Group’s current 
accounting policies. The balances and dividends distributed 
between the companies of the Group and the associates, as well 
as the unrealized gains from inter-company transactions, are 
eliminated in the consolidation process, to the extent of the 
Group’s holding in the associate. Unrealized losses are also 
eliminated, unless they cannot be recovered due to evidence 
of impairment.

The investments in associates are described in Note 10. 
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2.3. GOODWILL (CONSOLIDATION DIFFERENCES)
Goodwill corresponds to the difference between the acquisition 

cost of the investments in the Group’s companies and the 
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities (including 
contingent liabilities) of these companies on the date of their 
acquisition (Note 8). Goodwill is recorded in the reporting 
currency of the subsidiary and converted to the reporting 
currency of the Group (Euro) at the exchange rate in force on the 
date of the Group’s financial statements. Exchange differences 
arising from this conversion are recorded in Foreign exchange 
adjustments. 

The consolidation differences are not amortized as annual 
impairment tests are conducted and, whenever this value 
is greater than the recoverable amount, it is recognized as 
an impairment loss and recorded on the income statement. 
These impairment losses cannot be reversed.

2.4. CURRENCY CONVERSION 
The financial statements of each of the Group’s companies are 

prepared in their functional currency, defined as the currency 
of the economic environment where they operate. The Group’s 
functional and reporting currency is the Euro. 

All of the monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign 
currency are converted to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate in force on the date of the balance sheet. Foreign currency 
transactions are converted at the rate in force on the date of each 
operation. The differences resulting from this conversion are 
recorded on the income statement. 

The following criteria are used to convert the financial 
statements of the foreign companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements that use a functional currency different from 
the Group reporting currency:

Assets and liabilities: Exchange rate parities in force of the 
date of the balance sheet.

Gains and losses: Average exchange rates parities observed 
during the period.

The differences resulting from the currency conversion 
procedure described above are recorded in the appropriate 
caption in Shareholders’ equity (Foreign exchange adjustments). 

The exchange rates used for converting the financial 
statements of the English, Swiss and Angolan subsidiaries were 
as follows: 

• GBP Exchange rate used for converting income statement 
items: 1.3780 euros;

• GBP Exchange rate used for converting balance sheet items: 
1.3605 euros;

• CHF Exchange rate used for converting income statement 
items: 0.9362 euros;

• CHF Exchange rate used for converting balance sheet items: 
0.9237 euros;

• KWZ Exchange rate used for converting income statement 
items: 0.0075 euros;

• KWZ Exchange rate used for converting balance sheet items: 
0.0068 euros;

• Turkish Lira Exchange rate used for converting income 
statement items: 0.3305 euros;

• Turkish Lira Exchange rate used for converting balance sheet 
items: 0.3148 euros.

2.5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are recorded at their acquisition cost, less 

depreciation and impairment losses, and are recognized to the 
extent that it is probable they will produce future economic 
benefits for the Group, provided their value can be reliably 
measured. 

The caption Other intangible assets (Note 9) essentially 
consists of brand names identified during the acquisition of 
subsidiaries, initially recorded at their fair value. These are used 
by Papier Union, GmbH, Inapa France, SA and Inapa Portugal, SA, 
and annual amortization is not applied as it was determined 
that they have an indefinite useful life and are subject to regular 
impairment tests, either conducted internally by the Group or 
based on evaluations by a specialist entity external to the Group. 
When impairment losses recognized in previous periods cease 
to exist, they are reversed.

Also recorded under this heading are software, patents and 
other licenses, which are amortized using the straight line method 
over a period varying from three to twelve years, and the cost of 
acquiring customer portfolios, which are amortized over a period 
between ten to twenty years.
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2.6. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
In accordance with the transitional arrangement included 

in IFRS 1, land was recorded at its fair value at the date of 
transition to IAS/IFRS (January 1, 2004). The adjustments 
resulting from the land revaluations were recorded as a correction 
to shareholders equity. 

The other tangible assets acquired by December 31, 2003 
were recorded at their deemed cost, which corresponds to the 
acquisition cost or to the acquisition cost revalued in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal up to 
that date, less depreciations and accumulated impairment losses. 

The tangible assets acquired after January 1, 2004 are recorded 
at their acquisition cost, less depreciations and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Depreciation is booked after the assets are in condition for use 
and is imputed on a systematic basis over their useful life, which 
is determined by taking into account the Group’s planned use 
for the asset, its expected wear and tear, subject to a foreseeable 
technical obsolescence and the residual value attributable to the 
asset. The residual value attributable to the asset is an estimate 
based on the prevailing residual value, at the date of the estimate, 
for similar assets that have reached the end of their useful life 
and which have been operating under conditions similar to those 
under which the asset will be used. 

Depreciations are calculated using the straight line method, 
on a monthly basis, at the following representative rates for 
estimated useful life: 

Buildings and other constructions 2.0% - 10.0%

Basic equipment 7.14% - 12.5%

Transport equipment 12.5% - 25.0%

Office equipment 10.0% - 33%

2.7. LEASES
Assets used under a finance lease, where the Group 

substantially assumes all of the risks and advantages inherent 
to its possession, are classified as tangible fixed assets and are 
depreciated in accordance with the policy established by the 
Group for such assets (Notes 7 and 22). 

Interest included in the value of the rent and the depreciations 
of the respective tangible assets are recognized as costs in the 
income statement for the year to which they relate. 

Operating leases are leases where the Group’s companies, are 
the lessee and the lesser and on which they assume a significant 
part of the risks and benefits of ownership (Note 32 a)). The 
payments arising from the execution of these contracts are 
booked in the income statement during the period of the lease. 

2.8. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE  
AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their 
balance sheet value is principally recoverable through sale and 
not through their continued use. For assets to be classified in 
this way, in accordance with IFRS 5, they must be available 
for immediate sale in their current condition, the sale has 
to be highly probable and the Board of Directors has to have 
committed to make the sale within a period of 12 months. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale are recorded at 
their acquisition value or at their fair value, whichever is smaller, 
less the expected costs of the sale.

The liquidation value of assets and liabilities relating to 
discontinued operations appear under their own captions on 
the consolidated balance sheet, and the net profit or loss for 
the period is recorded separately on the consolidated income 
statement. 

2.9. FINANCIAL ASSETS 
The Group classifies financial assets as follows (excluding 

financial investments in subsidiaries and in associates): 

Held-to-maturity investments: Non-derivative financial 
assets, with fixed or variable repayments, with fixed maturity 
and which the Board of Directors intends to retain until their 
respective maturity dates; 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss: 
Financial assets which are held for short-term purposes, 
including financial assets held for trading and derived 
instruments not involved in hedging. The assets and liabilities 
are measured at fair value through profit or loss;

Expenditure on maintenance and repair costs that neither 
increases the useful life nor results in significant benefits or 
improvements to the tangible asset elements, are recorded 
as costs in the year when they occur. 

If the amount recorded is greater than the recoverable value 
of the asset, this is reduced to the estimated recoverable value 
by recording impairment losses. 

When the item is disposed of or sold, the difference between 
the sale amount and the sum recorded for the asset are 
recognized in the income statement, under “Other income” 
or “Other costs caption”. 
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Loans and receivables: Non-derivative financial assets, with 
fixed or determined payments, which are not quoted in an active 
market. The balances related to these assets are recorded on the 
consolidated balance sheet under Customers, Other current and 
non-current assets and Cash and cash equivalent;

Available-for-sale financial assets: Non-derivative financial 
assets considered available for sale or which do not fit in any 
of the preceding categories. 

Held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables are 
classified as non-current assets, unless they will be settled 
within 12 months of the date of the balance sheet. Investments 
registered at fair value through profit or losses are classified 
as current investments. 

Investments and disinvestments are recognized on the trade 
date regardless of the settlement date. 

Financial assets are initially recorded using their acquisition 
value, which corresponds to their fair value on that date, and 
includes transaction costs, with the exception of held-to-maturity 
investments, which are recorded at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method. 

After initial recognition, the investments recorded at fair value 
through profit or loss and the available-for-sale investments 
are revalue for their fair values, with reference to their market 
value at the date of closing the balance sheet. Available-for-sale 
financial assets representing share capital in unlisted companies, 
where it is impossible to determine their fair value, are recorded 
at the acquisition cost, taking any impairment losses into 
account. 

Gains and losses arising from an alteration in the fair value of 
available-for-sale investments are recorded under equity until the 
investment is sold, matures or is otherwise liquidated, at which 
time the accumulated gain or loss that was recorded under equity 
is moved to the income statement. In situations in which the fair 
value of the investment is less than its acquisition cost and this 
situation is considered to be a permanent loss (impairment), the 
loss is recorded on the income statement and the sum recorded 
under equity is reversed. 

2.10. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
IAS 39 provides for two classifications for financial liabilities: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss: 
Financial liabilities held for the purpose of selling in the short 
term, including financial liabilities held for trading and derivative 
instruments not involved in hedging. The liabilities are measured 
at fair value through profit and loss; and 

Other financial liabilities: Non-derivative financial liabilities, 
with fixed or determined payments, which are not quoted 
in an active market. Other financial liabilities include Loans 
(Note 2.18) and Suppliers and other payables (Note 2.22). 
These liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost in accordance with the 
effective interest rate. Financial liabilities are derecognised when 
the underlying liabilities are extinguished by payment, cancelled 
or expire.

2.11. SECURITISATION OF TRADE RECEIVABLES 
In accordance with IAS 39, trade receivables balances subject 

to securitisation contracts are only derecognised if the following 
conditions are met simultaneously: 

• The right to receive the remuneration underlying the asset 
has been transferred;

• A substantial part of the associated benefits and risks of the 
asset has not been retained;

• Control over the operations has been transferred. 

The Group only derecognises customer balances and other 
receivables (removed from the asset) when it has substantially 
transferred the associated risks and benefits from holding 
those assets, as set out above. The pending receivables are 
included under Trade receivables and the funds received from 
securitisation are recorded under Loans associated to financial 
assets (Notes 22 and 37). 

2.12. IMPAIRMENT 
An evaluation over the possible impairment of the asset 

is conducted at the date on which the balance sheet is closed 
and whenever a change in circumstances indicates that the 
sum recorded for an asset cannot be recovered (Note 17). The 
non-current assets that are not depreciated as they do not have 
a finite useful life are subjected to periodic impairment tests.

Whenever the carrying value of an asset is shown to be greater 
than its recoverable amount, an impairment loss/provision 
is recognised and recorded on the income statement, or the 
asset is revalue and the revaluation recorded under equity. The 
recoverable value is either the fair value of an asset less the cost 
of selling it, or its value in use, whichever is the higher. 

An impairment loss recognised in preceding years is reversed 
when the reasons for recording the loss no longer exist (with 
the exception of Goodwill). The reversal is recorded on the 
income statement, unless the asset has been revalued and the 
revaluation was booked in equity, having been reduced by the 
impairment loss.
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2.13. INVENTORIES
Merchandise, maintenance and repair materials, and packaging 

materials are valued at either the net realisable value or the 
acquisition cost, including necessary expenditure on storage, 
whichever is the lower. The Group uses the weighted average cost 
method for costing goods sold. In case the net amount for which 
the good was sold is lower than the value it was booked for, the 
difference is registered in the income statement.

2.14. THIRD PARTY DEBTS  
Third party debts are recorded at their nominal value less any 

impairment losses, recognised under Other costs – impairment 
of current assets, so these reflect their net current realisable value. 

Trade receivables balances securitised by discounted bills and 
pending at the date of the balance sheet, are recognised on the 
Group financial statements until these have been received. 

2.15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash, bank deposits and 

other short-term investments maturing in less than 3 months, 
which can be immediately mobilised without significant risks of 
fluctuation in value. For the purposes of the cash flow statement, 
this heading also includes bank overdrafts, which are given on 
the balance sheet, under current liabilities and under Loans. 

2.16. SHARE CAPITAL AND OWN SHARES
The costs directly attributable to issuing new shares are given 

as a deduction, net of taxes, from the amount received as a result 
of the issue and are recorded under shareholders equity. 

Costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are 
shown as a deduction, net of taxes, to the received amount, 
as a result of the issuance and are recorded in equity.

Own shares are accounted for by their acquisition value 
as a reduction to the shareholders equity. The gains and 
losses inherent in the sale of own shares are recorded under 
shareholders equity.

2.17. DIVIDENDS
Dividends are recorded as liabilities in the period in which 

their distribution is approved by the shareholders of Inapa – IPG 
until the date of payment. 

2.18. LOANS
Loans are initially recorded under liabilities at their nominal 

value, net of issuing costs, and subsequently at the amortised 
cost. Financial costs are calculated in accordance with the 
effective interest rate, including premiums, and accounted for 
in the income statement in accordance with the accruals basis 
of accounting and added to the current liabilities, if they are not 
paid during the period. 

Loans are classified under current liabilities, unless the Group 
has the unconditional right to defer the reimbursement of the 
loan for a period of not less than 12 months counting from the 
date of the balance sheet. 

2.19. INCOME TAX 
Income tax includes current taxes and deferred taxes. 

Inapa – IPG and its subsidiaries headquartered in Portugal 
are taxable to Corporate Income Tax (IRC – Imposto sobre 
o Rendimento de Pessoas Colectivas), through the special tax 
regime for groups consisting of companies where the holding is 
90% or more and which meet the requirements of articles 69 and 
following, of the Corporate Income Tax Code. Inapa – IPG, as the 
parent company, is responsible for calculating the Group’s taxable 
profit, through the algebraic sum of the taxable profits and the 
tax losses on the income statements of each of the subsidiary 
companies belonging to the Group. The foreign subsidiaries 
of the Company are taxed in accordance with the tax regimes 
in force in their respective countries of origin. 

Deferred tax situations are recognised in the accounts, when 
relevant. The recognised deferred taxes correspond to temporary 
differences between the sums of assets and liabilities for the 
purposes of the financial report and the respective sums for 
tax purposes. Assets are recorded for deferred taxes when there 
is a reasonable expectation of future taxable income for them 
to be used. On the date of each balance sheet a reappraisal is 
carried out of the temporary differences underlying the assets for 
deferred taxes in accordance with the present expectation of their 
future recovery. The deferred taxes are recorded on the income 
statement, except when related to values that have been entered 
under shareholders equity, which implies their recognition in the 
shareholders equity. 

The income tax is recognized in interim financial statements, 
based on estimated annual effective rate for the annual financial 
statements.
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2.20. PROVISÕES
Provisions are recognised when, and only when, there is a 

present liability (legal or implicit) from a past event, when it is 
probable that it will generate an outflow of resources and when 
the sum of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Provisions 
are reviewed on the date of each balance sheet, and are adjusted 
so as to reflect the best estimate on this date (Note 23).

2.21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

Pension plan – defined benefit plans 
The subsidiaries Inapa France, SA and Papier Union, GmbH 

and Inapa Switzerland have taken responsibility for contributing 
to defined benefit pension plans for some of their employees. 

The liability of Inapa – IPG regarding each of these plans is 
estimated by specialised, independent entities, on an annual 
basis on the date of the balance sheet, using the projected unit 
credit method. In accordance with IAS 19, the costs related to the 
liabilities are recorded to the extent that the services are provided 
to the employees benefiting from the plans. 

The present value of the responsibilities arising from the 
defined benefits of a company and the services’ costs are 
determined using the projected unit credit method, in which 
each service term entitles the worker to an additional unit 
of the benefit, being each unit estimated separately. A benefit 
is attributed during the current period (estimated service current 
cost) and previous periods (estimate of the present value of the 
responsibilities arising from the defined benefits).

The benefit is attributable to the periods of services, using 
the plan’s benefits formula, unless the estimate of benefits 
from previous year’s services is higher, in which case the benefit 
is estimated using the linear method.

The responsibilities arising for past services, deducted from 
the actuarial gains or losses and the market value of the funds 
used to hedge them, are registered in the caption Employee 
benefits. In the income statement are registered the current 
services costs and the interests costs net from the estimated yield 
from the funds. The actuarial gains or losses arising from using 
an actuarial evaluation method are recognized in equity.

Pension plans – defined contribution plans
The periodic contributions made for defined contribution 

plans are booked in the income statement, with no additional 
responsibilities arising to the company. 

Post-retirement benefits 
In accordance with local legislation, the subsidiaries in France 

have the responsibility to pay their employees a sum on the date 
of their retirement, based on the number of years of worked 
for the company. The value of this liability, resulting from past 
services, is estimated at least annually, on the balance sheet  
date, by specialised, independent entities using the projected 
unit credit method and is recorded under the caption Employee 
benefits, using a methodology similar to the benefit plans 
described above.  

2.22. SUPPLIERS AND OTHER CURRENT PAYABLES 
The balances to be paid to suppliers, for taxes and other 

current liabilities are recorded by their nominal value, which 
on the date of initial entry corresponds to their fair value. 

2.23. RECOGNITION OF INCOME AND EXPENSES 
Income resulting from sales is recognised on the consolidated 

income statement when the associated risks and benefits relating 
to the assets are transferred to the purchaser and the amount 
of income can be reasonably quantified. Income resulting from 
service rendered is recognised on the consolidated income 
statement with reference to the phase of completion of the 
service rendered at the balance sheet date. Sales and service 
rendered are recognised net of tax, discounts and other inherent 
costs at their concretisation, by the fair value of the amount 
received or receivable. 

Group companies record their income and expenses in 
accordance with the accrual basis of accounting, in which the 
income and expenses are recognised as they arise, independently 
of when they are received or paid. The difference between the 
amounts received or paid and the corresponding income and 
expenses are recorded under Other current assets and Other 
current liabilities (Notes 15 and 25). 

2.24. SEGMENT REPORT 
An operating segment is an identifiable component of the 

Group that performs business activities and whose financial 
information is used in the Group Management decision making 
process. 
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The Group has identified three operating segments: paper 
supply, packaging and visual communication. The financial 
information relating to the various operating segments is shown 
in Note 6. Paper supply is performed in all of the countries where 
the Group is present, packaging is performed in France, Germany 
and Portugal and the visual communication is performed 
in Germany and Portugal. 

2.25. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Contingent liabilities in which a possible outflow of funds 

affecting future economic benefits is unlikely are not recognised 
in the consolidated financial statements, being included in the 
Notes to the financial statements (see Note 33), unless the 
possibility of achieving the outflow of funds affecting future 
economic benefits is remote, in which case they are not included. 
Provisions are recognised for the situations satisfying the 
conditions set out in Note 2.20.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements, but are given in the Notes to the financial 
statements when it is likely there will be a future economic 
benefit. 

2.26. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
Events after the date of the balance sheet that provide 

additional information about conditions existing at the date 
of the balance sheet are reflected in the consolidated financial 
statements. Events after the date of the balance sheet that 
provide information about conditions that occur after the date 
of the balance sheet are given in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, if material (see Note 39).

2.27. NEW STANDARDS, INTERPRETATIONS  
AND AMENDMENT TO THE STANDARDS 

After 1 January, 2015 the following standards, interpretations 
and amendments to existing standards came into effect following 
their publication by the IASB, by IFRIC and their adoption by the 
European Union:

• Improvements to standards 2011 – 2013. This cycle affects the 
normative improvements following: IFRS 1, IFRS 3, IFRS 13 
and IAS 40;

• IFRIC 21 (new) – Levies, Government taxes.

The beginning of these standards had no material impact 
on these financial statements.

IASB and IFRIC published new standards, amendments to 
existing standards and interpretations, the application of which 
is still not obligatory for the period beginning until 1 January, 
2015 as they have not been adopted by European Union. These 
standards are either not relevant in the context of the present 
financial statements or Inapa – IPG has opted not to adopt them 
before time:

• IAS 1 (amendment) – Disclosures review (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016). 

• IAS 16 and IAS 38 (amendment) – Methods of calculating 
depreciation and depreciation allowed (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016).

• IAS 16 and IAS 41 (amendment) – ‘Agriculture: plants that 
produce consumable biological assets’ (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016).

• IAS 19 (amendment) – Defined benefit plans – Employee 
contributions’ (effective for annual periods beginning  
on or after February 1, 2015). 

• IAS 27 (amendment) – Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements (effective for annual periods beginning  
on or after January 1, 2016). 

• IFRS 9 (new) – Financial instruments – accounting and 
measurement (effective for periods beginning on or after 
1 January, 2018); This is still subject to endorsement by the 
European Union;

• IFRS 11 (amendment) – Accounting for the acquisition 
of an interest in a joint operation’ (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016).

• IFRS 15 (new) – Revenue from contracts with customers’ 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 
2018). This standard is still subject to endorsement by the 
European Union process;

• Changes to IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 28 – “Sale or assets 
contributions between an investor and its subsidiary 
or Joint-Venture” (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2016). This standard is still subject 
to endorsement by the European Union;
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• Improvements to standards 2010-2012, (applicable in 
general to periods beginning on or after February 1, 2015). 
These improvements are still subject to endorsement by 
the European Union. This cycle of improvement affects the 
following standards: IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, 
IAS 24 and IAS 38;

• Improvements to standards 2012-2014, (applicable in 
general to periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016). 
These improvements are still subject to endorsement by 
the European Union. This cycle affects the normative 
improvements following: IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 9 and IAS 34.

In the preparation of these financial statements the Group has 
not early adopted any of these standards. 

According to the analysis made by Inapa – IPG, does not expect 
that the implementation of the amendments and new standards 
referred to above, which are not yet mandatory for the periods 
beginning on January 1, 2015, has significant impact on the 
financial statements of the Group with its entry into force.

NOTE 3
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risk 
factors: market risk (including foreign risk and risk associated 
with interest rates and prices), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Group’s exposure to financial risk is essentially associated with 
customer receivables and loans obtained from financial entities, 
which gives rise to risks derived from non-compliance with 
contract conditions and to risk of fluctuations in interest rates. 

Financial risk is managed centrally by the Financial 
Department located in Portugal, in accordance with the 
policies approved by the Board of Directors, and in direct 
cooperation with the various subsidiaries. Fluctuations in the 
financial market, particularly with regard to interest rates, are 
continuously analyzed and, when considered necessary, measures 
are taken to minimize the Group’s exposure to financial risk.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

A) MARKET RISK

Changes in foreign Exchange rate 
Variations in the exchange rate for the Euro into other 

currencies, particularly the Swiss franc, Kwanza and Turkish lira 
can impact on the financial situation of the company, as Inapa – 
IPG operates in Switzerland, Angola and Turkey. 
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DECEMBER 31, 2015 EURO CHF DÓLAR * TRY TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 20,468 3,502 1,065 478 25,513

Trade receivables and other assets 146,393 5,681 862 11,976 164,911

Available-for-sale assets 22 17  -      -     40

Total financial assets 166,883 9,200 1,927 12,454 190,464

LIABILITIES
Loans and other financial instruments 329,378 1,847  -     5,181 336,406

Suppliers and other liabilities 73,527 2,791  -     1,367 77,695

Total of financial liabilities 402,916 4,638  -     6,547 414,101

Balance sheet – net financial position -236,033 4,562 1,927 5,906 -223,636

DECEMBER 31, 2014

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 28,240 2,070 545 976 31,831

Trade receivables and other assets 154,748 7,139 1,378 10,464 173,728

Available-for-sale assets 24 16  -      -     39

Total financial assets 183,012 9,224 1,923 11,440 205,598

LIABILITIES
Loans and other financial instruments 342,677 1,663 132 4,066 348,538

Suppliers and other liabilities 75,816 2,705 366 879 79,766

Total of financial liabilities 418,493 4,368 498 4,945 428,304

Balance sheet – net financial position -235,481 4,856 1,425 6,495 -222,706

*Information prepared concurrently in two currencies: kwanzas and US dollars.

Even though these markets do not represent more than 9.9% of Group sales, possible devaluations in these currencies, against the 
Euro, could have a negative impact on the activity, the financial situation and on the income statement. 

The following table shows the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate risk on 31 December, based on the balance sheet values for 
the financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group: 

On December 31, 2015 a positive variation of the Euro on 1% against other currencies would result in a negative impact on Equity 
of 124 thousand euros (December 31, 2014: 128 thousand euros).

Changes in interest rates
The cost of the majority of the financial debt contracted by Inapa – IPG is indexed to variable reference rates, exposing Inapa – IPG 

to interest rate risk. As Inapa – IPG does not hedge this exposure to adverse variations in interest rates, these variations may have 
a negative material effect on its operations, financial situation and income. However, as a way of managing these variations, the Group 
financial department continuously follows the development of the market, being ready to use financial instruments to minimise the 
effects of the volatility in interest rates. 

On December 31, 2015, if the reference interest rate used for the contracted loans varied by 0.1%, keeping all other variables 
constant, the annualised financial charges would vary by about 336 thousand Euros  (December 31, 2014: 348 thousand Euros).

80

INAPA ANNUAL REPORT 2015
03. FINANCIAL INFORMATION



DECEMBER 31, 2015 LESS THAN 1 
MONTH

1 TO 3  
MONTHS

3 TO 12  
MONTHS

1 TO 5  
YEARS

MORE THAN  
5 YEARS

TOTAL

ASSETS
Non current assets
Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 40 - 40

Other receivables - 1,429 - - - 1,429

Current
Other receivables - 790 - - - 790

Cash and cash equivalents 25,513 - - - - 25,513

Total of financial assets 25,513 2,219 - 40 - 27,771

LIABILITIES
Non current
Loans 1,329 51,754 110,409 904 - 164,396

Financing associated to financial assets 44,647 - - - - 44,647

Other liabilities – leases 7,834 - - - - 7,834

Current
Loans 71,564 22,396 23,483 744 - 118,188

Other liabilities – leases 1,342 - - - - 1,342

Total of financial liabilities 126,715 74,150 133,892 1,648 - 336,406

DECEMBER 31, 2014

ASSETS
Non current assets
Available-for-sale financial assets - - - 39 - 39

Other receivables - 1,977 - - - 1,977

Current -
Available-for-sale financial assets - - - - - -

Other receivables - 790 - - - 790

Cash and cash equivalents 31,831 - - - - 31,831

Total of financial assets 31,831 2,767 - 39 - 34,637

LIABILITIES
Non current
Loans 1,000 49,714 97,480 659 338 149,192

Financing associated to financial assets 44,877 - - - - 44,877

Other liabilities – leases 7,368 - - - - 7,368

Current
Loans 79,805 44,812 20,334 482 93 145,527

Other liabilities – leases 1,574 - - - - 1,574

Total of financial liabilities 134,624 94,526 117,815 1,141 432 348,538

B) CREDIT RISK

Inapa – IPG is exposed to this kind of risk because of the credit it provides to its customers. The Group does not have significant 
credit risk and has credit risk evaluation.

On December 31, 2015 and 2014 the change in the financial assets and liabilities with exposure to foreign exchange rate risk 
in relation to maturity or the date of revision of the interest rate (Euribor 1, 3 or 6-month) is given below: 
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2015 2014

COSTUMERS OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

COSTUMERS OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Current accounts not due 103,284 34,927 107,086 35,767

Past due accounts

1 to 30 days 7,795 52 8,634 -

31 to 90 days 4,924 15 7,234 -

+ than 91 days 10,362 1,989 8,313 3,255

126,364 36,984 131,267 39,022

Doubtfull accounts 20,343 1,107 25,056 1,122

Impairment -18,780 -1,107 -21,618 -1,122

Net trade receivables balances 127,928 36,984 134,705 39,022

Limite de seguro de crédito contratado 817,146 813,245

For past-due balances, Inapa – IPG considers that no risk of losses will be coming for no-payment debt.

The entities with debts for the Group have no known rated “rating”.

C) CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Concentration of financial assets by operating segment 
The table below gives Inapa – IPG’s exposure to credit risk on December 31, 2015 and 2014, in accordance with the asset balances, 

categorised by operating segment: 

DECEMBER 31, 2015 PAPER 
SUPPLY

PACKAGING VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER BUSINESS
AND ACTIVITIES

TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 24,663 637  33    179    25,513 

Available-for-sale financial assets 26  1    -    13   40

Trade receivables and other assets  146,440    7,928    4,655    5,888    164,911   

Total assets  171,130    8,566    4,688    6,080    190,464   

Whenever appropriate solutions are available for the contingencies the companies face, they hedge these risks by contracting credit 
insurance. 

In addition, Inapa – IPG has a policy of monitoring trades receivable accounts closely and continuously, particularly taking their age 
and associated risks into consideration and if risks are found regarding their collection, they will be recognised as an impairment loss. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk corresponds to the accounting values of the financial assets given in the following tables 
regarding the concentration of credit risk. 

On 31 December, 2015 and 2014, the ageing of trade receivables balances and the credit limit for the customer portfolio were 
as follows: 
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Concentration of financial assets by geographical region
The table below gives Inapa – IPG’s exposure to credit risk on December 31, 2015 and 2014, in accordance with the asset balances, 

categorised by geographical region: 

DECEMBER 31, 2015 IBERIA FRANCE SWITZERLAND
AND GERMANY

ANGOLA OTHERS TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents  891    4,313    18,721    1,065    523    25,513   

Available-for-sale financial assets  13    7    17    -    3   40

Trade receivables and other assets  36,646    43,404    69,463    862    14,536    164,911   

 37,550    47,724    88,201    1,927    15,062    190,464   

DECEMBER 31, 2014

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents  1,237    3,938    25,098    545    1,012    31,831   

Available-for-sale financial assets  14    7    16    -    3    39   

Trade receivables and other assets  36,163    45,647    78,075    1,378    12,465    173,728   

 37,415    49,591    103,189    1,923    13,480    205,598   

D) LIQUIDITY RISK

Inapa – IPG manages the Group’s liquidity risk using two approaches: by ensuring that the medium and long-term component of its 
financial debt is appropriate to the volume of funds expected to be generated and by having credit facilities continuously available (lines 
in the current account). 

The following table analyses the Group’s remunerated financial liabilities on December 31, 2015 and 2014 by applicable maturity 
groupings, based on the period remaining until contractual maturity.  The sums given in the table are undiscounted contractual cash 
flows plus interests. 

DECEMBER 31, 2015 LESS THAN 1 
MONTH

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

1 TO 5 
YEARS

MORE THAN 
DE 5 YEARS

TOTAL

LIABILITIES
Loans and finnacial instruments 

Commercial Paper  386   23,050   12,412 7,607 1,061 44,516

Bank loans 1,476 15,406 66,030 119,647 20,123 222,682

Other loans  72   5,583 3,606 31,434  -   40,696

Financing associated to financial assets 72 140 639 46,482  -   47,333

Other liabilities – finance lease 381 18 1,243 5,266 3,514 10,421

2,387 44,197 83,930 210,436 24,697 365,648

DECEMBER 31, 2014 PAPER 
SUPPLY

PACKAGING VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER BUSINESS
AND ACTIVITIES

TOTAL

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents  31,167    441    48    175    31,831   

Available-for-sale financial assets  24    3    -  13    39   

Trade receivables and other assets  156,721    8,810    4,162    4,034    173,728   

Total assets  187,911    9,255    4,210    4,222    205,598   
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NOTE 4
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Reconciliation of the consolidated balance sheet with the various categories of financial assets and liabilities it includes is detailed below:

DECEMBER 31, 2015 CREDIT AND
RECEIVABLES

AVAILABLE-FOR SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS

OTHER FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets - 40 -

Other non-current assets 6,140 - -

Trade receivables and others current assets 158,772 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 25,513 - -

Total Assets 190,424 40 -

LIABILITIES

Loans - - 172,230

Other non-current liabilities - - 5,646

Current loans - - 119,529

Loans associated with financial assets - - 44,647

Suppliers and Other current liabilities - - 72,049

Total Liabilities - - 414,101

DECEMBER 31, 2014

ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets - 39 -

Other non-current assets 7,045 - -

Trade receivables and others current assets 166,683 - -

Cash and cash equivalents 31,831 - -

Total Assets 205,559 39 -

LIABILITIES

Loans - - 156,560

Other non-current liabilities - - 6,721

Current loans - - 147,101

Loans associated with financial assets - - 44,878

Suppliers and Other current liabilities - - 73,046

Total Liabilities - - 428,305

DECEMBER 31, 2014 LESS THAN  
1 MONTH

1 TO 3 
MONTHS

3 TO 12 
MONTHS

1 TO 5 
YEARS

MORE THAN 
DE 5 YEARS

TOTAL

LIABILITIES
Loans and finnacial instruments 

Commercial Paper  414    457    34,679    8,285    2,188    46,023   

Bank loans  1,439    19,845    90,556    64,505    56,061    232,407   

Other loans  80    152    8,890    31,984    -    41,105   

Financing associated to financial assets  81    154    719    47,896    -    48,850   

Other liabilities – finance lease  400    15    1,264    6,079    1,568    9,326   

 2,414    20,624    136,109    158,749    59,817    377,712   
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NOTE 5
RELEVANT ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

The preparation of the financial statements was in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, using estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and of income and expenses during the reporting year. While 
the estimates have been based on the best knowledge of the Board of Directors regarding current events and operations, actual results 
may differ from these in the final analysis. It is, however, the conviction of the Board of Directors that the estimates and assumptions 
do not incorporate significant risks that could cause material adjustments to the value of assets and liabilities during the course of the 
following year. 

Estimates that present a significant risk of producing a material adjustment in the accounting value of the assets and liabilities in the 
following period are given below: 

A) ESTIMATES OF IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL AND OWN BRANDS 

The Group performs annual impairment tests in Goodwill, in accordance with the accounting policy given in Note 2.3. Recoverable 
values for cash flow generating units are determined based on calculated usage value.  These calculations require that the Group uses 
estimates (Note 8 e 9). 

When calculating the cash flow generated by cash-generating units a figure for average sales growth was estimated: If it is 0.5% lower, 
with all other variables remaining constant, it is not necessary to record an impairment loss. Nor would an impairment loss be recorded 
if the discount rate is 0.5% higher and all other variables remained constant.  However, in the case of an increase of, at least, 1% it would 
be required to register an impairment loss.

Similarly, impairment tests are conducted on the brands recorded in Other intangible assets, where estimates were used (Note 9). 
If all other variables remain constant and the discount rate is 0.5% higher, it is not necessary to record an impairment loss. In the 
case of estimating the average sales growth down by 0.5% and all other variables remain constant, there would not be necessary 
to recognize an impairment loss in the value of its own brands. However, in the case of an increase of, at least, 0.5% of the discount 
rate it would be required to register an impairment loss. 

B) ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS 

The liabilities for defined benefits are calculated based on actuarial assumptions. Differences arising between the assumptions and 
reality may affect the financial statements in ways that may or may not be significant.

The fair value of the assets and liabilities is equivalent to their balance sheet value. 

Financial assets and financial liabilities gains and losses for 2015 and 2014 breakdown as follows: 

2015 2014

Gains/(losses) from loans and receivables -1,718 -1,979

Gains/(losses) from other financial liabilities - -

Gains/(losses) from available-for-sale financial assets - 23

Interest obtained:

From available-for-sale - -

From loans and other receivables 831 867

Interest paid:

From financial liabilities measured at amortised cost -11,735 -13,881

Commission, guarantee and other costs of financial liabilities -4,088 -3,417

Total net gains and losses -16,711 -18,387
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C) INCOME TAX 

The Group is subject to income tax in various jurisdictions and the tax calculation made by the Group is subject to review by various 
tax authorities. If the final result from these reviews differs from the initially recorded values, the differences will have an impact 
on income tax and the provisions for deferred taxes in the year in which such differences are identified. 

In addition, the assets for deferred taxes correspond to the value of tax losses for which there is an expectation of future recovery. 
A failure to recover tax losses or an alteration in the expectation of recovery in future years will have an impact on the income for the 
year in which the situation occurs. 

D) DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS 

Impairment losses related to doubtful accounts are based on an evaluation the Group conducts into the probability of recovering 
receivables. This evaluation process is subject to various estimates and judgements. Alterations to these estimates may have an impact 
on impairment levels and, consequently, have an impact on the results.

E) PROVISIONS FOR LITIGATION

The Group is involved in various on-going legal actions and, whenever considered necessary, provisions are made in accordance with 
management estimates, which are based on the legal opinion of the Group’s lawyers (Note 2.20).

A negative decision in any on-going action may have an adverse effect on operations, the financial situation and Group results. 
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NOTE 6
SEGMENT REPORT  

The information in the report by segment is presented in accordance with the identified operating segments: paper supply, packaging 
and visual communication. Holdings that are not imputed to the identified businesses are recorded under Other operations. 

The results, assets and liabilities for each segment correspond to those that are directly attributable and those for which there 
is reasonable basis for attribution. Inter-segmental transfers are carried out at market prices and are not materially significant.

The breakdown of financial information on December 31, 2015 and 2014 for operating segments is as follows: 

DECEMBER 31, 2015 PAPER PACKAGING VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER
OPERATIONS

ELIMINATIONS ON 
CONSOLIDATIONS

CONSOLIDATED

REVENUES

External sales 785,147 64,103 32,055 16 - 881,321

Inter-segment sales 585 2,162 3,949 - -6,695 -

Other revenues 26,219 948 746 490 - 28,403

Total Revenues 811,950 67,212 36,750 506 -6,695 909,723

RESULTS

Segment results 16,855 2,904 90 -3,572 722 16,999

Operacional results 16,999

Interest expenses -10,918 -947 -413 -9,839 3,886 -18,231

Interest income 6,364 1 48 980 -4,479 2,914

Tax on profits - - - - - -2,231

Income from ordinary activities -550

Gains/(losses) in associated companies 40

Net profit/(loss) for the year -510

Attributable

Equity shareholders -402

Minority interests -108

OTHER INFORMATIONS

Segment assets 564,656 33,796 10,047 23,090 - 631,588

Non-imputable Group assets 17,624

Total consolidated assets 649,212

Segment liabilities 254,797 24,048 9,311 3,519 - 291,674

Non-imputable Group liabilities 166,888

Total consolidated liabilities 458,562

Capex 4,134 284 2,010 21 - 6,449

Depreciation 3,390 437 305 964 - 5,095

Provisions (impairment of assets) 2,571 62 79 - - 2,712
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On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the values of assets located in the different markets where Inapa – IPG has supply operations and 
the sales by country were as follows: 

2015 2014

ASSETS SALES ASSETS SALES

Germany  199,421    403,567   203,714 432,630

France  91,046    158,860   94,870 182,210

Portugal  30,194    34,410   34,118 37,517

Others  243,995    188,309   236,925 160,572

 564,656    785,147   569,628 812,929

DECEMBER 31, 2014   
 

PAPER PACKAGING VISUAL
COMMUNICATION

OTHER
OPERATIONS

ELIMINATIONS ON 
CONSOLIDATIONS

CONSOLIDATED

REVENUES

External sales 812,929 64,892 31,697 4 - 909,522

Inter-segment sales 1,496 2,458 5,005 - -8,958 -

Other revenues 31,053 878 970 94 - 32,995

Total Revenues 845,478 68,228 37,672 98 -8,958 942,517

RESULTS

Segment results 16,402 3,078 1,179 -2,906 428 18,181

Operacional results 18,181

Interest expenses -10,877 -984 -338 -10,721 3,951 -18,969

Interest income 6,329 4 32 1,097 -4,232 3,231

Tax on profits - - - - - -483

Income from ordinary activities 1,960

Gains/(losses) in associated companies 9

Net profit/(loss) for the year 1,968

Attributable

Equity shareholders 2,078

Minority interests -110

OTHER INFORMATIONS

Segment assets 569,628 34,302 13,909 26,708 - 644,547

Non-imputable Group assets 20,046

Total consolidated assets 664,592

Segment liabilities 274,242 25,766 13,920 3,968 - 317,895

Non-imputable Group liabilities 155,246

Total consolidated liabilities 473,141

Capex 3,684 753 1,601 174 - 6,213

Depreciation 3,762 477 364 1,045 - 5,648

Provisions (impairment of assets) 3,527 173 104 - - 3,804
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Non-current assets by geographical region   
On December 31, 2015 and 2014 the values of non-current assets by location were as follows: 

NOTE 7
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

During the years 2015 and 2014, the tangible fixed assets movements and the related depreciations, were as follows: 

2015 GERMANY FRANCE PORTUGAL OTHERS TOTAL

Tangible fixed assets – net 32,101 21,496 28,082 2,618 84,298

Other non current assets 2,644 3,298 73 125 6,140

34,745 24,795 28,155 2,743 90,437

2014

Tangible fixed assets – net 33,402 21,569 28,404 3,113 86,487

Other non current assets 2,628 3,390 112 125 6,256

36,030 24,959 28,516 3,238 92,743

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS LAND BUILDINGS 
AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC 
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT 

AND OTHERS

IN PROGRESS TOTAL

ACQUISITION COSTS

Balance as at January 1, 2015 25,576 85,213 42,954 3,388 10,297 121 167,550

Exchange rate differences - -11 113 -18 215 - 299

Increases 2 725 2,586 145 422 50 3,930

Disposals -402 -1,382 -1,398 -319 -1,883 -57 -5,441

Transfers/cut - -2,094 9 - -50 -98 -2,233

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - - - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2015 25,176 82,451 44,264 3,196 9,001 16 164,105

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance as at January 1, 2015 - 33,308 35,502 2,778 9,475 - 81,063

Exchange rate differences - -4 102 -18 209 - 288

Increases - 1,880 1,163 211 414 - 3,668

Disposals - -979 -762 -247 -1,899 - -3,887

Transfers/cut - -1,326 -40 - 40 - -1,326

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - - - - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2015 - 32,879 35,965 2,723 8,240 - 79,807

Net value 25,176 49,572 8,299 473 761 16 84,298
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TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS LAND BUILDINGS 
AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC 
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT 

AND OTHERS

IN PROGRESS TOTAL

ACQUISITION COSTS

Balance as at January 1, 2014 27,611 91,581 42,212 3,389 10,684 1,236 176,713 

Exchange rate differences 4 3 30 7 48 - 91 

Increases - 838 2,235 297 365 110 3,844 

Disposals -2,039 -7,276 -1,523 -304 -799 -78 -12,019

Transfers/cut - 67 - - -1 -1,146 -1,080

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - - - - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2014 25,576 85,213 42,954 3,388 10,297 121 167,550 

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

Balance as at January 1, 2014 - 37,010 34,401 2,837 9,468 - 83,716 

Exchange rate differences - 1 24 5 50 - 79 

Increases - 1,886 1,283 298 495 - 3,961 

Disposals - -5,578 -206 -362 -538 - -6,684

Transfers/cut - -10 - - - - -9

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - - - - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2014 - 33,308 35,502 2,778 9,475 - 81,063 

Net value 25,576 51,905 7,452 611 822 121 86,487 

On December 31, 2015, the gross value of tangible fixed assets funded by finance leases amounts to 16,201 thousand Euros (2013: 
15,744 thousand Euros), with accumulated depreciations of 5,088 thousand Euros (2014: 5,243 thousand Euros) and debt value 
of 9,176 thousand Euros (2014: 6,543 thousand Euros). 

The net values of assets on December 31, 2015 and 2014 under the finance lease regime were registered as follows: 

2015 2014

Land 2,182 2,182

Buildings and other constructions 8,316 8,312

Basic equipment 471 -

Transport equipment 142 36

Total 11,111 10,530
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NOTE 8
GOODWILL

During the years 2015 and 2014 the Goodwill’s movements 
were as follows:

GOODWILL

JANUARY 1, 2014
Acquisition value 160,301

Accumulated Impairment losses -11,766

Balance as at January 1, 2014 148,535

MOVIMENTS DURING 2014

Exchange rate differences -

Increases 15,985

Impairment -

Transfers and disposals -

Changes in consolidation perimeter -

164,520

DECEMBER 31, 2014

Acquisition value 176,286

Accumulated Impairment losses -11,766

Balance as at December 31, 2014 164,520

MOVIMENTS DURING 2015

Exchange rate differences -

Increases 266

Impairment -

Transfers and disposals -

Changes in consolidation perimeter -

164,787

DECEMBER 31, 2015

Acquisition value 176,552

Accumulated Impairment losses -11,766

Balance as at December 31, 2015 164,787

When the various subsidiaries were acquired, the difference 
between the value of the acquisition and the fair value of the 
assets and liabilities acquired were calculated. 

The increase in 2014 in the value of Goodwill results from 
the acquisition of 5.1%, of Papier Union GmbH capital, having 
been exercised the call option held by the Group. Following this 
operation, was transferred the balance recognized as non-current 
assets to Goodwill, along with the value of non-controlling 
interests related to this operation.

As the subsidiaries main activity is paper supply, the Board 
of Directors decided to treat the supply activity, as a whole, 
as a group of cash-generating units, taking into consideration 
the direct inter-dependency of the supply operations, and 
in compliance with IAS 36. A similar approach is also applicable 
to the packaging activity performed in Germany. 
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PAPER PACKAGING VISUAL COMMUNICATION TOTAL

SUPPLY FRANCE GERMANY PORTUGAL PORTUGAL GERMANY

Goodwill 142,145 2,933 10,779 1,135 1,775 6,019 164,787

31 DECEMBER
2015

31 DECEMBER
2014

Sales growth rate (in perpetuity) 1.85% 1.85%

EBITDA margin (Paper) 3.4% 3.6%

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0%

After-tax discount rate 5.4% 5.7%

Before-tax discount rate 6.6% 6.9%

Accordingly, the allocation of Goodwill can be broken down as follows: 

To calculate the discount rate of impairment tests were kept the same assumptions that were used in the previous year:

• Risk-free interest rate: bond yield of the German state for 30 years;

• Spread: Inapa – IPG average spread debt for the year;

• Beta:  analysts’ average reports following Inapa – IPG (BPI and Caixa BI);

•  Market risk premium: analysts’ average reports following Inapa – IPG (BPI and Caixa BI);

• Optimal capital structure: analysts’ average reports following Inapa – IPG (BPI and Caixa BI);

• Tax rate: Inapa – IPG nominal tax rate for the year. 

As described in Note 2.3, the values recorded in Goodwill are tested for impairment annually or whenever there is an indication 
of a possible loss in value. Annually the Group calculates the recoverable value of the assets and liabilities associated with the paper 
supply, packaging, factoring and visual communication activities by determining the value in use by means of the discounted cash flow 
method. 

The values from the impairment tests conducted for the purposes of the financial statement of December 31, 2015, were supported 
by the expectations of market performance as detailed in the future cash flow projections, based on medium and long-term plans 
approved by the Board of Directors that cover the period to 2020. The cash flow projections beyond the period of the plans are 
extrapolated, using the estimated growth rates given below. The growth rates used for the impairment tests do not exceed the 
long-term average growth rate for the supply activity or other operations. 

The management determines the budgeted gross margin based on past performance and their expectations for market performance. 
The weighted average growth rate used is consistent with the predictions given in reports for the sector. The after-tax discount rate 
used is 5.39%, corresponding to 6.63% before tax, and reflects specific risks related to the relevant segments.

The assumptions used as a basis for the impairment test were as follows: 
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DECEMBER 2015 DECEMBER 2014

30 years bond yield of the German state 1.35% 1.65%

Inapa average spread 3.5% 3.5%

Beta 1.11 1.11

Market risk premium 5.0% 5.0%

Optimal capital structure 43.0% 43.0%

Tax rate 30.0% 30.0%

The differences registered over the previous year, at the discount rate in each of the following assumptions were as follow:

INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 
AND OTHER RIGHTS

ADVANCES 
AND INTANGIBLE 

IN PROGRESS

TOTAL

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2015 164,968 1,787 166,755

Exchange rates differences 194 - 194

Increases 1,202 1,332 2,534

Disposals -801 -73 -874

Transfers/cuts 199 -199 -

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2015 165,762 2,847 168,609

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at January 1, 2015 52,030 - 52,030

Exchange rates differences 98 - 98

Increases 1,428 - 1,428

Disposals -587 - -587

Transfers/cuts - - -

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2015 52,968 - 52,968

Acquisition cost 165,762 2,847 168,609

Accumulated depreciations 25,504 - 25,504

Accumulated impairment losses 27,464 - 27,464

Net value 112,794 2,847 115,641

NOTE 9
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

During the years 2015 and 2014, the movements in intangible assets and related depreciations were as follows:
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INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY 
AND OTHER RIGHTS

ADVANCES 
AND INTANGIBLE 

IN PROGRESS

TOTAL

ACQUISITION COSTS
Balance as at January 1, 2014 164,171 376 164,547

Exchange rates differences 42 - 42

Increases 846 1,535 2,381

Disposals -1,361 - -1,361

Transfers/cuts 1,270 -124 1,146

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2014 164,968 1,787 166,755

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at December 31, 2014 51,562 - 51,562

Exchange rates differences 43 - 43

Increases 1,686 - 1,686

Disposals -1,261 - -1,261

Transfers/cuts -1 - -1

Changes in consolidation perimeter - - -

Balance as at December 31, 2014 52,030 - 52,030

Acquisition cost 164,698 1,787 166,755

Accumulated depreciations 24,566 - 24,566

Accumulated impairment losses 27,464 - 27,464

Net value 112,938 1,787 114,725
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Inapa – IPG identified as intangible assets, with an indefinite 
useful life, a set of brand names created by it or registered when 
subsidiaries were acquired, for which there is no time limit at 
which they will stop generating economic benefits for the Group.

These values of intangible assets are subject to annual 
impairment tests, in accordance with the definitions of IAS 36, 
which resulted in an impairment loss of 27,464 thousand Euros 
recorded in 2006, determining its value on December 31, 2015 
and 2014 at 103,227 thousand Euros. The impairment tests 
are either based on an evaluation conducted by a specialised, 
independent entity or on calculations made by the Group 
following the same methodology. 

In 2015 the Group proceeded with an external evaluation that 
calculated the estimated value of the brands using the method 
of “discounted cash flow”.

The assumptions used as a basis for the calculation were 
supported by expectations of market development, to which 
projections of future cash flows were prepared, based on plans 
of medium and long term, comprising a period up to 2020.

 
The assumptions that formed the basis for calculations were 

as follows:

2015 2014

Sales growth rate (in perpetuity) 1.85% 1.85%

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0%

After-tax discount rate 5.4% 5.7%

DESIGNATION EVALUATION AMOUNT

Bavaria 9,385

Galaxi 8,971

Inapa Imagine 23,687

Inapa Tecno 54,896

Primaset 9,701

Others 94,317

200,957

When evaluating the brands, the methodology for determining 
the discount rate comprehended the same assessment as Goodwill 
did (see Note 8).

2015 2014

Surpapel, SL 1,067 1,027

Inapa Logistics 25 25

Inapa Veerbereints 25 25

1,117 1,077

On December 31, 2015, the remaining of the value recorded 
in Industrial property and other rights net of amortisations, 
amounted to 9,567 thousand Euros (December 31, 2014: 
9,711 thousand Euros) and corresponded essentially to the costs 
of software (4,674 thousand Euros), patents and other licences 
as well as customers portfolio amounting to 4,335 thousand Euros. 

The most significant change in other industrial property rights 
in 2015 and 2014 is mainly due to investment in commercial 
software of about 611 and 832 thousand euros, respectively. 

Additions for the year shown in Advances and intangible in 
progress as of 31 December 2015 amounted to 2,847 thousand 
euros (2014: 1,535 thousand euros) mainly correspond to 
advances for licenses for commercial software made following 
the acquisition by Papier Union GmbH. 

NOTE 10
INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE COMPANIES 

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown 
of Investment in associate companies was as follows:

The examination of the “discounted cash flow” has resulted 
in the following recoverable amount by brand:
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On December 31, 2015, the financial information regarding the holdings recorded in Investment in associate companies was 
as follows (Note 36): 

The Group also holds a 40% stake in PMF – Print Media Factoring GmbH. This company was fully owned by the Group, until 
60% ownership was sold in late 2012, by the amount of 966 thousand Euros. This amount will bear interest and will be received 
in four annual instalments, of equal amount, the first of which on December 31, 2013. Additionally, and in accordance with the sale 
contract, there are call options for the sale of the remaining 40% stake, by the amount of 644 thousand Euros. Taking into account the 
characteristics of this transaction, in 2012 was determined a gain of 1,576 thousand euros, for the sale of the full participation. The 
amount of 644 thousand euros, attributed to the participation not yet sold, was recorded in Other non-current assets (Note 15).

The movements that took place under the heading Investment in associate company, for the years 2015 and 2014 were as follows: 

COMPANY HEADQUARTER ASSETS SHAREHOLDERS
EQUITY

REVENUES NET PROFIT
AND LOSS

% SHARE
CAPITAL

APPROPIATED 
NET PROFIT 

AND LOSS

BALANCE
SHEET 
VALUE

Surpapel, SL
Polígono Industrial Guadalquivir,  
c/ Tecnología, 1
41120 Gelves, Sevilha

8,829 1,786 10,966 159 25% 40 1,067

Inapa Logistics
Osterbekstraße 90  
22083 Hamburg, Alemanha

25 25 - - 100% - 25

Inapa Vertriebs GmbH
Osterbekstraße 90  
22083 Hamburg, Alemanha

25 25 - - 100% - 25

40 1,177

Balance as at January 1, 2014  1,068   
Acquisitions -

Disposals -

Changes in consolidation perimeter -

Share of results 9

Balance as at December 31, 2014  1,077   

Acquisitions -

Disposals -

Changes in consolidation perimeter -

Share of results 40

Balance as at December 31, 2015 1,177

NOTE 11
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Available-for-sale financial assets was as follows: 

2015 2014

NON CURRENT

Others 40 39

40 39

CURRENT

Others - -

40 39
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Balance as at January 1, 2014 40
Acquisitions -

Disposals -1

Changes in fair value -

Balance as at December 31, 2014 39

Acquisitions 2

Disposals -2 

Changes in fair value -

Balance as at December 31, 2015 40 

The Available-for sale financial assets movements for the year ending December 31, 2015 and 2014 was as follows:

NOTE 12
DEFERRED TAX

All situations that may significantly affect future taxes are recorded on the financial statements on December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

In 2015 and 2014, the movements in assets and liabilities due to deferred tax were as follows:  

01-01-2015 CHANGES IN 
PERIMETER

FAIR VALUE 
RESERVE AND 

OTHER RESERVES

NET PROFIT  
AND LOSS  

FOR THE YEAR

31-12-2015

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Taxable provisions 88 - - - 88

Unused taxes losses 19,293 - - -916 18,377

Others 3,675 -29 - -223 3,423

23,055 -29 - -1,139 21,886

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Revaluation of fixed assets -8,259 - -29 -122 -8,410

Depreciations -14,583 - - -265 -14,848

Others -1,011 - - -8 -1,019

-23,853 - -29 -395 -24,276

Net deferred tax -799 - -29 -1,534 -2,390

01-01-2014 CHANGES IN 
PERIMETER

FAIR VALUE 
RESERVE AND 

OTHER RESERVES

NET PROFIT  
AND LOSS  

FOR THE YEAR

31-12-2014

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Taxable provisions 88 - - - 88

Unused taxes losses 18,614 - - 679 19,293

Others 3,646 - - 29 3,675

22,347 - - 708 23,055

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Revaluation of fixed assets -8,172 6 - -93 -8,259

Depreciations -14,622 - - 39 -14,583

Others -1,059 - - 48 -1,011

-23,854 6 - -6 -23,853
Net deferred tax -1,507 6 - 702 -799
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Regarding the decrease in deferred tax assets, namely the tax 
losses, were due to the reversion of deferred tax assets booked 
in previous years and due to the change of the applicable tax rate.

In 2015 Inapa – IPG has begun depreciating Goodwill from 
Inapa Packaging; this fact support the increase this year on this 
rubric, accepted for tax purposes in their respective countries.

Deferred tax assets for tax losses are recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that there will be a fiscal benefit, through 
the existence of future taxable income. The Group recognised 
deferred tax assets in the amount of 18,377 thousand Euros, 
regarding the tax losses that can be offset against future taxable 
profits, as given below: 

COMPANY TAX
VALUE

FINAL 
UTILISATION 

DATE

Inapa France 8,029 ilimited

Inapa Distribuición Ibérica (Spain) 6,831 2021-2033

Inapa Belgium 2,059 ilimited

Inapa Suisse 1,147 2018-2022

Others 311

18,377

2015 2014

TRADE RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables – current account 117,828 123,718

Trade receivables – bills of exchange 8,536 7,549

Doubtful trade receivables 20,343 25,056

146,708 156,323

Accumulated impairment losses  (Note 17) -18,780 -21,618

Trade receivables – net balance 127,928 134,705

NOTE 13 
INVENTORIES

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Inventories consisted 
of the following:

2015 2014

Finished and intermediate products 799 836

Merchandise 63,713 63,425

64,512 64,261

Adjustment for realisable value (Note 17) -1,298 -1,304

63,214 62,957

No inventories were allocated as a guarantee of fulfilling 
contractual liabilities.

The cost of sales for the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014 amounted to 730,172 and 751,948 thousand Euros, 
respectively, and was calculated as follows:

NOTE 14 
TRADE RECEIVABLES

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, trade receivables was 
as follows: 

2015 2014

Initial inventories 64,261 69,287

Changes in perimeter - -

Purchasing and inventory adjustments 730,292 746,849

Final inventories 64,512 64,261

730,041 751,875

 Impairment losses 185 142

 Reversals of impairment losses -54 -69

730,172 751,948

2015 2014

Income tax 3.191 1.403

VAT 2.531 2.698

Other taxes 1.276 2.071

6.998 6.172

During the years 2015 and 2014, the Group recognised 
impairment losses of 2,712 thousand Euros and 3,804 thousand 
Euros (Note 17), respectively, which was recorded under Other 
costs (Note 28). 

NOTE 15 
TAX TO BE RECOVERED AND OTHER ASSETS 

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, Tax to be recovered was 
as follows: 
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2015 2014

OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Other debtors 6,612 7,532

Accumulated impairment losses -473 -487

6,140 7,045

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Advances to suppliers 592 518

Other debtors 13,585 13,795

Accumulated impairment losses -634 -634

12,951 13,161

Accrued income 14,653 16,023

Deferred costs 2,648 2,275

30,844 31,977

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the balances for Other 
non-current assets and Other current assets breakdown 
as follows: 

On December 2013, the Other non-current debtors balance 
included an Inapa – IPG credit of 16.7 million Euros over 
Fimopriv H, SA, arising from the acquisition shares held by Inapa 
– IPG. In 2014, Inapa – IPG acquired the participation of 5.1% 
of the Papier Union GmbH’s share capital for the credit amount, 
being booked as Goodwill (Note 8).

Additionally, on December 31, 2015, this balance included a 
receivable amount from PMF – Print Media Factoring GmbH 
of 1,735 thousand Euros on a 5 years loan period and a balance 
receivable in the amount of 242 thousand euros due to the 2012’s 
sale of 60% stake on PMF (724 thousand Euros) and the existing 
option for the remaining 40% (644 thousand Euros) (Note 10).

2015 2014

Immediatly available bank deposits 25,330 31,599

Cash 182 231

Cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet 25,513 31,831

Bank overdrafts -66,992 -87,574

Cash and cash equivalents on the cash flow statement -41,480 -55,744

2015

Land and Buildings and other constructions 808

808

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, Accrued income 
corresponds, fundamentally, of the amounts to be received 
relative to revenue obtained by the Group from negotiations over 
purchases and bonuses on purchases from suppliers.

On December 31, 2015 non-current assets held for sale breaks 
down as follow:

Bank overdrafts include the credit balances in current accounts 
with financial institutions, booked on the balance sheet under 
Loans (Note 22).   

NOTE 16
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

The breakdown of Cash and cash equivalents on December 31, 
2015 and 2014, was as follows:  
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NOTE 17
IMPAIRMENTS

During the years 2015 and 2014, movements in the recognised asset impairments were as follows: 

GOODWILL

(NOTE 8)

OTHER INTANGIBLE
ASSETS

(NOTE 9)

INVENTORIES

(NOTE 13)

TRADE
RECEIVABLES

(NOTE 14)

OTHER CURRENT 
ASSETS

(NOTE 15)

TOTAL

Balance as at January 1, 2014 11,766 27,464 1,392 22,123 4,239 66,984
Increases - - 142 3,804 - 3,946

Utilisation - - -163 -2,018 -3,117 -5,298

Reverseals - - -69 -2,280 - -2,349

Changes in the consolidation perimeter - - - - - -

Exchange rate differences - - 1 -11 - -9

Balance as at December 31, 2014 11,766 27,464 1,303 21,618 1,122 63,273

Increases - - 185 2,712 - 2,897

Utilisation - - -147 -268 -15 -430

Reverseals - - -54 -5,097 - -5,151

Changes in the consolidation perimeter - - - - - -

Exchange rate differences - - 9 -184 - -175

Balance as at December 31, 2015 11,766 27,464 1,298 18,780 1,107 60,415

The effect of increases and reversals of impairment losses of inventories are recorded in cost of sales (Note 13).

NOTE 18
SHARE CAPITAL

Shared Capital
At 31 December 2015 share capital was represented by 450,980,441 shares, of which 150,000,000 are ordinary shares with no par 

value and 300,980,441 preferred shares that due to the non-distribution of dividends for the exercises of 2012 and 2013, in 2014 began 
to confer voting rights, certificated and bearer with no par value. As at December 31, 2015, Equity was fully subscribed and issued. 

The preferred shares confer the right to a preferential dividend of 5% of their issue price (0.18 euros per share), taken from the 
profits that, under applicable law, may be distributed to shareholders. In addition to the preferential dividend rights, preference shares 
confer all the rights attached to ordinary shares, except the right to vote. The preferred dividend that is not paid in a year must be paid 
within the following three years, before dividends, as long as there are distributable profits. In the case of the priority dividend is not 
fully paid during two years, preference shares gain voting rights on the same terms of the ordinary shares and only go back to its 
previous status in the year following that in which the priority dividends were paid.

On December 31, 2015, the Group does not own shares or have occurred any purchases during the year 2015 transactions of own 
shares.

At the Extraordinary General Meeting of August 6, 2014, an amendment to the articles of Inapa – IPG statues was approved, 
in which, during the period in which the preferred shares confers the right to vote, are not considered votes corresponding to 
shares held by a shareholder or shareholders with whom is subject to a common domain, which exceed one-third of all the votes 
corresponding to the share capital. This decision was object of lawsuit against Inapa – IPG, by its shareholder Parcaixa SGPS, SA,  
but the claim has been rejected in a sentence given by a Court of Law in the Judicial County of Lisbon.
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DECEMBER 31, 2015

ORDINARY 
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY 
SHARES

PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% VOTING 
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), SA 49,084,738 32.72% - - 8.26%

Shares attributed to CGD 2,762 0.002% 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

Parcaixa – SGPS, SA - - 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

CGD Pensões – Sociedade Gestora de Fundos de Pensões, SA 1,262 0.001% - - 0.000%

Caixa – Banco de Investimento, SA 1,500 0.001% - - 0.000%

Shares attributed to Millennium BCP 18,452,250 12.30% 121,559,194 40.39% 31.05%

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco Comercial Português 16,491,898 10.99% 45,810,827 15.22% 13.81%

Banco Comercial Português 1,960,352 1.31% 75,748,367 25.17% 17.23%

Novo Banco, SA - - 27,556,665 9.16% 6.11%

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA 13,701,000 9.13% - - 3.04%

Total of Qualified Participations 81,240,750 54.16% 298,004,725 99.01% 73.53%

DECEMBER 31, 2014

ORDINARY 
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY 
SHARES

PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% VOTING 
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), SA 49.084.738 32,72% - - 8,26%

Shares attributed to CGD 2.762 0,002% 148.888.866 49,47% 25,07%

Parcaixa – SGPS, SA - - 148.888.866 49,47% 25,07%

CGD Pensões – Sociedade Gestora de Fundos de Pensões, SA 1.262 0,001% - - 0,000%

Caixa – Banco de Investimento, SA 1.500 0,001% - - 0,000%

Shares attributed to Millennium BCP 26.986.310 17,99% 121.559.194 40,39% 32,94%

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco Comercial Português 16.491.898 10,99% 45.810.827 15,22% 13,81%

Banco Comercial Português 10.494.412 7,00% 75.748.367 25,17% 19,12%

Novo Banco, SA - - 27.556.665 9,16% 6,11%

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA 9.500.000 6,33% - - 2,11%

Total of Qualified Participations 85.573.810 57,05% 298.004.725 99,01% 74,49%

At the General Meeting of April 28, 2015, the shareholders of INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA deliberated, 
among other things, the proposal for application results presented by the Board of Directors, under which the net income for 
2014, in the amount of 2,078,488.92 euros, would be applied as follows: i) to legal reserve 104,332.19 euros; ii) to free reserves 
1,973,533.63 euros; and iii) to retained earnings 623.00 euros.

Thus, during 2015, the company has been notified, in accordance with Articles 16 and 248 - B of the Securities Code and CMVM 
Regulation 5/2008, the change of qualifying holdings.

The shareholder structure as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:
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2015 2014

Share issuance premium 450 450
Foreign exchange adjustments 5,216 4,803

Revaluation reserve 31,466 31,495

Legal reserve 7,668 7,564

Other reserves 2,189 890

46,539 44,752

Retained earnings -36,096 -36,097

The Share issuance premium correspond to the difference 
between the nominal value of Inapa – IPG shares held and their 
issue value and cannot be distributed as dividends, but may 
be included in the Share Capital or it may be used for covering 
losses.

The Foreign exchange adjustments account includes the 
difference in foreign exchange conversion for all the Group’s 
assets and liabilities, expressed in foreign currency for Euros 
using the exchange rates at the date of the balance sheet. 

The Revaluation reserves correspond to the value of the assets 
revalued on the date of transition to IAS/IFRS. 

Business legislation requires that at least 5% of the net annual 
income is held in a legal reserve account until it represents 
at least 20% of the Share Capital. This reserve may not be 
distributed unless the company is liquidated, but may be used to 
cover losses, after other reserves are exhausted, or incorporated 
in the share capital. 

NOTE 20
EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share are calculated from the net profit 
and loss for the year distributable to Inapa – IPG shareholders and 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in circulation. As 
there were no diluting operations for Inapa – IPG shares, the diluted 
earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share, as follows: 

2015 2014

Net profit and loss for the period (in Euros) -402,274 2,078,489

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 450,980,441 450,980,441

Basic earning per share (in Euros) -0.001 0.005

Diluted earning per share (in Euros) -0.001 0.005

According with paragraphs 12 and 14 of IAS 33, the net profit 
or loss for the period shall be adjusted for the after-tax amounts 
of preference dividends, even when the company has a negative 
income for the period (paragraph 69 of the above mentioned IAS). 

2015 2014

Net income for the year (in Euros) -402,274 2,078,489

Preference dividends (in Euros) - -

-402,274 2,078,489

Prefered shares stake on income after  
preference dividends

268,474 -1,387,166

Net income for the year for basic shares -133,800 691,323

Ordinary shares 150,000,000 150,000,000

Basic earnings per share (in Euros) -0.001 0.005

Diluted earnings per share (in Euros) -0.001 0.005

NOTE 21
MINORITY INTERESTS

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the value of the Minority 
interests included under shareholders equity, refers to the 
following subsidiary companies: 

2015 2014

Papier Union  -  - 

Inapa Deutschland  -  - 

Others 26 133

26 133

NOTES ÀS DEMONSTRAÇÕES FINANCEIRAS CONSOLIDADAS

Own shares
The Group did not hold any of its own shares on December 31, 

2015 and 2014. 

NOTE 19
SHARE ISSUANCE PREMIUM, RESERVES AND 
RETAINED EARNINGS  

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of Share 
issuance premium, Reserves and Retained earnings was 
as follows: 
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2015 2014

CURRENT DEBT
Bank loans

Bank loans and other current financial instruments a)  66,992    87,574   

Commercial paper, redeemable at its nominal value b)  34,299    33,854   

Medium and long-term financial instruments (portion maturity within 1 year ) c) 8,490  15,916   

Other current financial loans d)  8,406    8,183   

Financial leases  1,342    1,574   

Total current debt  119,529    147,101   

NON-CURRENT DEBT

Bank loans

Medium and long-term financial instruments c) 125,749  109,210   

Other loans d)  31,097    31,181   

Commercial Paper, reimbursed by nominal value b)  7,550    8,800   

Financial leases  7,834    7,369   

172,230  156,560   

Financing associated to finantial assets – securitisation (Note 37)  44,647    44,878   

Total non-current debt 216,230  201,438   

 336,406    348,538   

NOTE 22
LOANS AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of loans was as follows:
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a)  The bank overdrafts are renewable annually and bear 
interest at the Euribor 1, 3 or 6 month rate, plus an average 
spread of 4.11 percentage points. 

  
b) The commercial paper debt is as follows: 

  i)  A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – IPG 
and Inapa Portugal in 2005 with a 2010’s addition 
with a subscription guarantee, in the amount of 
20,000,000 Euros, to be repaid in 2016. The maximum 
nominal interest rate is the Euribor rate of the issuance 
period plus 2.0 percentage points. Interests are due 
on the dates of issue.

 ii)  A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – IPG 
in 2012, with a subscription guarantee, in the amount 
of 5,000,000 euros, being reimbursed in 2017. The 
nominal interest rate is the emission period Euribor, 
plus 5.5 percentage points. The interests are paid in date 
of each emission.

iii)  A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – 
IPG and Inapa Portugal in 2014 with a subscription 
guarantee, in the amount of 4,800,000 Euros, to be 
repaid in 4 instalments, the first is due in May 2015 and 
the last in 2018 . The nominal interest rate is the Euribor 
rate for the issue period plus 4.1 percentage points. 
Interest is paid in each issuance date. In December 2015, 
the value of this programme reached 4,300,000 Euros.

iv)  A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – 
IPG and Inapa Portugal in 2014 with a subscription 
guarantee, in the amount of 5,000,000 Euros, valid for 
one year and automatically renewed for periods equals 
to one year. The nominal interest rate is the Euribor rate 
for the issue period plus 3.5 percentage points. Interest 
is paid in each issuance date.

 v)  A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – IPG  
and Inapa Portugal in 2014 with a subscription 
guarantee, in the amount of 5,000,000 Euros, being 
reimbursed in six payments, being the first in November, 
2015 and the last in 2020. At December 2015, this 
program reached 4,500,000 euros. The nominal interest 
rate is the Euribor rate for the issue period plus 5.5 
percentage points. Interest is paid in each issuance date.

  vi)  A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – IPG 
in 2015, with a subscription guarantee, in the amount 
of 3,000,000 euros, being reimbursed in 2016. The 
nominal interest rate is the emission period Euribor, 
plus 4.5 percentage points. The interests are paid in date 
of each emission. In December 2015, the value of this 
programme reached 2,150,000 Euros.

 vii)  A Commercial Paper Programme issued by Inapa – 
IPG in 2015, with a subscription guarantee, in the 
amount of 1,500,000 Euros, to be repaid monthly, 
being the first payment in September, 2015 and the 
last in August, 2016. The maximum nominal interest 
rate is the 6-month Euribor, plus 4.0 percentage points. 
The interests are paid I the reimbursement date of each 
emission. In December 31, 2015, this programme was 
in the amount of 1,100,000 euros.

viii)  Financial expenses in the amount of 201 thousand euros 
incurred in the hiring of commercial paper programs 
listed above. 

c)   The medium and long-term financial instruments, including 
the portion maturity within 1 year are, essentially, 
as follows: 

a)  Bank loans amounting to 58,100 thousand euros and 
8,300 thousand Euros. Interest rate is the 6-month 
Euribor plus 1.75 percentage points. Interests are charged 
twice a year, in April and October. Loans will be repaid in 
a once or twice a year instalments, being the first in 2018 
and the last in 2021. 

b)  Bank loan as commercial paper amounting to 8,400 
thousand Euros. Interest rate is the 3-month Euribor plus 
1.25 percentage points. Interests are paid every 3 months. 
The loan will be paid in 10 annually instalments, being the 
first in 2010 and the last one in 2019.  

c)  Bank loan amounting to 1,333 thousand Euros. Interest 
is at the 3-month Euribor rate plus 1.00 percentage 
points. Interests are paid in a three month basis. The loan 
will be repaid in 8 annual instalments, being the first 
in September 2010 and the last in 2018.  

d)  Bank loan amounting to 9,801 thousand Euros. Interest 
is at the 12-month Euribor rate plus 6.00 percentage 
points. Interests are charged every six months. The loan 
will be repaid in 16 biannual instalments, being the first 
in December 2012 and the last in 2020.
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e)  Bank loan amounting to 510 thousand Euros. Loan 
bears interest at a fixed rate of 4.80 percentage points. 
Interest is debit every month. The loan is reimbursed in 
60 monthly instalments, being the first in March 2012 
and the last in February 2017. 

f)  Bank loan amounting to 376 thousand Euros. Loan bears 
interest at a fixed rate of 2.80 percentage points. Interests 
are due monthly. The loan capital will be reimbursed in 
72 monthly instalments, being the first in May 2013 
and the last in May 2019.   

g)  Bank loan in the amount of 1,000 thousand Euros. 
Interest is at 6-month Euribor rate plus 5.50 percentage 
points. Interests are due every three months and the loan 
capital is reimbursed in 14 quarterly instalments, being 
the first in April 2014 and the last in 2017.

h)  Bank loan in the amount of 887 thousand Euros. Interest 
is at 6-month Euribor rate plus 5.00 percentage points. 
Interests are due every month and the loan capital 
is reimbursed in 84 monthly instalments, being the first 
in January 2015 and the last in December 2021.

i)  Bank loan in the amount of 29,550 thousand Euros. 
Interest is at 6-month Euribor rate plus 5.43 percentage 
points. Interests are due every six months and the loan 
capital is reimbursed every six month, starting in 2016 
and the last 2020.

 
j)  Bank loan in the amount of 7,500 thousand Euros. 

Interest is at 6-month Euribor rate plus 4.00 percentage 
points. Interests are due every three months and the loan 
capital is reimbursed in 3 instalments, being the first 
in 2016 and the last in 2018.

k)  Bank loan in the amount of 5,640 thousand Euros. 
Interest is at 3-month Euribor rate plus 4.00 percentage 
points. Interests are due every three months and the loan 
capital is reimbursed in 10 instalments, being the first 
in 2016 and the last in 2020. 

   l)  Bank loan in the amount of 900 thousand Euros. 
Interest is at 3-month Euribor rate plus 4.00 percentage 
points. Interests are due every three months and the 
loan capital is reimbursed in 10 quarterly instalments, 
being the first in 2015 and the last in 2018.

m)  Bank loan amounting to 616 thousand Euros. Loan 
bears interest at a fixed rate of 2.07 percentage points. 
Interests are due monthly. The loan capital will be 
reimbursed in 48 monthly instalments, being the first 
in December 2015 and the last in November 2019.

d)  Bank loan related with factoring operations in the amount 
of 39,505 thousand Euros. Interest is at 3-month Euribor 
rate plus an average spread of 1.50 percentage points. The 
capital is guaranteed by trade receivables invoices and 
the interests are due every month. The loans will be total 
renewed in 2016 and 2017. 

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the debit related to finance 
leases were as follows:

2015 2014

DEBT RELATED TO FINANCE LEASES
Non-current 7,834 7,369

Current 1,342 1,574

9,176 8,943

DEBT RELATED TO FINANCE LEASES

Rents – not discounted

at less than a year 1,610 1,671

between 1 year and 5 years 5,287 6,078

at more than 5 years 3,492 1,568

10,389 9,325

Finance costs to be supported -1,213 -382

9,176 8,943
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2015

CURRENCY INTEREST  
RATE

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5  
YEARS

GREATER THAN  5 
YEARS

TOTAL

Bank Loans Eur 4.2%  61,503    -    -    61,503   

Bank Loans CHF 2.8%  1,847    -    -    1,847   

Bank Loans TRY 13.8%  3,648    -    -    3,648   

Commercial Paper Eur 5.6%  34,299    6,550    1,000    41,849   

Other loans Eur 3.4%  8,483    105,984    19,765    134,232   

Financing associated to financial assets Eur 2%  -    44,647    -    44,647   

Factoring Eur 2.3%  8,408    31,097    -    39,505   

Finance lease obligations Eur 3.8%  1,342    4,548    3,286    9,176   

192,826 192,826 24,051  336,406   

2014

CURRENCY INTEREST  
RATE

LESS THAN  
1 YEAR

1 TO 5  
YEARS

GREATER THAN  5 
YEARS

TOTAL

Bank Loans Eur 4.7% 81,873 - - 81,873

Bank Loans CHF 2.0% 1,664 - - 1,664

Bank Loans TRY 11.2% 4,037 - - 4,037

Commercial Paper Eur 5.5% 33,854 6,800 2,000 42,654

Other loans Eur 3.6% 15,916 53,930 55,280 125,126

Financing associated to financial assets Eur 2.2% - 44,878 - 44,878

Factoring Eur 2.5% 8,183 31,181 - 39,364

Finance lease obligations Eur 1.4% 1,574 5,816 1,552 8,942

147,101 142,605 58,832 348,538

On December 31, 2015, the group had about 69,920 thousand Euros available in unused lines of credit (December 31, 2014: 
78,400 thousand Euros). 

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the net sum of the consolidated financial debt was as follows: 

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the non-current and current loans obtained and the liabilities under finance lease contracts had 
the following repayment terms and periods: 

2015 2014

LOANS
Current 118,188 145,526

Non-current 164,396 149,192

 282,584   294,718

Financing associated to financial assets  44,647   44,878

Finance lease obligations  9,176   8,943

 336,406   348,538

Cash and cash equivalents  25,513   31,831

Bonds (listed shares)  -   -

Available-for-sale financial investments (listed shares)  -   -

 25,513   31,831

 310,893   316,707

106

INAPA ANNUAL REPORT 2015
03. FINANCIAL INFORMATION



Several Loan contracts are subject to financial covenants, which if not complied with the definitions can obliged to its anticipated 
reimbursement.

The covenants in force and the ratios are as follows: 

LOANS  2015 
THOUSAND 

EUROS

RACIO 
DESCRIPTION

RATIO

Bank loan  21,067   
Ajusted gearing ratio = (Shareholders equity + Reserves - Goodwill + Net loans obtained 
from shareholders)/(Net assets - Goodwill )

14.0%

Bank loan  10,291   
Adjusted gearing ratio = (Shareholders equity - Goodwill + Net loans obtained from 
shareholders)/(Net assets - Goodwill)

17.4%

Bank loan  15,377   
Adjusted gearing ratio = (Shareholders equity - Goodwill + Net loans obtained from 
shareholders)/(Net assets - Goodwill - Loans conceded to shareholders)

17.0%

Securitisation  36,736   
Adjusted gearing ratio = ( Shareholders equity - Goodwill + Net loans obtained from 
shareholders)/(Net assets - Goodwill - Loans conceded to shareholders)

17.0%

Balance as at January 1, 2014 307
Increases 231

Utilisation -193

Transfers -

Changes in the consolidation perimeter -

Exchange rate differences -

Balance as at December 31, 2014 344

Increases (Note 28) 257

Utilisation -276

Transfers -

Changes in the consolidation perimeter -

Exchange rate differences -

Balance as at December 31, 2015 324

The balance under this caption corresponds to the provisions for the risks inherent in litigation of ongoing legal actions. 

Regarding the proceedings brought against the company by Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA, see Note 33 – 
Contingencies.

The information used for this calculation corresponds to each company’s financial statement. 

Given the contracted amounts, the Group complied with the limits that the contracts require. 

NOTE 23
PROVISIONS 

During the years 2015 and 2014, the following movements took place under Provisions:
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2015 2014

BALANCES ON THE BALANCE SHEET FOR
Employee benefits:

Contribution to pension plan – defined benefits  5,185    4,511   

Other post-employment benefits – defined benefits  3,452    3,511   

8,637 8,022

EXPENDITURE IN THE INCOME STATEMENT 

Contribution to pension plan – defined benefits  271    589   

Other post-employment benefits – defined benefits  249    335   

 520    924   

2015 2014

AMOUNTS RECOGNIZED IN RETAINED EARNINGS:
Retirement pension complements – Defined benefits -720 -3.286

Others 50 86

-670 -3.200

NOTE 24
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

As explained in Note 2.21, the Group has implemented defined benefit pension plans for some of its employees. In addition, other 
types of post-employment benefits exist, as described below.

The total amount of liabilities for past services and their funding for the defined benefit plans granted to employees are as follows:

DECEMBER 31 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

Past service liabilities -19,869 -17,822 -4,749 -4,720 -4,312

Fund 11,232 9,800 435 13 208

Surplus or deficit of the plan -8,637 -8,022 -4,314 -4,707 -4,104

Experience adjustments plan liabilities -58 -102 222 9 138

Experience adjustments on plan assets 264 -134 11 -2 3

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings, were as follows:
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A) DEFINED BENEFITS PENSION PLAN 

Companies located in Portugal
On December 31, 2015 and 2014, there were no pension plans 

for members or employees of the Group’s Portuguese companies. 

Inapa France, SA
Defined benefit pension plans exist for five employees of Inapa 

France, which are managed by an external entity. The liability 
is financed in part by the fair value of the assets managed by 
an external entity (insurance company) and contributions to the 
fund are made annually. 

Actuarial valuation conducted by an independent organization 
reported the following actuarial assumptions for December 31, 
2015 and 2014:

2015 2014

Future salary  increases rate 0.5% 0.5%

Discount rate 2.00% 1.50%

Mortality table TGF/TGH 2005 TGF/TGH 2005

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the current value of the 
liabilities for defined pension plans and the corresponding 
accounting provision, were as follows: 

Actuarial loss/(gains) heading includes a loss of 62 thousand 
Euros due to the change in the discount rate used for the present 
value liabilities calculation and a gain of 20 thousand Euros due 
to the change in the assumptions used for calculations.

The movements recorded in the Assets plan formed were 
as follows: 

The movements occurred in the past service liability  
related to pension supplements and respective fund was made  
up as follows:

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION 2015 2014

Beginning of year 1.160 1.035

Current service cost 25 23

Interest cost 14 31

Actuarial losses/(gains)  42 71

Benefits paid -375 -

End of year 866 1.160

FUND'S FAIR VALUE 2015 2014

Beginning of year 416 435

Contributions to the Plan 122 52

Expected return on Plan assets 6 13

Acturial (losses)/gains (dif. between expected  
and real return on assets)

3 -8

Regularizations 3 -76

Benefits paid -375 -

End of year 175 416

The values recognised during the year in Income statement are 
as follows:

COSTS RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR 2015 2014

Current service costs 25 23

Interest costs 14 31

Actual return on plan assets -3 -13

Total costs included in Personnel costs 36 41

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 2015 2014

Past services cost obligations  866    1.160   

Fair value of the fund  169    416   

Present value of the uncovered obligation  697   744

Papier Union, GmbH
Papier Union, GmbH, allocated a supplementary pension 

scheme (locked in 1982) to 22 of its current and former 
employees, active and retired, calculated on the basis of 0.4% 
of the salary earned in each year of service with the company 
up to a maximum of 12%. The liability regarding this pension 
plan is not covered by any pension plan assets formed for this 
purpose and consequently it is overall recorded on the Group 
balance sheet. 

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are as follows:

2015 2014

Actuarial Gains and Losses 3 -85

Fundo -42 -71

Past services cost obligations -39 -156
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2015 2014

Future salary increases rate 1.8% 1.8%

Discount rate 2.3% 2.0%

Future pension increases rate 1.8% 1.8%

Mortality table Heubeck 2005 G Heubeck 2005 G

The movements recorded under past service costs liabilities 
were as follows:

OBLIGATIONS 2015 2014

Initial Balance 1,083 974

Current costs 3 3

Interests costs 72 31

Actuarial Losses/(Gains) -41 138

Paid for benefits -63 -63

End of Year 1,054 1,083

The actuarial gains and losses include gains of 38 thousand 
euros, due to the change in the discount rate used.

The amounts recognized in the income statement are as 
follows:

The movements under past service costs recognized 
in Retained earnings were as follows:

SERVICES COST 2015 2014

Current services costs 3 3

Interests costs 72 31

Total amount inclued in Personnel costs 75 34

2015 2014

Actuarial Gains or Losses 41 -138

2015 2014

Past service costs  1,054   1,083

Recognized liabilities  1,054   1,083

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies, on 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, the present value of the defined 
benefit liability for defined pension plans and the corresponding 
accounting provision, were as follows: 

2015 2014

Future salary increases rate 1.0% 0.5%

Discount rate 0.9% 1.4%

Future pension increases rate M65/W64 M65/W64

Mortality table BVG 2010 GT BVG 2010 GT

Inapa Switzerland
Inapa Switzerland has attributed to 96 of its actual and former 

employees, active and retired, a scheme of retirement pensions 
complement, whose management is performed by an external 
entity. The responsibility is financed partially by the fair value 
of the assets plan (managed by an external entity – insurance 
company), being done annually deliveries.

This responsibility, estimate in the basis of an actuarial 
study performed by an independent entity, for purposes of the 
application of the IAS 19, is booked in the balance in “Retirement 
Benefits”, and has the amount in December 31, 2015 of 
3,437 thousand euros (2014: 2,684 thousand euros).

The actuarial assumptions used by the independent entity, 
which carried the actuarial studies for December 31, 2015 are 
as follows:

On December 31, 2015, the current value of the liabilities 
for defined pension plans and the corresponding accounting 
provision, were as follows: 

The liability, calculated on the basis of an actuarial study 
valuation conducted by an independent organisation, for the 
purpose of applying IAS 19, is recognised under the balance 
sheet caption Liabilities for employee benefits and amounted, 
on December 31, 2015, 1,054 thousand Euros (2014: 1,083 
thousand Euros). 

The actuarial assumptions used by the independent entity, 
which carried the actuarial studies for December 31, 2015 and 
2014 are as follows: 

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 2015 2014

Past services cost obligations 14,494 12,060

Fair value of the fund 11,057 9,375

Present value of the uncovered obligation 3,437 2,685

The movements occurred in the past service liability  
related to pension supplements and respective fund was  
made up as follows:
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DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATION 2015 2014

Beginning of year 12,060 11,558

FX changes effect 1,335 -

Currents service cost 607 485

Employees contributions 325 338

Plan participants contributions 435 590

interests expenses 188 260

Actuarial (gains)/losses 985 1,191

Past services cost -488 -

Benefits paid -953 -2,362

End of year 14,494 12,060

COSTS RECOGNISED IN THE YEAR 2015 2015

Current service costs 607 485

Interest costs 188 260

Actual return on plan assets -146 -231

Past services cost -488 -

Total costs included in Personnel costs 161 514

2015 2014

Actuarial Gains and Losses – Assets 261 -126

Actuarial Gains and Losses – Liabilities -985 -1,191

-724 -1,317

Actuarial loss/(gains) heading includes losses of 985 thousand 
Euros due to the change in the actuarial assumptions.

The movements recorded in the Assets plan formed were 
as follows:

The values recognised during the year in Income statement are 
as follows:

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are as follows:

FUND’S FAIR VALUE 2015 2014

Beginning of year 9,376 10,278

FX changes effect 1,037 -

Expected return on Plan assets 146 231

Company contributions 430 427

Employee contributions 325 928

Contibutions by Plan Participants 435 -

Acturial (losses)/gains (dif. between expected 
and real return on assets)

261 -126

Benefits paid -953 -2,362

End of year 11,057 9,376

2015 2014

Future salary increase rate 1.25% 1.25%

Discount rate 2.00% 1.50%

Mortality table INSEE 2011-2013 INSEE 2010-2012

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies valuation, 
on December 31, 2015 and 2014 the present value for the 
defined benefit liability plans and the corresponding accounting 
provision were as follows: 

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 2015 2014

Past service costs liabilities  2.222    2.336   

The movements recorded under past service costs liabilities 
were as follows:

The amount in Actuarial losses and gains include a gain of 
110 thousand Euros due to the change in the discount rate used 
for the present value liability and a loss of 65 thousand Euros due 
to the change of other assumptions.

DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 2015 2014

Inicial Balance 2,336 2,040

Current services 106 95

Interest costs 34 63

Actuarial losses/(gains) -45 329

Benefits paid -185 -192

Perimeter change -24 1

Year end Balance 2,222 2,336

It was also booked in Retained Earnings an amount 
of 1,280 thousand euros related with the initial balance 
of this pension fund.

B) OTHER POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

In accordance with local legislation, the French subsidiaries 
are obliged to pay its workers a sum on the date of retirement 
based on the number of years of employment with the company, 
the professional category and the salary earned at the time of 
retirement. The value of these liabilities is recorded on the balance 
sheet on December 31, 2015 amounted to 2,222 thousand Euros 
(2014: 2,336 thousand Euros). 

The liabilities relating to these pension benefits for services 
performed were determined based upon the following actuarial 
assumptions: 
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BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 2015 2014

Past services liabilities 218 201

LIABILITIES 2015 2014

Inicial Balance 201 148

Current costs 14 11

Interests costs 3 5

Actuarial Losses/(Gains) - 37

Paid for benefits - -

Year end balance 218 201

COST FOR THE YEAR 2015 2014

Current service costs 106 95

Interest costs 34 63

Total included on Personnel costs 140 158

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are as follows:

2015 2014

Future salary increase rate 2.0% 2.0%

Discount rate 2.00% 1.50%

Mortality table INSEE 2011-2013 INSEE 2010-2012

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies, on 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, the present value of the defined 
benefit liability for defined pension plans and the corresponding 
accounting provision, were as follows: 

The movements recorded under past service costs liabilities 
related with benefits attributed were as follows:

COST FOR THE YEAR 2015 2014

Current service costs 14 11

Interest costs 3 5

Total included on Personnel costs 17 16

The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are as follows:

Similarly, in relation with the benefit provided in French law, 
the liability registered in the balance sheet of subsidiary Semaq 
at December 31, 2015 was 184 thousand Euros (2014: 149 
thousand Euros).

The liabilities related with these retirement benefits for 
services rendered were determined on the following assumptions

Similarly, in relation with the benefit provided in French law, 
the liability registered in the balance sheet of subsidiary Inapa 
Packaging, SA at December 31, 2015 was 218 thousand Euros 
(2014: 201 thousand Euros).

The liabilities related with these retirement benefits for services 
rendered were determined on the following assumptions:

2015 2014

Actuarial Gains and Losses 45 -329

45 -329

2015 2014

Actuarial Gains and Losses - -37

- -37

The values recognized on the Income statement, are as follows: 

2015 2014

Future salary increase rate 2,0% 2,0%

Discount rate 2,00% 1,50%

Mortality table INSEE 2011-2013 INSEE 2010-2012

In accordance with the respective actuarial studies, on 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, the present value of the defined 
benefit liability for defined pension plans and the corresponding 
accounting provision, were as follows: 

The movements recorded under past service costs liabilities 
related with benefits attributed were as follows:

BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS 2015 2014

Past services liabilities 183 149

LIABILITIES 2015 2014

Inicial Balance 149 106

Current costs 13 10

Interests costs 2 3

Actuarial Losses/(Gains) -4 29

Paid for benefits - -

Transfers 23 -

Year end balance 183 149

The values recognized on the Income statement, are as follows: 
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The amounts recognized in Retained earnings are as follows:

In addition, Inapa France provides employees who have more 
than 20 years of service on the date of retirement with a fixed 
contribution based on their time of service, as follows: 

The liabilities on December 31, 2015 reached 442 thousand 
Euros (2014: 468 thousand Euros) and are fully booked on the 
balance sheet. These were calculated based on the following 
assumptions: 

The caption actuarial losses and gains includes gains of 
18 thousand Euros due to the change of the discount rate used 
for calculating the future liabilities and losses of 5 thousand 
Euros due to actuarial changes.

The values recognized on the Income statement, are as follows: 

The movements recorded for past service liabilities were 
as follows:  

The caption Actuarial losses and gains includes gains of 
12 thousand Euros due to the change of the discount rate used 
for calculating the future liabilities and losses of 8 thousand 
Euros due to the change of other assumptions.

The values recognized on the Income statement, are as follows: 

TIME OF SERVISSE AMOUNT

20 years 0.5 net monthly salary 

30 years 2/3 net monthly salary

35 years 1 net monthly salary

40 years 1 net monthly salary

2015 2014

Future salary increase 1.25% 1.25%

Discount rate 2.00% 1.50%

Mortality table INSEE 2011-2013 INSEE 2010-2012

PAST SERVICE LIABILITIES 2015 2014

Initial Balance 468 440

Current services 23 21

Interest costs 7 13

Actuarial losses/(gains) -13 43

Benefits paid -43 -48

Year End Balance 442 468

COST FOR THE YEAR 2015 2014

Current service costs 13 10

Interest costs 2 3

Total included on Personnel costs 15 13

COSTS FOR THE YEAR 2015 2014

Current service costs 23 21

Interest costs 7 13

Actuarial losses/(gains) -13 43

Total included in Personnel costs 17 77

Inapa Packaging, SA provides employees, who have more 
than 20 years of service on the date of retirement, with a fixed 
contribution based on their time of service, as follows:

TIME OF SERVICE AMOUNT

20 years 500 €

30 years 500 €

35 years 500 €

40 years 500 €

2015 2014

Actuarial Gains and Losses 4 -29

4 -29

The liabilities on December 31, 2015 reached 9 thousand 
Euros (2014: 9 thousand Euros) and are fully booked on the 
balance sheet. These were calculated based on the following 
assumptions:

2015 2014

Future salary increase 2.00% 2.00%

Discount rate 2.00% 1.50%

Mortality table INSEE 2011-2013 INSEE 2010-2012
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2015 2014

Future salary increase rate 6,90% 5,00%

Discount rate 11,00% 9,00%

The movements recorded for past service liabilities were 
as follows:  

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, Other non-current 
liabilities, Suppliers and Other current liabilities consists of the 
following: 

The values recognized on the Income statement, are as follows:

The liabilities recognized December 31, 2015 by Korda is in the 
amount of 378 thousand Euros (2014: 349 thousand Euros).

PAST SERVICE OBLIGATION 2015 2014

Initial Balance 9 7

Current services 1 1

Interest costs - -

Actuarial losses/(gains) -1 2

Year End Balance 9 9

2015 2014

Income tax 1,229 228

VAT 7,708 8,605

Social security contributions 1,961 1,971

Other taxes 324 1,813

11,222 12,617

2015 2014

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other creditors  5,646    6,721   

 5,646    6,721   

SUPPLIERS

Current account  50,724    47,903   

Bills of exchange  760    394   

Invoices in progress  1,775    2,112   

 53,259    50,409   

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Advances from trade receivables  1,823    1,526   

Other creditors  7,495    10,550   

Accruals and deferrals  9,472    10,560   

 18,789    22,636   

COSTS OF THE YEAR 2015 2014

Current service costs 1 1

Interest costs - -

Actuarial losses/(gains) -1 2

Total included in Personnel costs - 3

NOTE 25 
TAX LIABILITIES, OTHER NONCURRENT 
LIABILITIES, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER CURRENT 
LIABILITIES  

On December 31, 2015 and 2014 the heading Tax liabilities 
breakdown as follows: 

According with local legislation, when an employer retires, 
subsidiary Korda is obliged to make a single payment, 
of a defined amount, that reflects the years of time service, 
professional category and wage by the time of the retirement. 
In Turkey, these payments are calculated over periods 
of 30 consecutive days (with a limit of 3,828 TKY per year 
of employment).

The liabilities arising from this retirement benefits for services 
rendered were determined on the following assumptions: 

OBLIGATIONS 2015 2014

Initial Balance 349 280

FX changes effect -30 -

Current services and interests costs 59 69

Year End Balance 378 349

On December 31, 2015 and 2014 the heading Accruals 
and deferrals breakdown as follows: 

2015 2014

Personnal costs to be paid 3.598 3.882

Accrued interest 1.106 1.358

Transportation costs 1.657 1.534

Honoraries 177 209

Marketing support - 208

Other accrued bank charges 14 22

Interest debit to trade receivables 525 346

Social charges - 25

Others 2.395 2.976

9.472 10.560
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NOTE 26
SALES, SERVICE RENDERED AND OTHER INCOME 

Sales and Service rendered for the years ending on 
December 31, 2015 and 2014, breakdown as follows: 

NOTE 29
DEPRECIATIONS AND AMORTIZATIONS

In 2015 and 2014, the balances under this heading break 
down as follows: 

NOTE 30
FINANCIAL FUNCTION

Financial income and financial costs for 2015 and 2014 are 
as follows:  

In 2015 and 2014, the balances under Other income break 
down as follows: 

Other income refers to services charged to trade receivables, 
advertisement, debt recovery, income for rental space, amongst 
others.   

NOTE 27
PERSONNEL COSTS 

In 2015 and 2014, the balances under Personnel costs break 
down as follows: 

2015 2014

Sales of merchandise and Other products  881,321   909,522

Service rendered  8,158   9,744

 889,479   919,266

2015 2014

Administratives expenses  72,552   78,109

Indirect taxes  3,329   3,866

Other costs  1,241   1,247

Provisions (Note 23)  257   231

Impairment of current assets (Note 17)  2,712   3,804

 80,092   87,257

2015 2014

Supplementary income  788    836   

Net cash discounts  8,146    8,361   

Reversals of impairment of current assets (Note 17)  5,097    2,280   

Other income  6,213    11,774   

20,244 23,251

2015 2014

Wages and salaries 58,756 60,207

Social security constributions 13,740 14,163

Pension costs 520 924

Other personnel costs 4,350 4,188

77,366 79,482

2015 2014

Tangible fixed assets (Note 7)  3,668   3,962

Intangible assets (Note 9)  1,428   1,686

 5,095   5,648

The Other personnel costs heading include compensation 
for termination of work contracts on the amount of 1.206 
thousands Euros (2014:  299 thousand Euros).

During the year the Group employed, on average, 1,370 
employees (2014: 1,366), of which 1,178 (2014: 1,162) were 
in companies headquartered in foreign countries

2015 2014

FINANCIAL INCOME
Interest obtained 638 493

Gains from disposal of investment - 23

Income from capital investments - -

Positive FX 2,083 2,361

Other profits and financial income 193 351

2,914 3,228

FINANCIAL COSTS

Interest paid 11,735 13,881

Losses on disposal of investments - -

Negative FX 2,407 1,668

Other costs and financial losses 4,088 3,417

18,231 18,966

Net financial function -15,317 -15,738

NOTE 28
OTHER COSTS

In 2015 and 2014, the balances under Other costs breaks 
down as follows: 
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2015 2014

Less than 1 year  7,352   7,285

Between 1 year and 5 years  15,279   15,609

More than 5 years  2,231   3,227

 24,863   26,121

2015 2014

Current taxes -697 -1,185

Deferred taxes (Note 12) -1,534 702

-2,231 -483

2015 2014

Net income before tax on profits 1,722 2,454

Nominal average tax on profits -517 -736

Income tax – value -2,231 -483

-1,714 253

Permanent differences – Suisse 19 -4

Permanent differences – Portugal -558 989

Permanent differences – France -151 54

Permanent differences – Germany -306 -174

Permanent differences – Turkey -3 -5

Permanent differences – other countries 16 118

Tributtable dividends -762 -632

Others 30 -93

-1,714 253

The caption Other costs and financial losses includes, amongst 
others, costs associated with costs for issuing commercial 
paper (2015: 846 thousand Euros, 2014: 884 thousand Euros), 
guarantee commissions (2015: 1,009 thousand Euros, 2014: 
701 thousand Euros), stamp duty (2015: 440 thousand Euros, 
2014: 569 thousand Euros), and factoring (2015: 883 thousand 
Euros, 2014: 643 thousand Euros). The interest expense 
includes interest associated with securitization contracts (2015: 
1,555 thousand euros, 2014: 1,626 thousand euros).

NOTE 31
INCOME TAX

Income tax for the years ending on December 31, 2015 and 
2014 breaks down as follows: 

In accordance with the tax law in force in each country, the 
tax declarations of the companies included in the consolidation 
are subject to revision and correction on the part of the tax 
authorities over the course of a period, which in Portugal is 
four years. In the majority of the countries where the Group 
operates, the tax losses can be deducted to collect in the following 
periods: in Portugal for a maximum period of 12 years for losses 
originated in 2014 and 2015.

The Group Board of Directors understands that possible 
corrections that may result from inspections or revisions by the 
tax authorities will not have a significant impact on the financial 
statements consolidated on December 31, 2015. 

The tax on Group profits before tax differs from the theoretical 
amount that would result from applying the weighted average tax 
on profits to the consolidated profit, as can be seen below: 

In 2015 the nominal weighted average rate of tax on profits 
is 30% (2014: 30%). 

The average nominal rate of tax resulting from the average 
of nominal rates of various countries in which the Group 
operates.

NOTE 32
COMMITMENTS

A) OPERATIONAL LEASE

The Group leases various offices, warehouses and 
transportation equipment through operating leases. The 
contracts have different maturity terms, readjustment clauses 
and renewal rights. 

On 31 December, 2015 and 2014, the values for maturing 
rents, in accordance with their due dates, were as follows: 

NOTES ÀS DEMONSTRAÇÕES FINANCEIRAS CONSOLIDADAS

In 2015 and 2014 the sums of 7,347 thousand Euros and 
6,793 thousand Euros, respectively, were recorded as the 
operational lease costs for each year.
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2015 2014

GARANTIAS BANCÁRIAS
A favor de instituições financeiras 84.911 76.175

A favor de terceiros e de caráter operacional 525 788

GARANTIAS REAIS

Sobre ativos fixos tangíveis 10.621 12.599

96.057 89.562

On December 31, 2015, the financial liabilities regarding 
the guarantees made by the Company to various financial 
institutions totalized 84.9 million Euros (2014: 76.2 million 
Euros), of which about (i) 13.3 million Euros (2014: 7.5 million 
Euros) in Inapa France because of contracted loans, (ii) 42.1 
million Euros (2014: 41.8 million Euros) to issue commercial 
paper in Inapa – IPG e Inapa Portugal, (iii) 9.6 million euros 
in Inapa – Portugal for financing purposes (2014: 7.3 million 
euros), (iv) 13.5 million Euros in Inapa Espanha related with 
the financing of factoring (2014: 14.4 million euros) and 
(v) 2.9 million euros for Inapa Suisse’s financing purposes (2014: 
2.9 million euros), (vi) 1.0 million Euros related to Tradembal for 
financing purposes (2014: 0.9 million Euros), (vii) 1.0 million 
Euros related to Inapa Comunicação Visual for financing 
purposes and factoring (2014: 0.6 million Euros), (viii) 0.5 million 
related with Inapa Shared Center for financing purposes (2014: 
0.5 million Euros) and (ix) 1.1 million Euros related to Da Hora 
for financing purposes (2014: 0.5 million Euros).

A foreigner Group Inapa subsidiary had given several 
real guarantees, over tangible fixed assets, in the amount 
of 10.6 million Euros, related to medium and long term loans 
(2014: 12.6 million Euros).

NOTE 33
CONTINGENCIES

Contingent liabilities 
On August 1, 2007, Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria 

e Comércio, SA brought proceedings against Inapa 
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. and its subsidiaries 
Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços, Participações e Gestão, SA 
(now liquidated) and Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, SA 
requesting, in summary: 

• the anullment of the following acts:

•  The constitution, in June 2006, of a collateral security 
as a counter-guarantee for the letters of comfort issued 
by Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA 
as a guarantee for the financial instruments held by that 
company with Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa Central 
de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo; 

• The restructuring performed, in 1991, to concentrate the 
paper supply activity in SDP (now Inapa Portugal) and 
the production and marketing of envelopes in Papelaria 
Fernandes; 

• The acquisition, in 1994, of the stake held by Papelaria 
Fernandes in SDP (now Inapa Portugal); 

• The compensation for credits arising, in 1994, between 
Papelaria Fernandes and Inaprest; 

• demanding that Inapa:

• Maintain the comfort letters issued in favour of Banco 
Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola 
Mútuo;

 
• Compensate Papelaria Fernandes should the collateral 

security be executed as counter-guarantee for the letters 
of comfort.

Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA subsequently 
came to put its liabilities to Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa 
Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo in order, such that: 

• The letters of comfort issued by Inapa – IPG ceased to have 
purpose, being returned by their beneficiaries;

• Consequently, this company communicated to Papelaria 
Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA, that the collateral 
security was terminated. 

The action, which had an estimated value of 24,460 million 
Euros, was contested by Inapa – IPG and by its subsidiary Inapa 
Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, SA and, presently, awaits the 
ruling of the Court in favour of liquidating Inaprest – Prestação 
de Serviços, Participações e Gestão, SA. The Group believes 
that this action will not have financial impacts, and, therefore, 
no provision was made. 

B) GUARANTEES

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, the liabilities assumed  
by the Group in guarantees to third parties, were as follows: 
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During the second quarter of 2015, was filed a lawsuit against 
Inapa – IPG, by its shareholder Parcaixa SGPS, S.A., in which 
claims:

a)  Annulation of the deliberation adopted by the General 
Meeting in 28 April 2015, that approved to transfer to Free 
Reserves the amount of 1,973,533.63 euros and to Retained 
Earnings the amount of 623 euros, arguing that these 
amounts should be affected to the payment of the preferred 
shares priority dividend;

b)  Be issued a judgment, in substitution of the deliberation, 
in which is announced that the amounts affected, by 
the General Meeting deliberation, to Free Reserves and 
to Retained Earnings, be affected to the payment of the 
preferred shares priority dividend.
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NOTE 34
RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

The balances on December 31, 2015 and 2014 with entities related to the Group are as follows:  
2015

TRADE 
RECEIVABLES

BANK 
DEPOSITS

CURRENT AND 
NON-CURRENT 

ASSETS

BANK 
LOANS

FIXED ASSETS 
SUPPLIERS

SUPPLIERS OTHER CURRENT 
AND NON-CURRENT 

LIABILITIES

PMF  -    -    2,856    -    -    -    -   

Surpapel SL  57    -    912    -    -    -    2,500   

Medialivros  -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Novo Banco  -    349   40   8,965  -    -    -   

CGD  -    53    110   10,678  -    -    -   

BCP  36    799    57   95,950  -    -   1,077

 93    1,201    3,975    115,593    -    -   3,577

2014

TRADE 
RECEIVABLES

BANK 
DEPOSITS

CURRENT AND 
NON-CURRENT 

ASSETS

BANK 
LOANS

FIXED ASSETS 
SUPPLIERS

SUPPLIERS OTHER CURRENT 
AND NON-CURRENT 

LIABILITIES

PMF - - 3,556 - - - -

Surpapel SL 69 - 913 - - - 2,500

Medialivros 2 - 87 - - - 48

BCP 2 258 1 101,463 3,795 - 1,060 

73 258 4,556 101,463 3,795 - 3,608 

2015

SALES AND SERVICE 
RENDERED

OTHER
INCOME

FINANCIAL
INCOME

OTHER
COSTS

FINANCIAL
COSTS

PMF - 31 - - 237

Surpapel SL 208 - 127 24 -

CGD 480 - - - 805

Novo Banco - - - - 401

BCP 269 - - - 3,153

957 31 127 24 4,596

2014

SALES AND SERVICE 
RENDERED

OTHER
INCOME

OTHER
COSTS

FINANCIAL
COSTS

PMF - 36 - -

Surpapel SL 100 - - -

Megapapier - - - -

BCP - - - 2,791

100 36 - 2,791

The transactions during the years 2015 and 2014 with entities related to the Group are as follows:

The related parties considered relevant for the purposes of the financial statements were the subsidiaries mention on Note 35, the 
associated companies given in Note 10, the shareholders given in Note 18 and the Governing Bodies. 
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Governing Bodies’s Remuneration  
The remuneration paid by Inapa – IPG to the members of the management bodies in 2015 and 2014, breaks down as follows (Euros):

2015 2014 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Wages  1,020   1,115

Post-employment benefits - -

Other long-term benefits - -

Termination benefits - -

Payments in shares - -

 1,020   1,115

AUDIT COMMITEE*

Remuneration 104 103

GENERAL MEETING BOARD

Remuneration 5 10

* The remuneration paid to the members of the Audit Committee is included in the remuneration of the Board of Directors. 

NOTE 35
COMPANIES INCLUDED IN CONSOLIDATION

The subsidiaries included in the consolidation by the integral consolidation method, on December 31, 2015, were as follows: 

DESIGNATION REGISTERED OFFICE GROUP % 
STAKE

ACTIVITY DIRECT 
SHAREHOLDER

INCORPORATION 
DATE

Inapa – Portugal, SA
Rua das Cerejeiras, nº 5, 
Vale Flores, São Pedro de Penaferrim
2710 Sintra

100.00 Paper Supply Inapa – IPG, SA 1988

Inapa España 
Distribuición  
de Papel, SA

c/ Delco, Polígono Industrial
Ciudad del Automóvil 
28914 Leganés, Madrid

100.00 Paper Supply Inapa – IPG, SA December 1998

Inapa France, SA 
91813 Corbeil Essones
Cedex, France

100.00 Paper Supply Inapa – IPG, SA May 1998

Inapa Belgique
Vaucampslan, 30
1654 Huizingen, Belgium

99.94 Paper Supply Inapa – IPG, SA May 1998

Inapa Packaging, SA
14, Impasse aux Moines
91410 Dourdon, France

100.00 Packaging Europacking SGPS, Lda January  2008

Inapa Luxemburg
211, Rue des Romains. L.
8005 Bertrange, Luxambourg

97.81 Paper Supply Inapa Belgique May 1998

Inapa Deutschland,  
GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90
20354 Hamburgo
Germany

92.5 Holding Inapa – IPG, SA April 2000

Papier Union, 
GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90
20354 Hamburgo
Germany

100.00 Paper Supply
Inapa Deutschland, 
GmbH

April 2000

Inapa Packaging, 
GmbH

Osterbekstraße 90
20354 Hamburg
Germany

100.00 Holding Papier Union, GmbH 2006

Inapa – Merchants, 
Holding, Ltd

Torrington House, 811 High Road
Finchley N12 8JW
UK

100.00 Holding Inapa – IPG, SA 1995
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DESIGNAÇÃO SEDE SOCIAL % DE PARTICIPAÇÃO 
DO GRUPO

ATIVIDADE DETENTORA DIRETA DATA DE 
INCORPORAÇÃO

Complott Papier Union, 
GmbH

Industriestrasse
40822 Mettmann, Germany

100.00
Visual 
Comunication

Paper Union, GmbH January 2008

Inapa Suisse
Althardstrasse 301
8105 Regensdorf, Suíça

100.00 Paper Supply
Inapa – IPG,SA 
e Papier Union, GmbH

May 1998

Edições Inapa, Lda
Rua Braamcamp 40 – 9º D
1250-071 Lisbon, Portugal

100.00 Editing
Inapa – IPG,
SA 

November 2009

Europackaging 
SGPS, Lda

Rua Castilho, 44 – 3º
1250-071 Lisbon

100.00 Holding Inapa – IPG, SA October 2011

Inapa Angola – 
Distribuição de Papel, SA

Estrada de Catete, km 25
Polo Industrial de Viana
Luanda, Angola

100.00 Paper Supply Inapa Portugal, SA December 2009

Semaq Emballages, SA
Rue de Strasbourg
ZI de Bordeaux Fret, France

100.00 Packaging Inapa Packaging, SA February 2012

Inapa Embalagem, Lda
Rua das Cerejeiras, nº 5, Vale Flores
São Pedro de Penaferrim
2710 Sintra, Portugal

100.00 Packaging Europackaging SGPS, Lda. March 2012

Inapa Shared Center, Lda
Rua das Cerejeiras, nº 5, Vale Flores
São Pedro de Penaferrim
2710 Sintra, Portugal

100.00 Shared Services
Inapa – IPG, SA e Inapa 
Portugal, SA July 2012

Da Hora Artigos  
de Embalagem, Lda

Urbanização das Minhoteiras, lote 3  
Crestins Maia 
4470-592 Moreira Maia

100.00 Packaging Inapa Embalagem, Lda November 2012

Inapa Comunicação Visual, 
Lda

Rua das Cerejeiras, nº 5, Vale Flores
São Pedro de Penaferrim
2710 Sintra, Portugal

100.00
Visual 
Comunication

Inapa Portugal SA January  2013

KORDA Kağıt 
Pazarlama ve Ticaret 
Anonim Şirketi

Kasap Sokak. Konak Azer
34394 Istambul, Turkey

100.00 Paper Supply Inapa – IPG, SA September 2013

Tradembal – Comércio,  
Indústria, Exportação  
e Importação  
de Produtos Sintéticos, SA

Rua da Industria, 9
Porto Salvo
2740 Oeiras, Portugal

75.00 Packaging Inapa Embalagem, Lda. September 2013

All balances and transactions with the subsidiaries were eliminated in the consolidation process. All balances and transactions with 
associates, which were not consolidated using the full consolidation method (Notes 10 and 36), and other companies where the Inapa 
Group has shares, are given in Note 34. 
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COMPANY REGISTERED OFFICE DIRECT SHAREHOLDER GROUP'S STAKE

Megapapier – Mafipa 
Netherland, BV

PO Box 1097
3430 BB Nieuwegein, Holland

Inapa France, SA 100%

Inapa Logistics
Osterbekstraße 90
22083 Hamburgo, Germany

Papier Union, GmbH 100%

Inapa Vertriebs, GmbH Osterbekstraße 90
22083 Hamburgo, Germany

Papier Union, GmbH 100%

NOTE 37
TRADE RECEIVABLES SECURITIZATION

At the end of 2015 one Germany Company proceeded to a securitization operation, with the maximum amount of 50,000 thousand 
Euros.

These credits are booked in Balance sheet under Trade receivables against de caption Financing associated to financial assets (Note 22).

NOTE 38
COSTS RELATED TO THE SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE CURRENT AUDITORS

In the years ending on December 31, 2015 and 2014, the costs relating to the services provided to subsidiary companies by the 
principal auditors, were as follows: 

2015 2014

Statutory Audit 433 424

Tax consultantion services 12 8

Other services 17 12

462 444

NOTE 39
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Until the publication of this report there were no subsequent events.

INFORMATION REQUIRED BY LEGISLATION 
Under the terms of n.º 1 of Art.º 21 of Decree Law n.º 411/91, of October 17, we hereby declare that the consolidated companies 

do not owe any due to Social Security contributions or to the State.   

NOTE 36
COMPANIES EXCLUDED FROM CONSOLIDATION

The stakes given below were not included in the consolidation using the full consolidation method. The impact of not integrating 
them is not materially relevant, as they have been recorded by the equity method, as described in Notes 10 and 2.2. Megapapier was 
not consolidated by the full consolidation method as it is the intention of the Group to liquidate it as its value has been evaluated 
as zero. 
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ASSETS NOTES  DECEMBER 31, 
2015

DECEMBER, 31
2014

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Tangible fixed assets 6 17,1 23,0 

Investment properties 7 14.285,0 14.845,3 

Other intangible assets 8 133,5 160,8 

Investments – equity method 9 316.520,0 316.928,1 

Investments – others methods 9 12,7 12,7 

Other non-current receivables 13 24.417,0 23.017,0 

Deferred tax assets 10 26,0 551,5 

Total non-current assets 355.411,3 355.538,3 

CURRENT ASSETS

Trade receivables 11 1.296,8 1.427,2 

Tax to be recovered 12 833,3 599,8 

Other current receivables 13 16.529,3 18.703,7 

Deferrals 1.130,3 336,3 

Cash and bank deposits 4 88,7 107,6 

Total current assets 19.878,5 21.174,5 

Total assets 375.289,8 376.712,8 

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
(Amounts expressed in thousand euros) 

Individuals Accounts
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SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY NOTES  DECEMBER 31, 
2015

DECEMBER, 31
2014

Share capital 15 180.135,1 180.135,1 

Issuance premium 15 451,1 451,1 

Legal reserves 15 7.668,0 7.563,7 

Other reserves 15 2.864,0 890,5 

Retained earnings 15 2.494,9 2.640,8 

Other shareholders equity changes 15 -2.585,0 -2.441,6 

Net profit/(loss) for the year 15 -402,3 2.078,5 

Total shareholders equity 190.625,9 191.318,1 

LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Loans 16 113.813,2 100.595,5 

Other payables 17 2.500,0 2.500,0 

Total non-current liabilities 116.313,2 103.095,5 

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Suppliers 62,8 - 

Tax liabilities 12 162,1 211,9 

Loans 16 63.938,0 74.637,2 

Other payables 17 4.187,8 7.450,1 

Outros passivos financeiros

Total current liabilities 68.350,7 82.299,2 

Total liabilities 184.663,9 185.394,7 

Total shareholders equity and liabilities 375.289,8 376.712,8 

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

BALANCE SHEET AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
(Amounts expressed in thousand euros) 

INDIVIDUALS ACCOUNTS
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INCOME AND EXPENSES NOTES  DECEMBER 31, 
2015

DECEMBER, 31
2014

Sales and Service rendered 18 1.998,2 1.985,1

Gains/(losses) in associated/subsidiary companies 9 -289,5 2.226,5

General and administrative expenses 19 -2.656,4 -1.453,1

Personnel costs 20 -2.289,4 -2.524,6

Impairment on current assets 14 - - 

Other gains and profits 18 11.533,4 10.167,6

Other losses and expenses 21 -313,0 -173,6

Net profit/(loss) before depreciations, financial function and income tax 7.983,2 10.227,9

Depreciations and amortizations 22 -622,9 -584,4

Operacional result (before financial function and income tax) 7.360,3 9.643,6

Financial income – intererest and similar gains 23 1.485,9 1.665,3

Financial costs – interest and similar costs 23 -8.656,8 -9.382,2

Net profit/(loss) before Income tax 189,4 1.926,7

Income tax 10 -591,7 151,8

Net profit/(loss) for the period 24 -402,3 2.078,5

Earnings per share 24 -0,001 0,005

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

INCOME STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
(Amounts expressed in thousand euros) 
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SHARE CAPITAL SHARE 
ISSUANCE 
PREMIUM

RESERVES RETAINED 
EARNINGS

ADJUSTMENTS 
ON FINANCIAL 

ASSETS

NET PROFIT/ 
(LOSS) FOR

THE PERIOD 

TOTAL 

As at December 31, 2013 the period Total 7.725,5 -19.531,6 -1.447,1 1.273,4 192.647,8 

CHANGES IN PERIOD

Equity method application - - - -1.871,8 1.871,8 - - 

Other changes on   shareholders equity - - - - -2.866,3 - -2.866,3

- - - -1.871,8 -994,5 - -2.866,3

Net profit/(loss) for the period - - - - 2.078,4 2.078,4 

Total profit/(loss) - - - -1.871,8 -994,5 2.078,4 -787,9

SAHREHOLDERS EQUITY MOVEMENTS  
IN THE  PERIOD 

Capital increase - - - - - - - 

Diminuição de Capital -24.041,4 - - 24.041,4 - - - 

Distribuitions - - - - - -541,8 -541,8

Other operations

Net profit/(loss) applications - - 728,7 2,9 - -731,6 - 

-24.041,4 - 728,7 24.044,3 - -1.273,4 -541,8

As at December 31, 2014 180.135,1 451,1 8.454,1 2.640,8 -2.441,6 2.078,4 191.318,1 

CHANGES IN PERIOD

Equity method application - - - -146,5 146,5 - - 

Other changes on   shareholders equity - - - - -289,9 - -289,9

   - - - -146,5 -143,3 - -289,9

Net profit/(loss) for the period - - - - -402,3 -402,3

Total profit/(loss) - - - -146,5 -143,3 -402,3 -692,1

SAHREHOLDERS EQUITY MOVEMENTS 
IN THE  PERIOD 

Capital increase - - - - - - - 

Capital decrease - - - - - - - 

Distribuitions - - - - - - - 

Other operations

Net profit/(loss) applications 2.077,9 0,6 -2.078,4 - 

- - 2.077,9 0,6 - -2.078,4 - 

As at December 31, 2015 180.135,1 451,1 10.531,9 2.495,0 -2.585,0 -402,3 190.626,1 

To be read in conjuction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015,  
AND DECEMBER 31, 2014
(Amounts expressed in thousand euros) 

INDIVIDUALS ACCOUNTS
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NOTES  DECEMBER 31, 
2015

DECEMBER, 31
2014

CASH FLOW GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers 3.962,2 4.990,9

Payments to suppliers -3.351,1 -2.713,4

Payments to personnel -2.510,8 -2.291,2

Net cash from operational activities -1.899,7 -13,7

Income taxes paid -439,7 -141,7

Income taxes received  -      -     

Other proceeds relating to operating activity 11.003,7 10.436,0

Other payments relating to operating activity -1.827,3 -3.396,4

Net cash generated from operating activities 1 6.837,0 6.884,2

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Financial investments  -      -     

Tangible fixed assets  -      -     

Interest and similar income 631,8 1.325,0

Loans conceded 16.229,5 3.157,5

Dividends 1.380,0 120,0

18.241,3 4.602,5

Payments in respect of:

Financial investments -951,3 -1.125,2

Tangible fixed assets  -     -7,1

Intangible assets  -      -     

Loans granted -28.830,0 -1.326,0

-29.781,3 -2.458,3

Net cash used in investing activities 2 -11.540,0 2.144,1

To be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
(Amounts expressed in thousand euros) – direct method
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NOTES  DECEMBER 31, 
2015

DECEMBER, 31
2014

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from:

Loans obtained 68.903,6 59.199,2

Capital increases, repayments and share premiums  -      -     

Treasury placements  -      -     

68.903,6 59.199,2

Payments in respect of:

Loans obtained -49.224,7 -24.145,6

Amortization of financial leases -724,7 -730,0

Interest and similar expenses -7.375,0 -6.414,5

Dividends - -541,7

-57.324,4 -31.831,8

Net cash used in financing activities 3 11.579,2 27.367,4

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash-equivalent 1+2+3 6.876,1 36.395,7

Effect of exchange differences - -

6.876,1 36.395,6

Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of period 4 -10.612,4 -47.008,0

Cash and cash equivalents – end of period 4 -3.736,3 -10.612,4

6.876,1 36.395,6

To be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Individual financial statements.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015
(Amounts expressed in thousand euros) – direct method

INDIVIDUALS ACCOUNTS
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NOTES TO 
FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2015
(Amounts in thousands of euros, except if mentioned otherwise)

NOTE 1
INTRODUCTION AND IDENTIFICATION 

Inapa – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA (Inapa – IPG) 
is the parent company of Inapa Group, being a stakeholder in the 
ownership and management of movable goods and real estate, 
making equity investments in other companies, the exploration 
of commercial and industrial establishments, whether its own 
or of others, as well as providing assistance to companies whose 
equity it partakes in. Inapa – IPG is listed on Euronext Lisbon. The 
most significant shareholdings are set out in note 15.

• Headquarters: Rua Braamcamp n.º 40 – 9.º D, 1250-050 
Lisbon – Portugal

• Share capital: 180,135,111 Euros
• N.I.P.C. (Corporate Tax Identification Number): 500 137 994

The financial statements of the fiscal year were prepared in all 
material respects, in accordance to the standards of the Sistema 
de Normalização Contabilística [Accounting Standardization 
System] (SNC). 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of 
Administration, at the meeting of March 18th 2016. It is the 
Administration’s opinion that these financial statements truly 
and properly reflect the transactions of Inapa – IPG as well as its 
status, financial performance and cash flows.

NOTE 2
ACCOUNTING REFERENCE IN THE PREPARATION 
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
These financial statements have been prepared under 

the disclosures in force in Portugal, issued by Decree-Law 
n.º 158/2009, of 13 July, and according to the Estrutura 
Conceptual [Framework] (EC), Normas Contabilísticas e de Relato 
Financeiro [Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards] 
(NCRF) and Normas Interpretativas [Interpretative Standards] 
(NI) listed in the Accounting Standardization System (SNC).

2.2. WAIVER OF THE SNC PROVISIONS
In this exercise no SNC provisions were waived.  

2.3. COMPARABILITY OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The figures in the financial statements for the fiscal year ended 

31 December 2015 are comparable in all significant aspects with 
those of fiscal year 2014. 

NOTE 3
MAIN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND VALUATION 
CRITERIA

The attached financial statements have been prepared 
assuming the continuity of operations, from the Company’s 
accounting records. The main accounting principles and valuation 
criteria adopted in preparing the financial statements are the 
following: 
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(I) TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS (NCRF 7)

The tangible fixed assets are booked at cost of acquisition, 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. This cost 
includes the cost estimated on the date of transition to the SNC, 
and the costs for acquisitions of assets obtained afterwards.

The acquisition cost includes the purchase price of the asset, 
the costs directly attributable to their acquisition, including non-
deductible taxes, and charges incurred in preparing the asset so 
as to be in a usable condition. 

The land plots are not depreciated. Depreciation of other assets 
is calculated after the date on which the goods are available for 
use by the straight-line method, according to the period of useful 
life for each one and which correspond to the following rates:

Buildings and other constructions 2% - 5%

Basic equipment 6.66% - 12.5%

Equipment transport 20% - 50%

Office equipment 10% - 12.5%

The depreciation process by twelfths, starts in the fiscal year’s 
month when the respective asset goes into operation.

The costs of maintenance and repairs that do not increase 
the useful life of the assets, nor result in significant benefits 
or enhancement in items of tangible fixed assets, are booked 
as expenses in the fiscal year they occur.

(II) INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (NCRF 11)

Tangible fixed assets are classified as investment property 
when held with the aim of achieving capital appreciation and 
income.

Investment property is initially valued at cost of acquisition, 
including transaction costs that can be directly assignable. After 
the initial recognition, the investment properties are stated at 
cost less the depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs incurred for investment property in use, namely, 
maintenance, repairs, insurance and taxes on proprieties are 
recognized as expenses in the period to which they relate. The 
leasehold improvements or investment property for which 
there are expectations that they will generate additional future 
economic benefits beyond initial estimates, are capitalized under 
the heading of investment properties.

(III) INTANGIBLE ASSETS (NCRF 6)
 
Intangible assets are booked at cost of acquisition, less 

depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets 
are recognized only if it is likely that future economic benefits 
attributable to the asset will flow to the Company, are controllable 
and their cost can be assessed reliably.

The cost of acquisitions correspond to the price of purchase, 
including costs related to intellectual property rights and taxes 
on non-redeemable purchases, after deducting trade discounts 
and rebates.

The assets without defined useful life are not subject 
to depreciation, but to an annual impairment tests.

The development expenses are recognized whenever the 
Company demonstrates the ability to complete its development 
and initiate their use and for which it is likely that the asset created 
will generate future economic benefits. The development costs that 
do not meet these criteria are recorded as expenses in the fiscal 
year they are incurred.

The amortization of an intangible asset with finite useful 
lives is calculated from the date of first use, according to the the 
straight-line method, in accordance with the estimated period 
of useful life, taking into account the residual value.

Intangible assets booked are depreciated over a period of 5 years.

(IV) LEASE CONTRACTS (NCRF 9)

The assets used under financial leasing contracts, for which the 
Company assumes substantially all risks and rewards inherent to 
its possession of the leased asset are classified as tangible fixed 
assets and the debts pending settlement are recognized according 
to the contractual financial plan.

Interest included in the income and depreciation value of the 
respective tangible fixed asset is recognized as expenses in the 
profit and loss account for the fiscal year to which they relate.

In lease contracts where the lessor undertakes a significant 
portion of the risks and benefits to the property, being the 
company the lessee, is classified as operating leases. The 
payments resulting from the completion of these contracts are 
booked in the profit and loss account over the lease term.

The classification of leases as either financial or operational 
depends on the substance of the transaction rather than the form 
of contract.
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(V) INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES 
(NCRF 15 & NCRF 13)

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are booked under 
the equity method.

The subsidiaries are all entities (including special-purpose 
ones) over which Inapa – IPG has the power to decide on the 
financial or operational policies, what normally is associated with 
direct or indirect control of more than half of the voting rights.  
The associates are entities over which Inapa – IPG has between 
20% and 50% of the voting rights or over which Inapa – IPG has 
significant influence, but cannot exercise control.

Upon acquisition, the excess cost in relation to the fair value 
of the Inapa – IPG portion in the identifiable assets acquired is 
booked as goodwill, which, less accumulated impairment losses, 
is considered under the heading of Investments – equity method. 
If the cost of acquisition is less than the fair value of net assets 
of the acquired subsidiary, the difference is recognized directly in 
the profit and loss account.

Under the equity method, the financial statements include 
the Company’s share of total recognized gains and losses since 
the date that the control or significant influence begins until 
the date it effectively ends. Gains or losses that are not due 
to transactions made between companies of the Inapa Group, 
including associates, are eliminated. Dividends allocated by 
the subsidiary or associate are considered reductions of the 
investment held.

When the share of losses of a subsidiary or associate exceeds 
the investment value, the Group recognizes additional losses 
in the future, if the Group has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the associate or subsidiary.

The accounting policies implemented by subsidiaries and 
associates are changed, where necessary, to ensure that they are 
consistently applied by Inapa – IPG and by its subsidiaries and 
associates. 

Entities that qualify as subsidiaries and associated companies 
are listed in Note 5.3 and 9

(VI) GOODWILL (NCRF 14)

Goodwill is booked as an asset under the heading of 
Investments - equity method and is not subject to depreciation. 

On an annual basis, or whenever there is evidence to a possible 
loss of value, the goodwill values are subject to impairment tests. 
Any impairment loss is recorded as an expense in the profit 
and loss account for the fiscal year and cannot be prone to later 
reversal.

(VII) FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (NCRF 27)

Investments – other methods
Financial contributions corresponding to equity instruments 

that are not traded in active market and whose fair value cannot 
be obtained reliably are measured at cost less any impairment 
loss. The remaining investments are measured at fair value with 
changes in fair value being recognized in the profit and loss 
account.

Costumers and other receivables
Entries of Customers and Other receivables constitute rights 

to receive for the sale of goods or services in the Company’s 
ordinary course of business, being recognized initially at 
fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost less 
impairment adjustments, if applicable (Notes 11 and 13). 

Impairment losses of customer balances and accounts 
receivable are booked, whenever there is objective evidence that 
they are not recoverable. Identified impairment losses are booked 
in the profit and loss account on impairment of receivables, being 
subsequently reversed by income, if the impairment indicators 
no longer exist (Note 14).

Financing
Financing obtained is initially recognized at fair value, net of 

transaction and set-up costs incurred. The loans are subsequently 
reflected at amortized cost being the difference between the face 
value and the initial fair value recognized in the profit and loss 
account over the period of the loan, using the effective interest 
rate.

The loans obtained are classified as current liabilities, unless 
the Company has an unconditional right to defer payment of 
the liability for at least 12 months from the balance sheet date, 
being, in this case, classified as non-current liabilities (Note 16).

Suppliers and other payables
Entries of Suppliers and Other accounts payable are 

obligations to pay for the purchase of goods or services, being 
recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate. 
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(VIII) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, bank deposits, 
other short-term investments of high liquidity and with initial 
maturities up to three months and bank overdrafts. Bank 
overdrafts are shown on the balance sheet as current liabilities 
in the heading bank loans, and are considered in drafting the 
statement of cash flows, such as cash and cash equivalents (Note 4).

(IX) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS (NCRF 12)

An impairment of assets is assessed on the balance sheet 
date and whenever a change occurs to circumstances indicating 
that the amount for which an asset is booked may not be 
recovered (Note 14). In the case of non-current assets that are 
not amortized because they do not have a finite useful life, 
impairment tests are carried out on a regular basis.

Whenever an asset amount accounted is higher than its 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss/provision is recognized, 
which is booked in the profit and loss account or in equity when 
the asset has been appraised, a situation where the respective 
appreciation will be decreased. The recoverable amount is the 
highest value from the fair value of an asset less selling costs and 
its value in use.

The reversal of impairment losses recognized in prior fiscal 
years is booked when the reasons that caused the booking 
thereof ceased to exist (except goodwill). The reversal is booked 
in the profit and loss account unless the asset has been revalued 
and its revaluation booked in equity has been reduced as a result 
of impairment loss.

(X) PROVISIONS, CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND 
CONTINGENT ASSETS (NCRF 21)

Provisions are recognized when and only when, the Company 
has a present obligation (legal or implicit) resulting from a past 
event, and it is likely that to settle the obligation, an outflow 
of resources occurs and the obligation amount can be reasonably 
estimated. 

Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
adjusted to reflect the best estimate at that date, taking into 
account the risks and uncertainties inherent in such estimates. 

Provisions for restructuring expenses are recognized when 
there is a formal and detailed restructuring plan, which has been 
notified to the parties involved.

The present obligations arising from onerous contracts are 
valued and booked as provisions. There is an onerous contract 
when the company is an integral part of the provisions of a 
contract or agreement, compliance with which entails associated 
expenses that cannot be avoided, which exceed the economic 
benefits derived from it.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in financial 
statements but are disclosed whenever the likelihood of an 
outflow of resources encompassing economic benefits is not 
remote. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial 
statements, but are disclosed when likelihood exists of a future 
economical inflow of resources.   

(XI) REVENUE (NCRF 20)

Revenue is valued at fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable.

The income from services is recognized at fair value of amount 
receivable and according to the degree of the service execution.

Revenue from royalties is recognized in accordance with the 
economic periodization system and meeting the substance of 
corresponding contracts, provided it is likely that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Company and its amount can be reliably 
valued and is accounted for under the heading of Other income 
and gains.

Interest revenue is recognized using the effective interest 
method, provided it is likely that economic benefits will flow 
to the Company and its amounts can be reliably valued.
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(XII) EARNINGS BASIS

The transactions are recognized in the accounts when earned, 
regardless of when they are received or paid. The differences 
between the amounts received and paid and the corresponding 
income and expenses are booked under Other receivable and 
payable accounts and Deferred income.

(XIII) THE EFFECTS OF FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE 
RATES (NCRF 23)

All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are converted into euros using the exchange rates prevailing 
at balance sheet dates. Exchange differences, gains and losses 
arising from differences between exchange rates in force on the 
date of the transactions and those in effect on the settlement 
date, or the balance sheet date were booked as income and 
expenses for the year.

Exchange differences arising from the conversion to euro 
from subsidiaries financial statements denominated in foreign 
currency are included in equity under the heading Other changes 
in equity.

(XIV) INCOME TAXES (NCRF 25)

The income tax comprises current tax and deferred taxes. 

Current tax on income is calculated based on the Company’s 
taxable income under the tax rules, and the deferred tax results 
from temporary differences between the amount of assets and 
liabilities for accounting report purposes (written-down value) 
and their amounts for taxing purposes (tax base).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated using tax rates 
in effect or announced to take effect at the date of the expected 
reversal of temporary differences.

The deferred tax assets are recognized only when there are 
reasonable prospects of obtaining future taxable income enough 
for its use, or in situations where there are taxable temporary 
differences to offset deductible temporary differences in the 
reversal period.

At the end of each period, the calculation of these deferred 
taxes is reviewed, and they are reduced whenever its future use is 
no longer likely.

The deferred taxes are recognized as expense or income for 
the fiscal year, except if they relate to amounts booked directly 
in equity, where the deferred tax is also revealed under the same 
heading.

(XV) RELEVANT ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements was conducted in 
accordance to generally accepted accounting principles, using 
the estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets and liabilities and revenue and expenses during the 
reporting period. It should be noted that although estimates 
have been based on the best knowledge of the Board in relation 
to current events and actions, actual results may ultimately 
come to differ from them. However, the Administration Board 
is convict that the adopted estimates and assumptions do not 
involve significant risks that may cause material adjustments 
to the value of assets and liabilities during the next fiscal year.

The estimates that show a significant risk of entailing a 
material adjustment to the accounting values of assets and 
liabilities in the following fiscal year are listed below:

a) Estimated impairment of goodwill
Inapa – IPG on an annual basis tests whether goodwill 
impairment exists or not in accordance with the accounting 
policy described in Note 3 (vi). The recoverable values of 
the cash flow generating units are determined based on the 
calculation of usage values. These calculations require the use 
of estimates (Note 9).

b) Income Tax
Inapa - IPG is subject to taxes over income, being the calculation 
of the tax subject to review by the tax authorities. When the 
final result of this review is different from the values initially 
booked, the differences will impact on the income tax and 
provisions for deferred tax, within the period in which such 
differences are identified. 

Additionally, deferred tax assets include the effect of the value 
of tax losses for which there is expectation of recovery in the 
future. The non-recovery of tax losses or changes to the recovery 
expectation in future fiscal years will impact the income of the 
fiscal year in which the situation arises.
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c) Doubtful collections
Impairment losses on bad loans are based on evaluation 
by Inapa – IPG as regards the likelihood of recovery of the 
balances of receivables. This evaluation process is subject 
to several estimates and judgements. The updates of these 
estimates may involve the determination of different 
impairment levels and, therefore, different impacts on results.

d) Provisions for litigation
 Inapa – IPG is a party in some on-going lawsuits, having set 
provisions that are considered necessary always according 
to estimates made by management, based on the Company’s 
lawyer’s advice (Note 3 (x)).

 A negative decision in any on-going lawsuit may have an 
adverse effect on business, financial condition and results 
of the Company

NOTE 4
CASH FLOWS

The Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31, 2015 and 
2014 are analyzed as follows:

2015 2014

Immediately available bank deposits 88.2 107.1

Funds 0.5 0.5

Cash and bank deposits in balance sheet 88.7 107.6

Bank overdrafts -3,825.0 -10,720.4

Cash and its equivalents -3,736.3 -10,612.4

2015 2014

BOARD OF ADMINISTRATION 
Remunerations 1,019,958 1,115,077

Post-employment benefits - -

Other long-term benefits - -

Benefits from employment termination - -

Payment in shares - -

1,019,958 1,115,077

AUDIT COMMITTEE*

Remunerations 103,500 103,500

PRESIDING BOARD OF GENERAL MEETING

Remunerations 5,000 10,000

 * Remuneration paid to members of the Audit Committee is included in the Administration 
Board’s remuneration amount.

NOTE 5 
RELATED PARTIES

5.1. RELATED TO THE PARENT COMPANY
As mentioned in Note 1, Inapa – IPG is the parent company 

of the Inapa Group, whereas in Note 5.3 the balances with 
shareholders are disclosed.

5.2. REMUNERATION  PROVIDED TO MEMBERS  
OF THE CORPORATE  

The remuneration paid by Inapa – IPG to the members of the 
Governing Board in 2015 and 2014 are analyzed as follows (euros):
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5.3. BALANCES WITH OTHER RELATED PARTIES
The Company maintains business and financing relationships with subsidiaries.

The subsidiaries owned directly by the Company at December 31, 2015, are as follows:

DESIGNATION HEADQUARTERS % OF DIRECT 
PARTICIPATION

ACTIVITY

Inapa France, SA 91813 Corbeil EssonesCedex France 100,00 Paper Supply

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH Osterbekstraße 90, 20354 Hamburgo, Germany 92.5 Holding

Inapa Suisse Althardstrasse 301, 8105 Regensdorf, Suisse 32.50 Paper Supply

Edições Inapa, Lda Rua Braamcamp 40 - 9º D, 1250-050 Lisbon 100.00 Publishing

Europackaging SGPS, Lda Rua Castilho, 44 - 3º, 1250-071 Lisbon 100.00 Holding

Inapa – Portugal, SA Rua das Cerejeiras, nº 5, Vale Flores, São Pedro de Penaferrim, 2710 Sintra 100.00 Paper Supply

Inapa España Distribuición de Papel, SA c/ DelcoPolígono Industrial, Ciudad del Automóvil, 28914 Leganés, Madrid 100.00 Paper Supply

Inapa Belgique Vaucampslan, 30, 1654 Huizingen, Belgium 99.94 Paper Supply

Inapa – Merchants, Holding, Ltd Torrington House, 811 High Road, Finchley N12 8JW, UK 100.00 Holding

Inapa Shared Center, Lda Rua das Cerejeiras, nº 5, Vale Flores, São Pedro de Penaferrim, 2710 Sintra 99.75 Shared Services

KORDA Kağıt Pazarlama  
ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi

Kasap Sokak. Konak Azer, 34394 Istambul, Turkey 100.00 Paper Supply

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, balances with Inapa Group of companies were as follows:

2015

CURRENT ASSETS LIABILITIES – FINANCING OBTAINED

OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

ASSETS
NON CURRENT

OTHER BORROWINGS 
(NOTE 16)

OTHER 
CREDITORS

OTHER RECEIVABLES

COMPANY CLIENTS GROUP 
COMPANIES

GROUP 
COMPANIES

BOND 
LOANS

NON CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT

Inapa Portugal, SA 214.0 566.9 - - - 12,797.8 735.4
Edições Inapa, Lda - 1,204.3 - - - - -
Inapa France, SA - 10.0 - 46.528,0 - 2,800.0 1,113.6
Inapa Belgique, SA - 1,009.7 - - - - 103.5
Inapa España, SA 24.9 251.1 2,500.0 - - 3,500.0 132.5
Inapa Deutschland, GmbH 773.5 3,801.8 20,517.0 - - 1,170.0 13.4
Papier Union - - - - - - 397.9
Inapa Shared Center 1.9 52.5 - - - 1.630,0 165.7
Inapa Suisse 57.8 4.0 - - 7,020.1 - 165.7
Europackaging 160.4 6,047.9 - - - - -
Da Hora 5.7 67.4 - - - - -
Inapa Angola - 15.3 - - - - -
Inapa Merchants Holding - - - - - - 326.3
Inapa Packaging, SAS 13.6 0.2 - - - - -
Semaq 18.0 - - - - - -
Tradembal 5.6 25.2 - - - - -
Inapa Packaging, GmbH 14.5 0.7 - - - - -
Inapa Comunicação Visual 6.5 7.5 - - - - -
Inapa Embalagem - 39.4 - - - - -
Korda - 0.1 1,400.0 - - - -
Others 0.5 - - - - - -

1,296.8 13,104.3 24,417.0 46,528.0 7,020.1 21,897.8 3,154.0
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2015

BANK
 DEPOSITS

OTHER CURRENT
AND NON CURRENT

ASSETS

LOANS OTHER CURENT
AND NON CURRENT 

LIABILITIES

Novo Banco 20 40 3.325 -

CGD 1 110 9.300 -

BCP 3 57 37.850 889

24 207 50.475 889

2014

CURRENT ASSETS LIABILITIES – FINANCING OBTAINED

OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

ASSETS
NON CURRENT

OTHER BORROWINGS 
(NOTE 16)

OTHER 
CREDITORS

OTHER RECEIVABLES

COMPANY CLIENTS GROUP 
COMPANIES

GROUP 
COMPANIES

BOND 
LOANS

NON CURRENT CURRENT CURRENT

Inapa Portugal. SA 274.5 2,855.6 - - - 13,298.2 2,039.7
Edições Inapa. Lda - 1,203.1 - - - - -
Inapa France. SA 275.2 5.5 - 45,226.2 - - 889.1
Inapa Belgique. SA 2.7 2,483.8 - - - - 166.0
Inapa España. SA 148.5 124.3 2,500 - - 3,500 141.5
Inapa Deutschland. GmbH 87.5 229.1 20,517.0 - - 1,500.0 140.2
Papier Union 433.9 - - - - - -
Inapa Shared Center 3.1 - - - - 500.0 992.9
Inapa Suisse 16.2 4.1 - - 6,366.7 - 23.8
Europackaging 160.3 6,604.5 - - - - -
Da Hora 25.0 5.5 - - - - -
Inapa Angola - 15.2 - - - - -
Korda - 1,300.1 - - - - -
Inapa Merchants Holding - - - - - - 327.3
Others 0.3 9.4 - - - - -

1,427.2 14,840.1 23,017 45,226.2 6,366.7 18,798.2 4,720.4

The balances receivable from Edições Inapa, Lda and Inapa Portugal do not bear interest nor have fixed term of repayment.  The 
receivable balances booked under Other receivable accounts – Group Companies related to Inapa France SA, Inapa Belgium and Inapa 
Deutschland, GmbH bear interest at current market rates. From the receivable balance from Europackaging Lda, only 2,7 million euros 
bear interest at current market rates.

The payables balances to Inapa Suisse, Inapa Portugal, Inapa Spain and Inapa France bear interest at current market rates.

At December 31, 2015, the balances with other related parties were as follows:
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2015

SALES AND  
SERVICES RENDERED

OTHER INCOME AND
FINANCIAL INCOME

OTHER 
EXPENSES

FINANCIAL
COSTS

Inapa Portugal, SA 231.2 - 1.0 595.3 

Edições Inapa, Lda - - - -

Inapa France, SA 457.6 - 1,680.8 1,080.2 

Inapa Belgique, SA - 3.7 46.4 1.2 

Inapa Luxembourg,SA - - - -

Inapa España, SA 188.9 803.3 89.1 249.6 

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH 973.0 1,236.6 200.5 13.4 

Inapa Comunicação Visual - - 4.1 -

Inapa Shared Service 2.5 - 125.2 77.2 

Inapa Suisse 87.0 - - 169.2 

Europackaging - 115.9 - -

Inapa Packaging 58.0 - - -

BCP - - - 1,996.0 

Novo Banco - - - 484.2 

CGD - - - 366.6 

1,998.1 2,159.6 2,147.1 5,033.1 

2014
SALES AND  

SERVICES RENDERED
OTHER INCOME AND
FINANCIAL INCOME

OTHER 
EXPENSES

FINANCIAL
COSTS

Inapa Portugal, SA 243.3 1.5 6.5 536.2 

Edições Inapa, Lda 4.5 - - -

Inapa France, SA 457.7 44.0 - 1,089.7 

Inapa Belgique, SA 6.0 2.4 - -

Inapa Luxembourg,SA 0.2 0.2 - -

Inapa España, SA 158.4 684.1 - 280.1 

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH 973.0 1,266.6 - 47.9 

Papier Union - - - -

Inapa Shared Service 3.0 - 193.5 38.3 

Inapa Suisse 87.0 - - 143.9 

Europackaging 58.0 119.0 - -

Inapa Packaging - - - -

BCP - - - 1,156.8 

1,991.1 2,117.9 200.0 3,292.9

During the years 2015 and 2014, transactions with related parties were as follows:
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NOTE 6 
TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

During the fiscal year ended 31 December 2015, the transactions under the heading of tangible fixed assets were as follows:

During the fiscal year ended 31 December 2014, the transactions that occurred under the heading of tangible fixed assets were  
as follows:

BUILDINGS 
AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC 
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT

ADMINISTRATIVE 
EQUIPMENT

OTHER TANGIBLE 
ASSETS

TOTAL

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at 1 January 2015 13.7 10.5 7.1 113.4 6.3 151.0

Increases - 0.6 - - 4.4 5.1

Divestitures - - - - - -

Transfers/deductions - - - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2015 13.7 11.1 7.1 113.4 10.7 156.0

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2015 5.5 9.3 - 110.0 3.4 128.1

Reinforcement 2.7 0.7 2.4 1.3 0.4 7.4

Divestitures - - - - - -

Transfers/deductions 2.7 0.7 - - - 3.4

Balance as at 31 December 2015 11.0 10.6 2.4 111.3 3.8 138.9

Net value as at beginning of 2015 8.2 1.2 7.1 3.4 2.9 23.0

Net value as at end of 2015 2.7 0.5 4.7 2.1 6.9 17.1

BUILDINGS 
AND OTHER 

CONSTRUCTIONS

BASIC 
EQUIPMENT

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT

ADMINISTRATIVE 
EQUIPMENT

OTHER TANGIBLE 
ASSETS

TOTAL

ACQUISITION COST
Balance as at 1 January 2014 13.7 10.5 - 113.4 6.3 143.9

Increases - - 7.1 - - 7.1

Divestitures - - - - - -

Transfers/deductions - - - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2014 13.7 10.5 7.1 113.4 6.3 151.0

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2014 5.5 9.3 - 108.7 3.0 126.4

Reinforcement - - - 1.3 0.4 1.6

Divestitures - - - - - -

Transfers/deductions - - - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2014 5.5 9.3 - 110.0 3.4 128.0

Net value as at beginning of 2014 8.2 1.2 - 4.7 3.3 17.5

Net value as at end of 2014 8.2 1.2 7.1 3.4 2.9 23.0
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NOTE 7 
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the fiscal year ended on 31 December 2015, the transactions under the category of investment properties were as follows:

During the fiscal year ended on 31 December 2014, the transactions under the category of investment properties were as follows:

The Investment Property account refers mainly to the acquisition in 2009 by cession of the real estate and basic equipment leasing 
contracts from the Group’s Spanish subsidiary, of the property designed for warehousing and its robotic equipment located in Leganés 
(Madrid) (See Note 16). The assets underlying these contracts were subsequently leased to Inapa Spain, SA for a period of six years, 
whereas the rents charged for this transaction are reflected under the heading “Other income and gains”. 

LAND PLOTS BUILDINGS AND OTHER 
CONSTRUCTIONS

TOTAL

COST OF ACQUISITION
Balance as at 1 January 2015 3.904,6 14.045,4 17.950,0

Increases - - -

Divestitures - - -

Transfers/write-offs - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2015 3.904,6 14.045,4 17.950,0

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2015 - 3.104,7 3.104,7

Reinforcements - 563,9 563,9

Divestitures - - -

Transfers/write-offs - -3,4 -3,4

Balance as at 31 December 2015 - 3.665,1 3.665,1

Net value as at beginning of 2015 3.904,6 10.940,7 14.845,3

Net value as at end of 2015 3.904,6 10.380,3 14.285,0

LAND PLOTS BUILDINGS AND OTHER 
CONSTRUCTIONS

TOTAL

COST OF ACQUISITION
Balance as at 1 January 2014 3.904,6 14.045,4 17.950,0

Increases - - -

Divestitures - - -

Transfers/write-offs - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2014 3.904,6 14.045,4 17.950,0

ACCRUED DEPRECIATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2014 - 2.537,3 2.537,3

Reinforcements - 567,4 567,4

Divestitures - - -

Transfers/write-offs - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2014 - 3.104,7 3.104,7

Net value as at beginning of 2014 3.904,6 11.508,1 15.412,7

Net value as at end of 2014 3.904,6 10.940,7 14.845,3
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NOTE 8 
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the transactions in the items of intangible assets were as follows:

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the transactions in the items of intangible assets were as follows:

SOFTWARE OTHER INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS

IN PROGRESS TOTAL

COST OF ACQUISITION
Balance as at 1 January 2015 197.4 173.1 99.5 469.9

Increases - 13.3 11.1 24.4

Divestitures - - - -

Transfers/write-offs - 109.7 -109.7 -

Balance as at 31 December 2015 197.4 296.1 0.9 494.3

ACCRUED AMORTIZATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2015 196.5 112.7 - 309.2

Increases 0.6 51.0 - 51.7

Divestitures - - - -

Transfers/write-offs - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2015 197.1 163.7 - 360.9

Net value as at beginning of 2015 0.9 60.4 99.5 160.8

Net values as at end of 2015 0.3 132.3 0.9 133.5

SOFTWARE OTHER INTANGIBLE 
ASSETS

IN PROGRESS TOTAL

COST OF ACQUISITION
Balance as at 1 January 2014 197.4 169.4 88.1 454.8

Increases 3.7 11.4 15.0

Divestitures - - - -

Transfers/write-offs - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2014 197.4 173.1 99.5 469.8

ACCRUED AMORTIZATIONS

Balance as at 1 January 2014 193.8 100.0 - 293.8

Increases 2.7 12.7 - 15.3

Divestitures - - - -

Transfers/write-offs - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2014 196.5 112.7 - 309.1

Net value as at beginning of 2014 3.6 69.4 88.1 161.1

Net values as at end of 2014 0.9 60.4 99.5 160.8
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NOTE 9 
INVESTMENTS 

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, investments in subsidiaries and associated companies booked under Investments – equity method, 
as well as other financial investments booked under Investments – other methods, are broken down as follows: 

2015 2014

HEADQUARTERS ASSETS* EQUITY* NET 
INCOME*

% OF
SHARE

ALLOCATED
INCOME

BALANCE
VALUE

% OF
SHARE

BALANCE
VALUE

STOCK SHARE 
IN SUBSIDIARIES 
& ASSOCIATES 
a) Portugueses

Inapa Portugal SA Sintra 45,647.9 17,748.0 2,172.5 100.0% 1,579.8 78,813.7 99.8% 77,233.9 

Edições Inapa. Lda Lisbon 961.3 476.0 -27.9 100.0% -27.9 475.0 100.0% 502.9 

Inapa Shared Center, Lda Sintra 3,917.2 2,090.4 648.0 99.8% 677.9 912.4 98.0% 234.5 

Europackaging – SGPS, SA Lisbon 7,929.4 866.5 392.0 100.0% 261.7 136.5 100.0% -125.2

2,491.5 80,337.6 77,846.1 

b) Foreign

Inapa Espana SA Madrid 28,920.8 10,516.5 -1,282.2 100.0% -1,703.9 61,208.8 100.0% 62,912.7 

Inapa France. SA France 230,391.7 146,200.3 44.4 100.0% 38.5 235,284.0 100.0% 235,245.5 

Inapa Deutschland, GmbH Germany 150,336.8 75,179.7 -2,960.3 92.5% -517.0 120,410.5 100.0% 120,927.5 

Inapa Switzerland Switzerland 23,305.7 17,531.1 -1,073.1 32.5% -437.8 3,672.4 32.5% 4,110.2 

Korda Turkey 17,026.2 6,174.8 9.4 100.0% -78.8 5,204.4 100.0% 5,283.2 

IMH UK 390.8 390.8 0.0 100.0% 0.0 14,041.5 100.0% 14,041.5 

Inapa Belgique Belgium 6,662.1 2,190.6 -104.6 99.9% -82.1 10,271.3 99.9% 10,353.4 

-2,781.1 450,092.9 452,874.0

Ajustment by application  
of the equity method

-213,911.0 -213,792.0

-289.5 316,519.4 316,928.1 

STOCK SHARE  
IN OTHER COMPANIES

Medialivros – Atividades 
Editoriais, SA

Lisbon ** ** ** 3.9% 83.1 3.9% 83.1 

Others 12.7 12.7 

Impairment -83.1 -83.1

12.7 12.7 

* Information relating to statutory financial statements.
**Financial information not available on the date.

The appropriate income was calculated after the regulatory adjustments within the scope of the equity method application.

In 2015, was received an amount of 2,080 thousand euros from the subsidiaries Inapa Shared Center (380 thousand euros) and 
Inapa Portugal (1,700 thousand euros), related with dividends.
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2015 2014

Growth rate of sales 1.85% 1.85%

EBITDA margin 3.4% 3.6%

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0%

Discount rate after taxes 54.0% 5.7%

Discount rate before taxes 6.9% 6.9%

As mentioned in Note 3 (vi), the goodwill calculated during 
application of the equity method is recorded under the heading 
Investments – equity method. The goodwill booked by Inapa – IPG, 
together with the remaining goodwill booked in the consolidated 
accounts of the Inapa Group, was allocated as a whole to each of the 
several segments of the Group’s business and its impairment was 
also tested considering each segment of business throughout the 
Group. Thus, in the sequence of the Group’s goodwill impairment 
booking in 2006 as a whole, it was not possible to quantify the 
amount of goodwill included in the section above.

The Group calculates on an annual basis the recoverable amount 
of assets and liabilities associated with the activity of the various 
business segments, by determining the value in use, according 
to the method of “discounted cash flow”.

The amounts were supported by expectations of market 
development, whereas future cash flow projections have been 
compiled, based on medium and long-term plans approved by the 
Administration Board covering a period up to 2020. The projections 
of cash flows beyond the plan period are extrapolated using the 
estimated growth rates shown below. The growth rate does not 
exceed the average long term growth of the various activities. 

Management determines the gross budgeted margin according 
to past performance and its expectations for market development. 
The weighted average growth rate used is consistent with the 
forecasts included in reports of the sector. The discount rates 
used are post-tax and reflect specific risks related to the relevant 
segments.

The assumptions which were the basis for Goodwill impairment 
testing were the following:

NOTE 10 
INCOME TAX – CURRENT AND DEFERRED

Since 2003, the Company and its Portuguese subsidiaries 
(Inapa Portugal, Edições Inapa, Inapa Shared Center, Inapa 
Embalagem, Europackaging, Da Hora, Inapa Comunicação Visual 
and Tradembal) are taxed on the basis of the Corporate Income 
Tax (IRC) under the special regime for taxation of corporate 
groups, comprising companies with a stake equal to or greater 
than 75% and which meet the conditions laid down in Article 69 
and ensuing under the IRC Code. Inapa – IPG as the dominant 
company, is responsible for calculating the taxable profits of the 
Group, through the algebraic sum of taxable fiscal profit and 
loss ascertained in the income statements of each one of the 
controlled companies belonging to the Group. 

 
The current tax gain or loss is calculated by each subsidiary 

based on its individual tax situation. Any gain or loss arising 
from the consolidated tax regime is recognized by the Company 
as operating reward or defrayal within the fiscal year itself.

The payment of income tax is based on self-assessment 
statements that are subject to inspection and possible 
adjustment by the Tax Authority within the next four years. 
If tax losses are determined, they can be used in the twelve 
subsequent years if they have been generated in 2014 and 2015 
shall be subject to possible adjustment by the Tax Authorities 
following revisions to be made to statements in the fiscal years 
they are used. 

The Company is subject to IRC (Corporate Income Tax) at the 
regular rate of 21%, plus 1.5% spread, resulting in an aggregate 
tax rate of 22.5%. Additionally, since 2010 Inapa is subject 
to a state tax spread rate  corresponding to a rate of 3%, levied 
on taxable income that exceed 1.5 million euros and 5% when 
the taxable income is higher than 10 million years. The state tax 
spread rate is applied to the taxable income before deduction 
of tax losses.

The value of deferred taxes relating to 31 December 2015 and 
31 December 2014 is as follows:
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The deferred taxes were calculated on the tax loss ascertained 
under the special tax regime for corporate groups. As at 
31 December 2015, the company used tax losses of group 
companies.

The tax on profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount 
that would result from applying the weighted average rate 
of income tax on profits as follows:

The taxes booked in the profit and loss account for 2015 and 
2014 are detailed as follows:

NOTE 11 
CLIENTS

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of the Clients 
item is as follows:

31 DECEMBER 2015 31 DECEMBER 2014

BASE DEFERRED
TAX

BASE DEFERRED
TAX

INCOME OF
FISCAL YEAR

Deferred tax asset: Dr/(Cr)

Fiscal losses -  -  2,260.0 508.5 508.5 

Transitional adjustment

intangible assets -  -  -  -  -  

financial discount -  -  -  -  -  

Others 122.7 26.0 195.6 43.0 17.0 

26.0 551.5 

Deferred tax of the fiscal year 525.5 

2015 2014

Net income on profits before taxes 189.4 1 926.7

Nominal tax rate (22.5%) (2014: 24.5%) -42.6 -472.0

Tax amount on income -591.7 151.8

-549.1 623.8

Equity method effect -65.1 545.5

Tax losses -411.1 957.7

Non-deductible expenses -59.7 -169.3

Effects of Special Group Tax Regime - -710.1

Others -13.1 - 

-549.1 623.8

2015 2014

Current tax 66.2 169.4

Deferred tax 525.4 -321.2

591.7 -151.8

2015 2014

Clients – group  (Note 5.3) 1,296.8 1,427.2 

Clients – others - -

Bad debt clients - -

1,296.8 1,427.2 

Impairment losses - -

1,296.8 1,427.2 
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The balances of non-current receivables from Inapa Deutschland GmbH and Inapa España, SA bear interest at current market rates.

NOTE 12 
THE STATE AND OTHER PUBLIC ENTITIES

On 31 December 2015 and 2014 there were no debts in arrears the State and other public entities. The balances with these entities 
were as follows:

NOTE 13 
OTHER RECEIVABLES

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of the item Other receivable accounts, is as follows:

2015 2014

OTHER RECEIVABLES – NON CURRENT
Inapa Deutschland (Note 5) 20,517.0 20,517.0 

Inapa España (Note 5) 2,500.0 2,500.0 

Fimopriv 1,400.0 -

Others 347.5 347.5 

24,764.5 23,364.5 

Impairment losses -347.5 -347.5 

24,417.0 23,017.0 

OTHER RECEIVABLES – CURRENT

Income increases

Bank interest receivable -  -  

Amounts to be invoiced (Note 18) 3,172.4 2,548.5 

Amounts to be invoiced Group (Note 5) 10.0 -  

3,182.4 2,548.5

Others debtors

Cash advances to personnel -  -  

Group Companies (Note 5) 13,094.4 14,840.1 

Cash advances for account of Group companies -  -  

Insurances -  -  

Other debtors 252.6 1,315.1 

13,347.0 16,155.2 

Impairment losses - -

16,529.3 18,703.7 

DEBIT BALANCES CREDIT BALANCES

2015 2014 2015 2014

Tax on Added Value 273.6 141.3 - -

Tax on Personal Income  Collections 559.8 458.5 66.2 105.8

Social Security - - 44.9 52.7

Tax on Personal Income Single – withholding tax - - 50.9 53.4

833.3 599.8 162.1 211.9
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NOTE 14 
IMPAIRMENTS

During the years 2015 and 2014, the recognized asset impairments had the following transactions:

NOTE 15 
CAPITAL, RESERVES AND OTHER ITEMS OF EQUITY

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, the equity details are as follows:

At 31 December 2015 share capital was represented by 450,980,441 shares, of which 150,000,000 are ordinary shares with no par 
value and 300,980,441 preferred shares that due to the non-distribution of dividends for the exercises of 2012 and 2013, in 2014 
began to confer voting rights, certificated and bearer with no par value. As at December 31, 2015, Equity was fully subscribed and 
issued.

The preferred shares confer the right to a preference dividend of 5% of their issue price (0.18 euros per share), taken from the profits 
that, under applicable law, may be distributed to shareholders. In addition to the preference dividend right, preferred shares confer all 
the rights attaching to ordinary shares, except the right to vote. 

The preferred dividend that is not paid in a fiscal year must be paid within the following three years, before dividends of these, since 
there are distributable profits. In the case of the priority dividend is not fully paid during two fiscal years, preferred shares are to confer 
voting rights on the same terms that the ordinary shares and will only lost this right in the year following that in which the dividends 
have been paid.

FINANCIAL
SHARING

 OTHER RECEIVABLES
M/L TERM

OTHER RECEIVABLES
SHORT TERM

TOTAL

Balance as at 1 January 2014 83.1 347.5 - 430.6
Reinforcement - - - -

Utilizations - - - -

Reversals - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2014 83.1 347.5 - 430.6

Reinforcement - - - -

Utilizations - - - -

Reversals - - - -

Balance as at 31 December 2015 83.1 347.5 - 430.6

2015 2014

Capital 180,135.1 180,135.1

Issuance premium 451.1 451.1

Legal reserves 7,668.0 7,563.7

Other reserves 2,864.0 890.5

Retained earnings 2,494.9 2,640.8

Adjustments in financial assets

Listed with the equity method -2,585.6 -2,441.6

Net income of the fiscal year -402.3 2,078.5

190,625.3 191,318.1
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On December 31, 2015, the Group does not own shares or have occurred any purchases during the year 2015 transactions of own 
shares.

The awards for issue of shares correspond to the difference between the face value of Inapa – IPG shares acquired and its fair 
realization value and cannot be allocated in the form of dividends but may be used to increase share capital or to cover losses. 

The commercial legislation establishes that at least 5% of the annual net income must be used for reinforcement of the legal reserve 
until it represents at least 20% of the capital. This reserve is not distributable except in case of liquidation of the Company, but can be 
used to absorb losses after all other reserves have been exhausted, or incorporated into the capital.

The item Adjustments on financial assets includes transactions in the equity of subsidiaries and associates of Inapa – IPG, following 
application of the equity method. 

Thus, during the months of April and May 2014, the company has been notified, in accordance with Articles 16 and 248 - B of the 
Securities Code and CMVM Regulation 5/2008, the change of qualifying holdings.

At an Extraordinary General Meeting of August 6, 2014, an amendment to the articles of INAPA statues was approved, in which, 
during the period in which the preferred shares confers the right to vote, are not considered votes corresponding to shares held 
by a shareholder or shareholders with whom is subject to a common domain, which exceed one-third of all the votes corresponding 
to the share capital. This decision was object of lawsuit against Inapa-IPG, by one of its shareholder, but the claim has been rejected 
in a sentence given by a Court of Law in the Judicial County of Lisbon.

At the General Meeting of April 28, 2015, the shareholders of INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S.A. deliberated, 
among other things, the proposal for application results presented by the Board of Directors, under which the net income for 
2014, in the amount of 2,078,488.92 euros, would be applied as follows: i) to legal reserve 104,332.19 euros; ii) to free reserves 
1,973,533.63 euros; and iii) to retained earnings 623.00 euros.

The shareholder structure as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, is as follows:

DECEMBER 31, 2015

SHAREHOLDER ORDINARY 
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY 
SHARES

PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% VOTING 
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), SA 49,084,738 32.72% - - 8.26%

Shares attributed to CGD 2,762 0.002% 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

Parcaixa – SGPS, SA - - 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

CGD Pensões – Sociedade Gestora de Fundos de Pensões, SA 1,262 0.001% - - 0.000%

Caixa – Banco de Investimento, SA 1,500 0.001% - - 0.000%

Shares attributed to Millennium BCP 18,452,250 12.3% 121,559,194 40.39% 31.05%

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco Comercial Português 16,491,898 10.99% 45,810,827 15.22% 13.81%

Banco Comercial Português 1,960,352 1.31% 75,748,367 25.17% 17.23%

Novo Banco, SA - - 27,556,665 9.16% 6.11%

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA 13,701,000 9.13% - - 3.04%

Total of Qualified Participations 81,240,750 54.16% 298,004,725 99.01% 73.53%
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DECEMBER 31, 2014

SHAREHOLDER ORDINARY 
SHARES

% OF ORDINARY 
SHARES

PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% PREFERENCIAL 
SHARES

% VOTING 
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas (SGPS), SA 49,084,738 32.72% - - 8.26%

Participação imputável à CGD 2,762 0.002% 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

Parcaixa – SGPS, SA - - 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

CGD Pensões – Sociedade Gestora de Fundos de Pensões, SA 1,262 0.001% - - 0.000%

Caixa – Banco de Investimento, SA 1,500 0.001% - - 0.000%

Participação imputável ao Millennium BCP 26,986,310 17.99% 121,559,194 40.39% 32.94%

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo Banco Comercial Português 16,491,898 10.99% 45,810,827 15.22% 13.81%

Banco Comercial Português 10,494,412 7.00% 75,748,367 25.17% 19.12%

Novo Banco, SA - - 27,556,665 9.16% 6.11%

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA 9,500,000 6.33% - - 2.11%

Total de participações qualificadas 85,573,810 57.05% 298,004,725 99.01% 74.49%
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NOTE 16 
FINANCING OBTAINED

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, loans obtained items are 
analysed as follows:

2015 2014

NON CURRENT
Guaranteed bonds (Note 5) 46,528.0 45,226.2

Bank loans 52,451.4 39,499.4

Commercial Paper 6,350.0 7,450.0

Financial leases 1,463.6 2,053.2

Group Companies (Note 5) 7,020.1 6,366.7

113,813.2 100,595.5

CURRENT

Guaranteed bonds (Note 5) - -

Commercial paper 33,149.5 32,357.3

Overdrafts and bonded accounts 3,825.0 4,720.0

Bank loans - 6,000.0

Other short term loans - 500.3

"Medium and long-term financial instruments 
(portion maturity within 1 year)"

4,476.4 11,675.7

Financial leases 589.3 585.7

Group Companies (Note 5) 21,897.8 18,798.2

63,938.0 74,637.2

177,751.2 175,232.7

The bond loans account correspond to issue of two bonds made 
by Inapa – IPG, one in the amount of 42,700 thousand euros 
with full repayment in June 2018, earning interest at an Euribor 
rate over 6 months plus a spread and the second in the amount 
of 2,500 thousand euros with full repayment in February 2017, 
earning interest at the rate of 4.62 percentage points and other 
in the amount of 1,300 thousand euros with full repayment 
in June 2018, earning interest at the 6 months Euribor rate plus 
a specific spread.. On 31 December 2015 and 2014 these bonds 
were in possession of Inapa France, SA.

The bank loans item – non current (52,451.4 thousand euros) 
and current (4,476.4 thousand euros) include five bank loans 
maturing in 2021.

The total debt related with Commercial Paper is in the amount 
of 39,500 thousand euros and correspond to the emissions 
to 6 financial entities. Three emissions, in the amount of 
8,550 thousand euros are reimbursed in payments with maturity 
between 2016 and 2021 and 4 emissions reimbursed by its 
nominal value, during the period of one year.

The debt to financial institutions, including commercial paper 
bear interests at current market rates.

At the end of fiscal year 2015, the Company also had 
bank credit lines under contract, not used, in the amount 
of 175 thousand euros.

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, the maturity of non-current 
loans is as follows:

The financial leases correspond to the debt for the acquisition 
of assets for the purposes of the financial leases contracts, whose 
assets are booked in “Investment Properties” (Note 7).

In 31 December 2015 and 2014, the leases debts included 
in Financing (Current and Non-Current), is as follows:

2015 2014

Up to 1 year - -

Between 1 and 5 years 110,613.2 78,496.1

Over 5 years 3,200 22,099.4

113,813.2 100,595.5

DEBT RELATED TO FINANCIAL LEASES 2015 2014

Investment suppliers – noncurrent 1,463.6 2,053.2

Investment suppliers – current 589.3 585.7

2,052.9 2,638.9

DEBT RELATED TO FINANCIAL LEASES

Value of income – not discounted

less than 1 year 602.4 602.4

more than 1 year and less than 5 years 1,462.1 2,076.2

more than 5 years - -

2,064.5 2,678.6

Financial onus to bear -11.6 -39.6

Updated value of debt with leases 2,052.9 2,638.9

The debt related to financial leases corresponds to the amount 
owed to BPI leasing arising from a financial lease contract 
maturing in 2017.

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, exposure of loans to changes 
in interest rates pursuant to the contract periods for rate setting 
are as follows:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

151Chapter printed in Inaset Plus Offset 120 g/m2 



2015 2014

OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE – NON CURRENT
Others 2,500.0 2,500.0 

2,500.0 2,500.0

OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE – CURRENT

Expenditure increases

Remunerations payable 256.8 528.2 

Others 11.4 21.3 

268.2 549.5 

Deferred income

Services to invoice 737.2 1,451.4 

737.2 1,451.4 

Other Creditors

Group Companies (Note 5) 3,154.0 4,720.4 

Others 28.3 728.8 

3,182.3 5,449.2 

4,187.8 7,450.1 

2015 2014

Specialized works 1.222,5 455,5

Income and rents 155,6 160,3 

Elocations and stays 75,7 73,3 

Communication 31,7 21,8 

Insurances 47,4 45,9 

Marketing 923,2 461,1 

Others 200,3 235,2 

2.656,4 1..453,1 

2015 2014

Payrolls 1,544.3 1,912.9

Contributions to Social Security 345.7 360.3

Other costs on personnel 399.4 251.3

2,289.4 2,524.6

LOANS 2015 2014

Current 63,938.0 74,637.2

Non current 113,813.2 100,595.5

177,751.2 175,232.7

Cash and bank deposits (Note 4) 88.7 107.6

177,662.5 175,125.2

2015 2014

Other supplementary income 9,513.1 8,264.6 

Royalties of Group companies 313.2 279.1

Revenues 676.6 674.6 

Others 1,198.9 949.4 

11,701.8 10,167.6
On 31 December 2015 and 2014, the net financial debt  

is as follows:

The item Other supplementary income consists mainly of 
additional income earned by the Company with the intervention 
in negotiation processes involving the Inapa Group. Of this 
amount, approximately 3.172 thousand euros (2014: 2.549 
thousand euros) are booked under Other accounts receivable 
(Note 13).

NOTE 19 
EXTERNAL SUPPLIES AND SERVICES

In the fiscal years 2015 and 2014, the breakdown of expenses 
on external supplies and services is as follows:

NOTE 20 
PERSONNEL EXPENSES

In 2015 and 2014, the balances under the heading Personnel 
Expenses are analyzed as follows:

NOTE 17
OTHER PAYABLES

On December 31, 2015 and 2014, breakdown of the item 
Other payable accounts, is as follows:

NOTE 18 
SALES, SERVICES AND OTHER INCOME  
AND GAINS

On 31 December 2015 and 2014, the item Sales and services 
rendered essentially consists of services provided to companies 
belonging to the Inapa Group (Note 5).

During the fiscal year, the Company had on average 
16 employees (2014: 17 employees).

In 2015 and 2014, the item Other income and earnings 
is detailed as follows:

INTEREST RATE  SETTING PERIODS 2015 2014

Up to 6 months 167,231.0 164,794.6

Between 6 and 12 months 1,000.0 1,571.4

Between 1 and 5 years 9,520.2 8,866.7

Over 5 years - -

177,751.2 175,232.7
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NOTE 21 
OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES

Breakdown of the item Other expenses and losses for years 
2015 and 2014 is shown in the following table:

NOTE 24 
EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic earnings per share is calculated from the net profit 
and loss for the year distributable to Inapa – IPG shareholders 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in circulation, as follows:

NOTE 22 
EXPENSES/REVERSAL OF DEPRECIATION  
AND AMORTIZATION

In 2015 and 2014, the balances of this item are analyzed 
as follows:

NOTE 23 
FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENDITURES

The breakdown of financial income and expenses for fiscal 
years 2015 and 2014 is as follows:

2015 2014

Taxes 78.4 100.9 

Contributions 7.1 - 

Donations 12.0 7.8 

Losses of previous fiscal years 183.6 0.1 

Others 31.8 64.7 

313.0 173.6 

2015 2014

Tangible fixed assets 7.4 1.6

Intangible assets 51.7 15.3

Investment properties 563.9 567.5

622.9 584.4

2015 2014

FINANCIAL INCOME
Interest obtained 1,483.0 1,393.4

Exchange differences income 2.9 271.9

Other earnings - -

1,485.9 1,665.3

FINANCIAL EXPENSES

Interest incurred -6,708.4 -7,259.5

Exchange differences losses -3.9 -23.9

Stamp Duty -381.4 -487.7

Other financial costs and expenses -1,563.0 -1,611.1

-8,656.8 -9,382.2

-7,170.9 -7,716.9

At the net profit/loss is deducted the preferred dividend, 
whether it be positive or negative, being applied the same rules 
in determining the amounts to be considered in the calculation 
of earnings per share.

2015 2014

Net profit and loss for the period – in euros -402,274 2,078,489

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 450,980,441 450,980,441

Basic earning per share – in euros -0.001 0.005

NOTE 25 
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT 
ASSETS

Contingent liabilities
On 1 August 2007, Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria 

e Comércio, SA filed against Inapa – Investimentos, Participações 
e Gestão, SA and its subsidiaries Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços, 
Participações e Gestão, SA (extinct) and Inapa Portugal – 
Distribuição de Papel, SA a lawsuit whereby the pleading reads, 
in short:

2015 2014

Net profit and loss for the period (in euros) -402.274 2.078.489

Preferred dividends declared (in euros) - -

-402.274 2.078.489

“Participation of preferred shares in Net  
profit/(loss) for the year after preferred 
dividends (in euros)”

268.474 -1.387.166

“Net profit/(loss) for the year to be charged 
to ordinary shares (in euros)”

-133.800 691.323

Number of ordinary shares 150.000.000 150.000.000

Number of Ordinay Shares -0,001 0,005

Basic earnings per share (in euros) -0,001 0,005

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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• the annulment of the following acts:

• constitution in June 2006 of a commercial pledge to 
counter-guarantee letters of comfort issued by Inapa – 
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, as security for loans 
held by that company from Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa 
Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo;

• business conducted in 1991 of concentrated activities 
in the distribution of paper at SDP (now Inapa Portugal) 
and the production and marketing of envelopes 
at Papelaria Fernandes;

• acquisition of shares in 1994 held by Papelaria Fernandes 
in SDP (now Inapa Portugal);

• Compensation of credits carried out, also in 1994 between 
Papelaria Fernandes and Inaprest.

• condemnation of Inapa:

• to maintain the comfort letters issued in favor of Banco 
Espírito Santo and Caixa Central de Crédito Agrícola 
Mútuo;

• to indemnity Papelaria Fernandes in case 
of any mobilization of the commercial pledge 
as a counter-guarantee for the letters of comfort.

Papelaria Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio SA later came 
to settle their liabilities toward Banco Espírito Santo and Caixa 
Central de Crédito Agrícola Mútuo and therefore:

• the letters of comfort issued by Inapa – IPG are no longer 
applicable, having been returned by their beneficiaries;

• this Company consequently notified Papelaria Fernandes – 
Indústria e Comércio SA to verify the resolutive condition 
of the commercial pledge made by it in favor of this Company.

The lawsuit, which was assigned a value of 24,460 thousand 
euros, was challenged by Inapa – IPG and by its subsidiary Inapa 
Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, SA, is currently awaiting the 
Court to determine the effects on the dissolution or liquidation 
action of Inaprest – Prestação de Serviços, Participações e Gestão, 
SA. The Inapa Group believes that the aforesaid process should 
not result in significant charges and no provision has been made.

During the second quarter of 2015, was filed a lawsuit against 
Inapa – IPG, by its shareholder Parcaixa SGPS, SA, in which 
claims:

NOTE 27 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Until the publication of this report there were no subsequent 
events.

2015 2014

Legal review services of accounts  
and auditing

65,800 65,800

Chartered accountant fiscal  
consulting services

3,750 7,850

Other services - 3,750

69,550 77,400

a)  Annulation of the deliberation adopted by the General 
Meeting in 28 April 2015, that approved to transfer to Free 
Reserves the amount of 1,973,533.63 euros and to Retained 
Earnings the amount of 623 euros, arguing that these 
amounts should be affected to the payment of the preferred 
shares priority dividend;

b)  Be issued a judgment, in substitution of the deliberation, 
in which is announced that the amounts affected, by 
the General Meeting deliberation, to Free Reserves and 
to Retained Earnings, be affected to the payment of the 
preferred shares priority dividend.

Liabilities for bank guarantees
The Company has provided several bank guarantees through 

several financial institutions, totaling 84.9 million euros, on 
behalf of Inapa France, SAS (6.5 million) and for the purpose 
of issuing commercial paper (42.1 million euros) and for other 
financings (36.4 million euros). 

NOTE 26 
FEES FOR SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE 
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT

In the fiscal years ended on 31 December 2015 and in 2014, 
the amounts incurred, in euros, for services rendered by the 
chartered accountant to Inapa – IPG are as follows:
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Shareholders,

In conformance with the provisions of sub-paragraph g) of paragraph 1 of Article 423-F of the “Código das Sociedades Comerciais” 
(the Portuguese Companies Act) and Article 22 of the company bylaws, the Audit Committee of Board of Directors of INAPA – 
Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, SA hereby presents its 2015 annual report on its auditing activities and its assessment of the 
management report and the individual and consolidated financial statements, relating to the financial year ended on December 31, 
2015, as well as the proposal on the distribution of earnings, presented by the Board of Directors.

Activities undertaken by the Audit Committee
During the year, the Audit Committee regularly monitored the evolution of business and the Company’s activity (as well as its legal 

and regulatory framework)- and indirectly its subsidiaries in Portugal and abroad - and its management through the participation of its 
members in the Board of Directors meetings, verification of the minutes of the Executive Committee, specific meetings, contacts and other 
measures with it or with its members, the screening of periodically available operational and financial information and even the contact 
details deemed appropriate with the various operational and functional managers and with the Statutory Auditor and External Auditor.

Through this set of activities the Audit Committee was established to ensure in particular: 

• The administration and management of the Company are always guided by the law and the bylaws and in the interests of the 
Company;

• The accuracy of the financial records, accounting records and supporting documents and materials.
• That the accounting policies and valuation criteria adopted are appropriate to the circumstances, leading to a correct valuation 

of the assets and results and are adequately disclosed;
• The adequacy and efficiency of risk and internal control management systems.

As a consequence of the resignation of the Vice-chairman and CEO, the Audit Committee has overseen the substitution process, the 
redistribution of responsibilities and recomposition of the statutory bodies.

The Audit Committee was aware of key executive decisions, having analysed particularly the ones related with stakes in companies, 
financing, reorganization of services, cost rationalization, efficiency improvement and economic and financial development, on which 
has asked and obtained the clarification that were considered pertinent. 

Regarding the negotiations to restructure the debt of the Group the Audit Committee has consistently followed its evolution and 
the terms and conditions agreed and achieved, whether through the participation of its members in meetings of the Board of Directors 
or in contacts and specific diligences with the Executive Committee.

In accordance with internal regulation concerning business with related entities, it was submitted to the Committee the specific 
audit assessment two cases, related with the restructuring of debt with Millennium BCP, on which gave a favourable opinion.

On accounting policies, regularity of logbooks and accountability, the Audit Committee conducted the regular monitoring of the 
preparation of periodic financial information, quarterly, interim and annual disclosure according to the regulation, and for this purpose 
its members, individually or collectively, held meetings and other contacts deemed appropriate with the executive management, the 
heads of the departments involved, the Statutory Auditor and External Auditor with whom maintained a regular contact program.

On judgments and estimates, given the nature and relevance of intangible assets – particularly goodwill, brands, deferred taxes and 
employee benefits - they were subject to a special attention by the Audit Committee, who analysed the relevant parameters and the 
reasonableness of the judgments made and the results to be leading, as well as the sensitivity analysis.

The Committee proceeded with the supervision of the work performed by Chartered Accountant and the External Auditor in the 
examination of accounts, in its various stages from planning to the issuance of an opinion, and confirmed the independence of the 
chartered Accountant.
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It has been specially analysed and reviewed the annual work plan, conclusions of the limited half-year review and preliminary and 
final conclusion of the Chartered Accountant and the External Auditor, as well final opinion, audit recommendations and regular 
communications to the Audit Committee.

Relatively to independence and additional services, it has analysed and reviewed the non-audit services, including fiscal assistance 
services, albeit of limited extent, performed by the network to which the Chartered Accountant belongs to, namely its goals, conditions 
in which the service was provided, adopted safeguards and reasonability of the fees, terms which has considered appropriated to the 
preservation of its independence.

The main risks of the Company and the Group are subject to and the efficacy of the management systems and internal control were 
subject to particular attention of the Audit Committee, highlighting:

• The reorganization of the management function and internal audit, with the creation of a new organic unit.
• The evolution of the work on systematic formalization of relevant data and elements of the systems of risk management and 

internal control of INAPA IPG and the companies comprising the Group.
• The development of the internal audit function within the Company and the Group, planning and implementing its activities and 

performance. 
• The global assessment of the existing model in terms of adequacy, resources allocated, performance and efficacy, as well as the 

identification of adjustments to obtain improvements.

Under the constitution, structure and development of the Risk Office & Internal Audit, the Audit Committee closely followed, 
analyzed and provided its opinion in particular on the model and the registered letter of the new organizational unit, the nomination 
of its responsible, the risk management and internal audit manual and the objectives and activities of the year and medium-term plan, 
contemplating whether the systematic formalization of relevant data and elements that make up the systems of risk management and 
internal control of INAPA IPG and its subsidiaries, or the initial internal audit actions developed through external means.

In the area of Information Technology, were discussed with its responsible the strategic objectives, priority actions, the consolidation 
of the IT infrastructure, governance models and adopted risk management procedures, with a more detailed focus on the extension 
program to the other Group companies of common computer platforms to support the operations, particularly the ISI system, which 
has considerable potential for expediting timely and reliable management information, strengthening existing internal control 
mechanisms and rationalize costs.

To support the proposal for the election of the Chartered Accountant for the period 2016-2018 to be submitted to the General 
Meeting, the Audit Committee developed a process of consultation and selection in compliance with new laws and regulations 
currently in effect, namely on audit oversight. 

During the year 2015, in addition to its members having participated in all meetings of the Board of Directors within the scope of 
its responsibilities and powers, the Audit Committee held thirteen (13) meetings and performed measures it deemed necessary and 
appropriate.

Under the rules of the Company on whistleblowing, has not come to the attention of the Audit Committee the occurrence of any 
relevant cases raised by any form or participated by shareholders, company employees or others.

In the exercise of its auditing activities, from which the corresponding minutes were drawn up, the Audit Committee has always 
counted on the availability and collaboration of the Executive Board and the company’s services, as well as the Chartered Accountant 
and External Auditor.

In the course of its action, the Audit Committee has not come across with any constraints worth nothing.
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Opinion regarding reports and accounts 
The Audit Committee examined the Directors Report and the individual and consolidated financial statements relating 

to the financial year ending on December 31st 2015 (which includes the balance sheet, separate income statements, statements 
of comprehensive income,  cash flow statements and those regarding changes in shareholder’s equity as well as the respective notes 
to the accounts), documents with which it agrees.

The individual statements were drafted in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in Portugal (namely SNC) and 
the consolidated statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by 
the European Union.

The Audit Committee examined the legal Certificates for the Accounts and Audit Reports regarding the individual and consolidated 
financial information issued by the company’s Chartered Accountant and External Auditor, documents with which it is in agreement.

In view of the above mentioned points and the activities performed, the Audit Committee is of the opinion that the Management 
Report and the individual and consolidated financial statements, relating to the financial year of 2015, as well as the proposal for the 
distribution of earnings contained in the Management Report, are in accordance with applicable laws and regulations, due to which 
they are worthy of approval at the Shareholders Meeting. 

Declaration of conformance
In conformance with the provisions of nr. 1, sub-paragraph c) of Article 245 of CVM (the securities Code), the members of the Audit 

Committee of the Board of Directors of INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão, S:A:, hereby declare that, to the best of their 
knowledge, the information contained in the Directors Report,  in the annual accounts, in the Legal Certification of Accounts and in all 
other documents for the rendering of individual and consolidated accounts, required by law or regulations, with regards to December 
31ST 2015, was issued in accordance with applicable accounting standards, thereby giving a truthful and appropriate view of the assets 
and liabilities, the financial situation and the earnings of the company and the companies included within consolidated statements, 
and that the Directors Report faithfully represents the growth of the company’s business, the performance and the standing of the 
company and the companies included within consolidated statements, and that the Directors Report faithfully represents the growth 
of the company’s business, the performance and the standing of the company and the companies included in consolidated statements, 
including a description of the main risks and uncertainties affecting the companies.

In conformance with the provisions of numbers 5 and 6 of Article 420 of the Commercial Companies Act, in order to fulfil the 
provisions of nr.2 of Article 423-F of the same code, the Audit Committee hereby declares that:

• The Governance report, which follows the CMVM model and constitutes a specific chapter of the Directors Report, includes the 
elements referred in article 245-A CVM (the Securities Code);

• It agrees with abovementioned Directors Report and annual accounts.

Lisbon, March 23rd, 2016

THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

Emídio de Jesus Maria
Board Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís
Board Member and member of the Audit Committee 

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho
Board Member and member of Audit Committee
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Introduction

T his Corporate Governance report was prepared 
in accordance with the Regulation of CMVM 
n.º 4/2013 from July 12. 

The reports follows the structure of Annex I of the previously 
mentioned CMVM Regulation. 

Compliance Statement
The CMVM text of the corporate governance code to which the 

issuer is subject (CGS CMVM 2013) are transcript in this report. 

The text of the governance reports referring to this company 
is available at: 

• The Company’s Head Office, in Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 – 9.º D, 
in Lisbon – Portugal;

• The company’s corporate website: www.inapa.com;
• The website of  Comissão do Mercado de Valores Mobiliários: 

www.cmvm.pt;

The company hereby informs that this Report will be available 
for consultation at all of the aforementioned locations and may 
be obtained separately or as an Addendum to the Annual Report 
and Accounts of the Company, of which it is an integral part.
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RECOMMENDATION/CHAPTER COMPLIANCE REMISSION IN 
THE REPORT

I. VOTING AND COPORATE CONTROL

I.1. Companies shall encourage shareholders to attend and vote at general meetings and shall 
not set an excessively large number of shares required for the entitlement of one vote, and 
implement the means necessary to exercise the right to vote by mail and electronically.

Partially complied  
(it is the company’s 
understanding that it is 
the in the best interest 
of its shareholders not 
to implement electronic 
voting)

12

I.2. Companies shall not adopt mechanisms that hinder the passing of resolutions by share-
holders, including fixing a quorum for resolutions greater than that provided for by law.  

Yes 14

I.3. Companies shall not establish mechanisms intended to cause mismatching between the 
right to receive dividends or the subscription of new securities and the voting right of each 
common share, unless duly justified in terms of long-term interests of shareholders. 

Yes 1

I.4. The company’s articles of association that provide for the restriction of the number of 
votes that may be held or exercised by a sole shareholder, either individually or in concert 
with other shareholders, shall also foresee for a resolution by the General Assembly (5 year 
intervals), on whether that statutory provision is to be amended or prevails – without super 
quorum requirements as to the one legally in force – and that in said resolution, all votes 
issued be counted, without applying said restriction.  

Yes 13

I.5. Measures that require payment or assumption of fees by the company in the event of 
change of control or change in the composition of the Board and that which appear likely 
to impair the free transfer of shares and free assessment by shareholders of the perfor-
mance of Board members, shall not be adopted.  

Yes 1

2

4

5

6

II. SUPERVISION, MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT 

II.1. SUPERVISION AND MANAGEMENT

II.1.1. Within the limits established by law, and except for the small size of the company, the board 
of directors shall delegate the daily management of the company and said delegated pow-
ers shall be identified in the Annual Report on Corporate Governance.   

Yes 16

21

II.1.2. The Board of Directors shall ensure that the company acts in accordance with its objectives 
and shall not delegate its responsibilities as regards the following: i) define the strategy 
and general policies of the company, ii) define business structure of the group iii) decisions 
considered strategic due to the amount, risk and particular characteristics involved.   

Yes 21

II.1.3. The General and Supervisory Board, in addition to its supervisory duties supervision, shall 
take full responsibility at corporate governance level, whereby through the statutory pro-
vision or by equivalent means, shall enshrine the requirement for this body to decide on 
the strategy and major policies of the company, the definition of the corporate structure 
of the group and the decisions that shall be considered strategic due to the amount or risk 
involved. This body shall also assess compliance with the strategic plan and the implemen-
tation of key policies of the company.  

Not applicable  
(the company does not have 
a General and Supervisory 
Board)

15

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
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RECOMMENDATION/CHAPTER COMPLIANCE REMISSION IN 
THE REPORT

II.1.4. Except for small-sized companies, the Board of Directors and the General and Supervisory 
Board, depending on the model adopted, shall create the necessary committees in order to:    
a)  Ensure a competent and independent assessment of the performance of the executive 

directors and its own overall performance, as well as of other committees; 
b) Reflect on the system structure and governance practices adopted, verify its efficiency 
and propose to the competent bodies, measures to be implemented with a view to their 
improvement.   

Yes
(given the size of the 
Company, of its Board of 
Directors, and of the duties 
performed by its Audit 
Committee, it was considered 
that the appointment of any 
of the indicated )

27

II.1.5. The Board of Directors or the General and Supervisory Board, depending on the applica-
ble model, should set goals in terms of risk-taking and create systems for their control to 
ensure that the risks effectively incurred are consistent with those goals. 

Yes 50
52
53
54
55

II.1.6. The Board of Directors shall include a number of non-executive members ensuring effec-
tive monitoring, supervision and assessment of the activity of the remaining members of 
the board. 

Yes 18

II.1.7. Non-executive members shall include an appropriate number of independent members, 
taking into account the adopted governance model, the size of the company, its sharehold-
er structure and the relevant free float. The independence of the members of the General 
and Supervisory Board and members of the Audit Committee shall be assessed as per the 
law in force. The other members of the Board of Directors are considered independent if 
the member is not associated with any specific group of interests in the company nor is 
under any circumstance likely to affect an exempt analysis or decision, particularly due to:  
a)  Having been an employee at the company or at a company holding a controlling or 

group relationship within the last three years;  
b)  Having, in the past three years, provided services or established commercial relationship 

with the company or company with which it is in a control or group relationship, either 
directly or as a partner, board member, manager or director of a legal person; 

c)  Being paid by the company or by a company with which it is in a control or group rela-
tionship besides the remuneration arising from the exercise of the functions of a board 
member; 

d)  Living with a partner or a spouse, relative or any first degree next of kin and up to and 
including the third degree of collateral affinity of board members or natural persons that 
are direct and indirectly holders of qualifying holdings;  

e)  Being a qualifying shareholder or representative of a qualifying shareholder.  

Yes
(three out of five 
non-executive Directors 
are independent)

18

II.1.8.  When board members that carry out executive duties are requested by other board mem-
bers, said shall provide the information requested, in a timely and appropriate manner to 
the request.  

Yes 21

II.1.9. The Chair of the Executive Board or of the Executive Committee shall submit, as applica-
ble, to the Chair of the Board of Directors, the Chair of the Supervisory Board, the Chair of 
the Audit Committee, the Chair of the General and Supervisory Board and the Chairman of 
the Financial Matters Board, the convening notices and minutes of the relevant meetings. 

Yes 21
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RECOMMENDATION/CHAPTER COMPLIANCE REMISSION IN 
THE REPORT

II.1.10.  If the chair of the board of directors carries out executive duties, said body shall appoint, 
from among its members, an independent member to ensure the coordination of the work 
of other non-executive members and the conditions so that said can make independent 
and informed decisions or to ensure the existence of an equivalent mechanism for such 
coordination. 

Not applicable
(the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors does 
not have any executive 
functions)

18

II.2. SUPERVISION

II.2.1. Depending on the applicable model, the Chair of the Supervisory Board, the Audit Com-
mittee or the Financial Matters Committee shall be independent in accordance with the 
applicable legal standard, and have the necessary skills to carry out their relevant duties.  

Yes 18
19
33

II.2.2. The supervisory body shall be the main representative of the external auditor and the first 
recipient of the relevant reports, and is responsible, inter alia, for proposing the relevant 
remuneration and ensuring that the proper conditions for the provision of services are 
provided within the company.  

Yes 21

II.2.3. The supervisory board shall assess the external auditor on an annual basis and propose to 
the competent body its dismissal or termination of the contract as to the provision of their 
services when there is a valid basis for said dismissal.

Yes 21

II.2.4. The supervisory board shall assess the functioning of the internal control systems and risk 
management and propose adjustments as may be deemed necessary. 

Yes 21
50

II.2.5. The Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory Board and the Supervisory Board de-
cide on the work plans and resources concerning the internal audit services and services 
that ensure compliance with the rules applicable to the company (compliance services), 
and should be recipients of reports made by these services at least when it concerns mat-
ters related to accountability, identification or resolution of conflicts of interest and detec-
tion of potential improprieties.

Yes 21
49
51

II.3. REMUNERATION SETTING

II.3.1. All members of the Remuneration Committee or equivalent should be independent from 
the executive board members and include at least one member with knowledge and expe-
rience in matters of remuneration policy. 

Yes 67
68

II.3.2. Any natural or legal person that provides or has provided services in the past three years, 
to any structure under the board of directors, the board of directors of the company itself 
or who has a current relationship with the company or consultant of the company, shall 
not be hired to assist the Remuneration Committee in the performance of their duties. This 
recommendation also applies to any natural or legal person that is related by employment 
contract or provision of services with the above. 

Yes 69

II.3.3. A statement on the remuneration policy of the management and supervisory bodies re-
ferred to in Article 2 of Law No. 28/2009 of 19 June, shall also contain the following:
a)  Identification and details of the criteria for determining the remuneration paid to the 

members of the governing bodies;  
 b)  Information regarding the maximum potential, in individual terms, and the maximum 

potential, in aggregate form, to be paid to members of corporate bodies, and identify 
the circumstances whereby these maximum amounts may be payable; 

 c)  Information regarding the enforceability or unenforceability of payments for the dis-
missal or termination of appointment of board members. 

Yes

Not applicable
(variable remuneration is 
exceptionally suspended) 

Yes

69
70
71
73
74
75
76
80
83

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
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RECOMMENDATION/CHAPTER COMPLIANCE REMISSION IN 
THE REPORT

II.3.4. Approval of plans for the allotment of shares and/or options to acquire shares or based 
on share price variation to board members shall be submitted to the General Meeting. The 
proposal shall contain all the necessary information in order to correctly assess said plan. 

Not applicable 85

II.3.5. Approval of any retirement benefit scheme established for members of corporate mem-
bers shall be submitted to the General Meeting. The proposal shall contain all the neces-
sary information in order to correctly assess said system.  

Not applicable 76

III. REMUNERATION

III.1. The remuneration of the executive members of the board shall be based on actual perfor-
mance and shall discourage taking on excessive risk-taking.  

Yes 70

III.2. The remuneration of non-executive board members and the remuneration of the members 
of the supervisory board shall not include any component whose value depends on the 
performance of the company or of its value.  

Yes 70

III.3. The variable component of remuneration shall be reasonable overall in relation to the fixed 
component of the remuneration and maximum limits should be set for all components. 

Not applicable 69
70

III.4. A significant part of the variable remuneration should be deferred for a period not less than 
three years, and the right of way payment shall depend on the continued positive perfor-
mance of the company during that period.  

Not applicable 69
70

III.5. Members of the Board of Directors shall not enter into contracts with the company or with 
third parties which intend to mitigate the risk inherent to remuneration variability set by 
the company.  

Not applicable 69
70

III.6. Executive board members shall maintain the company’s shares that were allotted by virtue 
of variable remuneration schemes, up to twice the value of the total annual remuneration, 
except for those that need to be sold for paying taxes on the gains of said shares, until the 
end of their mandate. 

Not applicable
(shares held by executive 
Directors were not attributed 
by the Company as a result 
of variable remuneration) 

73

III.7. When the variable remuneration includes the allocation of options, the beginning of the 
exercise period shall be deferred for a period not less than three years.  

Not applicable 73

III.8. When the removal of board member is not due to serious breach of their duties nor to their 
unfitness for the normal exercise of their functions but is yet due on inadequate perfor-
mance, the company shall be endowed with the adequate and necessary legal instruments 
so that any damages or compensation, beyond that which is legally due, is unenforceable. 

No 83

IV. AUDITING  

IV.1. The external auditor shall, within the scope of its duties, verify the implementation of re-
muneration policies and systems of the corporate bodies as well as the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms and report any shortcomings to the su-
pervisory body of the company. 

Yes 46
50
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RECOMMENDATION/CHAPTER COMPLIANCE REMISSION IN 
THE REPORT

IV.2. The company or any entity with which it maintains a control relationship shall not engage 
the external auditor or any entity with which it finds itself in a group relationship or that 
incorporates the same network, for services other than audit services. If there are reasons 
for hiring such services – which must be approved by the supervisory board and explained 
in its Annual Report on Corporate Governance – said should not exceed more than 30% of 
the total value of services rendered to the company.

Yes 41
46
47

IV.3. Companies shall support auditor rotation after two or three terms whether four or three 
years, respectively. Its continuance beyond this period must be based on a specific opinion 
of the supervisory board that explicitly considers the conditions of auditor’s independence 
and the benefits and costs of its replacement. 

Yes 40
43
44

V. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

V.1. The company’s business with holders of qualifying holdings or entities with which they are 
in any type of relationship pursuant to article 20 of the Portuguese Securities Code, shall 
be conducted during normal market conditions.

Yes 10
89

V.2. The supervisory or oversight board shall establish procedures and criteria that are required 
to define the relevant level of significance of business with holders of qualifying holdings 
– or entities with which they are in any of the relationships described in article 20/1 of the 
Portuguese Securities Code – thus significant relevant business is dependent upon prior 
opinion of that body. 

Yes 89

VI. INFORMATION

VI.1. Companies shall provide, via their websites in both the Portuguese and English languages, 
access to information on their progress as regards the economic, financial and governance 
state of play. 

Yes 56

VI.2. Companies shall ensure the existence of an investor support and market liaison office, 
which responds to requests from investors in a timely fashion and a record of the submitted 
requests and their processing, shall be kept.

Yes 58

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
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Part I – Information 
on Shareholder 
Structure, 
Organisation 
and Corporate 
Governance 

A. Shareholder Structure  
I. CAPITAL STRUCTURE

1 The capital structure (share capital, number of shares, 
distribution of capital by shareholders, etc.), including an 

indication of shares that are not admitted to trading, different classes 
of shares, rights and duties of same and the capital percentage that 
each class represents (Article 245-A/1/a)). 

The share capital of the Company is represented 
by 150,000,000 ordinary shares with no face value and a € 1 
emission value and 300,980,441 preferred shares with no voting 
right, no face value and € 0.18 emission value. Ordinary shares 
represent 33.3% of total issued share and preferred shares 66.7%.

All shares are listed in the Euronext Stock Exchange and 
give their respective owners the same right to participate 
on the results of the company, being considered that the 
preferred shares, due to its nature, have a dividend preference 
corresponding to 5% of their emission value, being the remaining 
dividend distributed in the proportion of ordinary and preferred 
shares owners.

All ordinary shares and preferred shares, when they have 
voting right, qualify for the same voting rights – 1 vote per 
share, without prejudice of the voting right limitations stated 
on article 13A of the company bylaws that state “during the 
time horizon in which the preferred shares have voting right, 
according to article 342 number 3 of the Commercial Code, it will 
not be considered the votes from one shareholder, in his name 
or representing other, which exceed one third of the total votes 
of the share capital.” 

The Company has not established any mechanism that has 
the effect of undermining the free transferability of shares, free 
appraisal by the shareholders of the performance of members 
of the governing body or cause mismatch between the right to 
receive dividends or to subscribe for new securities and the right 
to vote for each ordinary share.

On point 7 it is described the information about qualified 
stakes.

On the Extraordinary General Meeting of August 6, 2014 it 
was approved that during the time horizon when the preferred 
shares have voting right, the votes owned by one shareholder 
or in representation of other that exceed one third of the voting 
rights shall not be considered. The limitation also applies to the 
shares that are hold by a shareholder with a common domain, 
being limited proportionally, when this applies to several 
shareholders.

2  Restrictions on the transfer of shares, such as clauses on 
consent for disposal, or limits on the ownership of shares 
(Article 245-A/1/b)). 

There are no restrictions to the free transfer of ownership 
of the shares other than the ones arising from the applicable law 
(namely the obligation to launch a public tender offering when 
the shareholder ownership exceeds 1/3 or 1/2 of the total voting 
rights). 
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3  Number of own shares, the percentage of share capital that it 
represents and corresponding percentage of voting rights that 
corresponded to own shares (Article 245-A/1/a)). 

 
The company does not hold any own share. 

4 Important agreements to which the company is a party and 
that come into effect, amend or terminated in cases such 

as a change in the control of the company after a takeover bid, and 
the respective effects, except where due to their nature, the disclosure 
thereof would be seriously detrimental to the company; this exception 
does not apply where the company is specifically required to disclose 
said information pursuant to other legal requirements (Article 
245-A/1/j). 

The Company is not a party to any agreement that will come 
into force, be amended or terminate in the event of a mere 
change in the Company’s controlling shareholder. 

It is not included, on what was previously mentioned, any 
dispositions medium / long term financing established with 
the banking system, in obedience to certain clauses typified 
amendment or termination of contracts provisions, whenever 
a new shareholder structure may not offer the same guarantees 
the solvency of the company.

5 A system that is subject to the renewal or withdrawal 
of countermeasures, particularly those that provide for 

a restriction on the number of votes capable of being held or exercised 
by only one shareholder individually or together with other 
shareholders. 

 
The company has not adopted any measure of this nature.

6  Shareholders’ agreements that the company is aware of and 
that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities 
or voting rights (Article 245-A/1/g).   

The company is not aware of any agreements signed by its 
shareholders.

II. SHAREHOLDINGS AND BONDS 
HELD 

7 Details of the natural or legal persons who, directly 
or indirectly, are holders of qualifying holdings (Article 

245-A/1/c) & /d) and Article 16) with details of the percentage 
of capital and votes attributed and the source and causes of the 
attribution.  

The shareholders with qualifying holding on 31 December, 
2015 were: 

A. SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
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ORDINARY 
SHARES

% ORDINARY 
SHARES

PREFERRED 
SHARES

 % PREFERRED 
SHARES

% VOTING 
RIGHTS

Parpública – Participações Públicas SGPS, SA 49,084,738 32.72% 8.26%
CGD (art. 20º paragrah b of CVM) 2,762 0.002% 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

Fundo de Pensões de CGD 1,262 0.001% 0.00%

Caixa Banco de Investimento, SA 1,500 0.001% 0.00%

Parcaixa – SGPS, SA 148,888,866 49.47% 25.07%

Participação imputável ao Millenium BCP (art. 20º of CVM) 18,452,250 12.30% 121,559,194 40.39% 31.05%

Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP 16,491,898 10.99% 45,810,827 15.22% 13.81%

Banco Comercial Português, SA 1,960,352 1.31% 75,748,367 25.17% 17.23%

Novo Banco, SA 27,556,665 9.16% 6.11%

Nova Expressão SGPS, SA 13,701,000 9.13% 3.04%

Total qualified holdings 81,240,750 54.16% 298,004,725 99.01% 73.36%

NUMBER OF 
ORDINARY SHARES

NUMBER OF 
PREFERRED SHARES

NUMBER OF 
BONDS

Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia 0 0 0

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende (co-optation in 29.07.2015) 0 0 0

Emídio de Jesus Maria 0 0 0

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen 0 0 0

António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque 0 0 0

Frederico João de Moser Lupi (co-optation in 01.10.2015) 0 0 0

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís 0 0 0

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho 0 0 0

The shares from “Fundo de Pensões do Grupo BCP” have been 
allocated to Banco Comercial Português, SA in accordance with 
article 16 of CVM and the opinion on generic allocation of voting 
rights to pension Funds from CMVM on May 25, 2006, as stated 
in the statement of Banco Comercial Português, SA which was the 
object of a notice issued by the company on February 25, 2008.

8 A list of the number of shares and bonds held by members of 
the management and supervisory boards.  

[NOTE: the information should be provided so that Article 447/5 CCC 
is complied with]
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DATE NATURE ISIN CODE MARKET QUANTITY PRICE/UN. VALUE

04.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 10,000 0.154€ 1.540€

05.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 5,250 0.155€ 814€

08.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 5,000 0.154€ 770€

08.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 10,000 0.153€ 1.530€

09.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 9,000 0.153€ 1.377€

10.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 20,000 0.149€ 2.980€

11.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 15,000 0.150€ 2.250€

12.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 27,001 0.150€ 4.050€

15.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 10,000 0.146€ 1.460€

16.06.2015 Venda PTINA0AP008 Euronext Lisbon 40,000 0.143€ 5.720€

151,251

The board members that ceased function in 30.06.2015 and 
31.08.2015, José Manuel Félix Morgado and Jorge Manuel 
Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo, respectively, hold 37,886 ordinary 
shares, the first, and 0 shares, the second.

Until June 30, 2015, José Manuel Félix Morgado has done the 
following transactions, which he purchased and were not being 
related with any incentive scheme from the company:

A. SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
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B. Corporate Boards 
and Committees 
I. GENERAL MEETING   

 
A) COMPOSITION OF THE PRESIDING BOARD OF THE 
GENERAL MEETING (THROUGHOUT THE SAID YEAR)

11  Details and position of the members of the Presiding 
Board of the General Meeting and respective term of office 
(beginning and end). 

 
At present, the Board of the General Meeting of Shareholders 

is composed by the following members:
• Chairman – Dr. João Vieira de Almeida
• Secretary – Dr.ª Sofia Barata

The current composition of the Board of the General Meeting 
of Shareholders was established jointly with the election of the 
Governing Bodies in the General Meeting of May 7 2013. The 
current term will end on December 31, 2015.

Besides the support of the secretary, the Chairman of the 
Board of the General Meeting also has the support of the 
company’s secretary as well as its administrative services that are 
deemed adequate and sufficient for the right performance of his 
duties. 

B) EXERCISING THE RIGHT TO VOTE 

12 Any restrictions on the right to vote, such as restrictions 
on voting rights subject to holding a number or percentage 

of shares, deadlines for exercising voting rights, or systems whereby 
the financial rights attaching to securities are separated from the 
holding of securities (Article 245-A/1/f); 

 
The Company’s Articles of Association does not stipulate any 

restriction to voting rights, namely restrictions after a certain 
number of shares is reached, bellowing to one shareholder or 
related shareholders. 

Paragraph 1 of Article 23-C CVM (Securities Exchange 
Commission) stipulates, as written in Decree-Law 49/2010 
of May 19, that “Shareholders may participate and exercise their 
voting rights at meetings of the General Meeting provided they 
hold shares, at 0 hours (TMG) of the fifth business day prior 
to the date of the meeting (registration date), that entitle them, 
according to the law and the Company’s Articles of Associations, 
to at least one vote”. 

9 Special powers of the Board of Directors, especially as regards 
resolutions on the capital increase (Article 245-A/1/i) with 

an indication as to the allocation date, time period within which said 
powers may be carried out, the upper ceiling for the capital increase, 
the amount already issued pursuant to the allocation of powers and 
mode of implementing the powers assigned. 

By deliberation of the General Meeting of April 6 2011, 
the Board of Directors is entitled to resolve on a share capital 
increase up to a maximum of € 225,000,000.00, having 
changed number 1 article 7 of the company’ bylaws, which 
now states that “The Board of Directors may increase the share 
capital one or more times, by means of cash payments, up to 
a maximum of € 225,000,000.00 (two hundred and twenty 
five million Euros), through preferred shares with no voting 
right and a priority dividend of 5% of subscription value, with 
a subscription reserve to current shareholders.”

Under this authorization, the share capital of the company 
has been increased from € 150,000,000.00 to € 204,176,479.38, 
through the issuance of 300,980,441 shares.

The Board of Directors remain entitled to authorize until 
the maximum legal term – 5 years from the authorization – 
on a share capital increase up to € 20,823,520.62, through the 
emission of preferred shares with no voting right and a priority 
dividend of 5% of subscription value, with a subscription reserve 
to current shareholders and realized by means of cash payments.

 

10  Information on any significant business relationships 
between the holders of qualifying holdings and the 
company.   

No business or transactions, out of normal market conditions, 
were entered into by the Company and owners of qualifying 
holdings or entity relationships with the former, as envisaged 
in Article 20 of the CVM (Securities Code).

The transactions with related entities are described on note 
34 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Statutory regulations on the exercise of voting by post are set 
out in paragraph 2 of Article 13 of the company’s bylaws, which 
stipulate that:

“Shareholders may exercise their voting rights by post. To do 
so, they should address a registered letter with recorded delivery 
to the Chairman of the Board of the General Meeting at least 
three working days prior to the date of the session of the General 
Meeting in question.” 

The company’s bylaws do not contemplate any rules relatively 
to systems to detach equity rights.

The company considers that it is in the best interest of its 
shareholders not to implement an electronic voting system, 
as i) until now there was no request or intention of participation 
on a General Meeting from a shareholder or potential investors, 
ii) on the last General Meetings there was a low number 
of participants and iii) the implementation of a system allowing 
electronic voting in a safe way, would represent a significant cost.

13  Details of the maximum percentage of voting rights 
that may be exercised by a single shareholder or by 
shareholders that are in any relationship as set out  
in Article 20/1.

 
On the Extraordinary General Meeting of August 6, 2014 

it was approved that during the period of time in which the 
preferred shares have voting right, the votes owned by one 
shareholder or in representation of other that exceed one third 
of the voting rights shall not be considered. The limitation 
also applies to the shares that are hold by a shareholder with 
a common domain, being limited proportionally, when this 
applies to several shareholders.

On this deliberation it is also defined that the Board 
of Directors has to submit every five years a proposal to change 
or maintain this limitation, without super quorum requirements 
relative to complementarily quorum established by law. On this 
deliberation all votes are counted, not being applied the 
limitation.

14 Details of shareholders’ resolutions that, imposed by the 
articles of association, may only be taken with a qualified 

majority, in addition to those legally provided, and details of said 
majority. 

The Company’s Articles of Association do not impose any 
qualified majority, in addition to those legally provided: 

•  The General Meeting shall decide at first call about 
changes in the Articles of Association, mergers, asset split, 
dissolution and other issues that require a qualified majority, 
whenever a number of shareholders or their representatives, 
whose holdings represent at least 1/3 of share capital are 
in attendance; on a second call the General Meeting can 
decide independently of the represented share capital 
(Article 383, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the Companies Act);

•  The resolutions mentioned on the previous paragraph need 
to be approved by 2/3 of the votes, in first or second call; 
in the case of second call, if at least half of the share capital 
is represented, the resolutions can be approved by simple 
majority.

II. MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISION 
(BOARD OF DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE 
BOARD AND THE GENERAL AND 
SUPERVISORY BOARD)

A) COMPOSITION (THROUGHOUT THE SAID YEAR)

15 Details of corporate governance model adopted. 
 

Pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders of May 31, 2007, the Company adopted the 
governance model set out in the provisions of sub-paragraph b) 
of paragraph 1 of Article 278 of the CSC (Companies Act) as its 
statutory administration and supervisory structure, comprising 
a Board of Directors, an Audit Committee and a Chartered 
Accountant and Auditor.

In the Board of Directors Meeting of May 14, 2013 it was 
approved the Board of Directors regulation and it was created 
an Executive Committee, to which the daily management of the 
company was delegated. 

16 Articles of association rules on the procedural 
requirements governing the appointment and 

replacement of members of the Board of Directors, the Executive 
Board and the General and Supervisory Board, where applicable. 
(Article 245-A/1/h).  

B. CORPORATE BOARDS AND COMMITTEE
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In conformity with provision of paragraph 1 of Article 18 
of the company’s bylaws, the Board of Directors should be 
composed by 5 to 12 members, elected on the General Meeting. 

Paragraph 2 of the same article states that “the shareholders 
who vote against a motion to elect the Directors have the right 
to appoint one Director, as long as this minority represents  
at least 10% of the share capital“.

Paragraph 3 of the same article states that the Director 
designated by the minority will automatically replace the less 
voted person, or in case of equal votes, the person on the last 
position of the same list.

In conformity with the provisions of paragraph 7 of Article 
18 of its Bylaws, “if the Board of Directors is composed of fewer 
members than the maximum set forth in item 1 of this article 
and it deems it necessary for the management of the company 
business to increase the number of Directors, it may appoint 
two new members prior to the next scheduled annual General 
Meeting. Clearly, this must not result in more than the limit 
of twelve members for the Board of Directors as stipulated in 
these articles of association. The first annual General Meeting 
to be held after such appointment will either confirm or reject 
the advice of the Board of Directors with regard to the number 
of Directors. If the instruction is confirmed, the appointment  
of the new members will be ratified.”

Paragraphs 8 and 9 of article 18 establish that “if a Director 
fails to attend more than two meetings of the Board of Directors 
in a calendar year without good reason accepted by the latter, 
this will be considered definitive absence of the Director in 
question” and “The Board of Directors will elect replacements for 
any members deemed definitively absent, dismissed under the 
terms of the law, or who resign their post. Any replacements thus 
made will remain in force until the end of the term to which the 
members of the Board of Directors who made the selection were 
elected, unless the selection is not ratified by the first subsequent 
General Meeting. Replacements must be submitted to the 
General Meeting for approval, as stipulated by Article 393(4) 
of the Company Code.”

Lastly, paragraph 5 of article 18 of the Bylaws states that “The 
Board of Directors may delegate the day-to-day management 
of the company to one or more Directors or an Executive 
Committee”. 

 

17 Composition of the Board of Directors, the Executive 
Board and the General and Supervisory Board, where 

applicable, with details of the articles of association’s minimum and 
maximum number of members, duration of term of office, number 
of effective members, date when first appointed and end of the term 
of office of each member.  
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AND FUNCTION

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
AND FUNCTION

DATE OF FIRST
APPOINTMENT  

END 
OF TERM 

OF OFFICE

Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia Chairman 11.05.2010 31.12.2015

Diogo Francisco Basto Mendes Rezende (co-optation in 29.07.2015) Member Chairman 29.07.2015 31.12.2015

Emídio de Jesus Maria Member 09.04.2008 31.12.2015

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen Member 31.05.2007 31.12.2015

António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque Member Member 11.05.2010 31.12.2015

Frederico João de Moser Lupi (co-optation in 01.10.2015) Member Member 01.10.2015 31.12.2015

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís Member 07.05.2013 31.12.2015

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho Member 07.05.2013 31.12.2015

NON-
EXECUTIVE

INDEPENDENT

Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia Yes Yes

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende 
(co-optation 29.07.2015)

No -

Emídio de Jesus Maria Yes Yes

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen Yes No*

António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque No -

Frederico João de Moser Lupi  
(co-optation 01.10.2015)

No -

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís Yes No**

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho Yes Yes

*  Article 18.1 paragraph a) from Regulation number 4/2013 of CVM.
** In the date of his election the board member had ceased its activity with a qualified 
shareholder – Millennium BCP – for at least 3 years [article 414 number 5 paragraph a) 
of the Commercial Code and article 18.1 from Regulation number 4/2013 of CVM].

According to the Bylaws, the Board of Directors is composed 
by five to twelve members, elected by the General Meeting, for 
periods of 3 years renewable, being able to delegate the daily 
management of the company to an Executive Committee.

In the use of this prerogative, the Board of Directors decided 
on May 14, 2013 to delegate the daily management to an 
Executive Committee, being the composition of the two entities 
the following: 

18 Distinction to be drawn between executive and 
non-executive directors and, as regards non-executive 

members, details of members that may be considered independent, 
or, where applicable, details of independent members of the General 
and Supervisory Board.    

The independence criteria that served as a basis to the 
evaluation of the function of the Directors were the provisions 
set out in the Companies Act – Articles 414 and regulation 
4/2013 of CMVM. 

B. CORPORATE BOARDS AND COMMITTEE
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19 Professional qualifications and other relevant curricular 
information of each member of the Board of Directors, 

the General and Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, where 
applicable. 

DIOGO FRANCISCO BASTOS MENDES REZENDE 
(co-optation in 29.07.2015) 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Degree in Economics by Nova University of Lisbon
• MBA from INSEAD
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Marketing and sales director of Ford Lusitana (from 1992 to 1998)
• Marketing professor at Economics School of Nova University  

(from 1996 to 1998)
• CEO of Chrysler Jeep in Portugal (from 1998 to 2003)
• CEO of Ford Lusitana (from 2004 to 2014)
• Assistant professor of applied entrepreneurship on the master 

program (from 2013 to 2015) and member of the Consulting Board 
(since 2011) of Nova School of Business and Economics 

• Chairman of the Board of Directors / Management of the subsidiary 
companies of Inapa Group:
• Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
• Papier Union, GmbH
• Inapa France, SAS
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa Belgium, SA
• Inapa Luxemburg, SA
• Inapa Packaging, SAS
• Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd
• Europackaging – SGPS, Lda
• Inapa Embalagem, Lda
• Da Hora – Artigos de Embalagem, Lda
• Tradembal – Comércio, Indústria, Exportação e Importação 

de Produtos Sintéticos, SA
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 

ÁLVARO JOÃO DUARTE PINTO CORREIA

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Degree in Engineering by Instituto Superior Técnico  

(Superior Technical Institute)
• Associate Professor in Instituto Superior Técnico  

(Superior Technical Institute)
• Professor in Academia Militar (Military Academy)
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Tagusgás – Empresa de Gás 

do Vale do Tejo, SA (from 06.02.1997 to 30.05.2008)
• Director of SHCB – Sociedade Hidroeléctrica de Cabora Bassa  

(from 27.11.2007 to 12.04.2010)
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Sofid – Sociedade para 

o Financiamento do Desenvolvimento – Instituição Financeira 
de Crédito, SA (from 04.04.2008 to 12.05.2010)

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board of UCCLA – União das Cidades 
Capitais Luso-Afro-Américo-Asiáticas (since 16.02.1989)

• Chairman of the Supervisory Committee of Instituto de Seguros 
de Portugal (Portuguese Insurance Institute) (since 19.12.2004)

• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fundação Cidade de Lisboa 
(since 01.07.2000)

• Chairman of the General Board of Nersant – Associação Empresarial 
da Região de Santarém (since 17.07.2000)

• Coordinator of the Business Committee of Angola’s Debt 
Negotiation (since 07.02.2003)

• Coordinator of the Project Team for the follow-up of the study and 
implementation of the New Lisbon Airport, and coordination with 
the privatization of ANA, SA (since 12.12.2006)

• Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of PT – Portugal Telecom, 
SGPS, SA (since 22.06.2007)

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board of CPF – Centro Português 
de Fundações (since 24.03.2010)

• Member of the Remuneration Committee of Banco Espírito Santo, 
SA (since 22.03.2012)

• Member of the Remuneration Committee of EDP – Energias 
de Portugal (since 17.04.2012)

• Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Valuation Committee 
of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral (since 07.08.2015)
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EMÍDIO DE JESUS MARIA 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Degree in Business Economics and Administration by Instituto 

Superior de Economia de Lisboa
• Chartered Accountant (registered in the respective Association)
• Chartered Accountant and Auditor (registered in the respective 

Association, having voluntarily suspended such duties for the  
time being)

PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Inspector of Finance in IGF – technical career and manager until 

Assistant Inspector-General (from 1980 to 2003)
• Chartered Accountant and Auditor and independent Consultant 

(from 1990 to 2008)
• Member and Chairman of the Audit Committee of the EIB  

– European Investment Bank – Luxembourg (from 1996 to 2003)
• Chairman of the Monitoring Committee of the Work Accidents Fund 

(from 2001 to 2006)
• Member of the Supervisory Board of Santander Totta Seguros  

– Companhia de Seguros de Vida, SA (from 2009 to 2012)

ARNDT JOST MICHAEL KLIPPGEN 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Diplom-Kaufmann academic degree from the University of Hamburg
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• General Manager of the following subsidiary companies of Inapa 

Group (until September 2013):
• Papier Union, GmbH
• Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
• PMF – Print Media Factoring, GmbH
• Inapa Packaging, GmbH
• Inapa VisCom, GmbH

• Member of the Investment Committee of Foundation Bürgerstiftung 
Hamburg (since 2013)

• President of Foundation Hamburger Kunstsammlungen – 
Foundation for the Hamburg Art Collections (since 2015)
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ANTÓNIO JOSÉ GOMES DA SILVA ALBUQUERQUE

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Degree in Finance Administration from Instituto Superior de Ciências 

Económicas e Financeiras (current ISEG)
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Director of Parpública – Participações Públicas, SGPS, SA  

(from 2004 to 2010)
• Director and President of Sagesecur, SGPS, SA (from 2004 to 2010)
• Director of Capitalpor, SGPS, SA (from 2008 to 2010)
• General Manager of the following subsidiary companies of Inapa 

Group:
• Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa France, SAS
• Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa Belgium, SA
• Europackaging – SGPS, Lda
• Inapa Shared Center, Lda
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 

 

FREDERICO JOÃO DE MOSER LUPI
(co-optation in 01.10.2015) 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Degree in Economics by Nova University of Lisbon
• Three post-graduate executive programs from INSEAD 

(Fontainebleau, France)
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Financial director and deputy administration in Lusalite  

(from 1993 to 1995)
• Bancassurance director (from 1996 to 2002), being a member of the 

management of BCP group (since 2002)
• Commercial director of Banco Pinto e Sotto Mayor (2003)
• Director coordinator of Millennium Bank in Athens  

(from 2003 to 2004)
• Member of the Executive Committee of Millennium Bank in Athens, 

responsible for Private Banking and Bancassurance  
(from 2005 to 2006)

• Commercial director of retail network in Millennium BCP  
(from 2007 to 2010)

• Director of real estate business in BCP (from 2011 to 2014)
• CFO of EIP group (in 2015)
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JOÃO MIGUEL PACHECO DE SALES LUÍS 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• PADE (Program for Top Corporate Managers) from AESE 

(1999/2000)
• MBA in Nova University(1997)
• Chartered Accountant
• Degree in Business Economics and Administration by Universidade 

Católica Portuguesa (1981)
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Department of Planning and Control in Sorefame (Metalworking 

Industry and Railways) (1986-1991)
• Department of Studies and Planning of BCP (1986-1991)
• General Manager of BCPI (Asset Management company of BCP) 

(1991-1994)
• Commercial manager of Nova Rede (1995-1997)
• Marketing manager of the Insurance company Seguros Ocidental 

(1997-1998)
• Top manager of “Internacional Private Banking” (1998-2000)
• Top manager of Private Banking in the South region of BCP  

(2000-2001)
• Top manager of the brokerage business of BCPInvestimento  

(2001-2003)
• Commercial manager of the retail network (2003-2008)
• Top manager of the retail network of Millennium BCP (2008-2012)
• Chairman of Supervisory Committee of Unicre – Instituição Financeira 

de Crédito, SA (since 2013)
• Chairman of Foundation FORSDI – Fundação da Obra Social das 

Religiosas Dominicanas Irlandesas (since 2015)

GONÇALO CRUZ FARIA DE CARVALHO 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Degree in Business Economics and Administration by Universidade 

Católica Portuguesa (1989)
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Controller e financial manager on Renascença Group (1991-1997)
• Head of Financial and Administrative department of Sojornal 

(Expresso Group) (1998-2002)
• Director of Intervoz and Member of the Management Committee 

of Renascença Group (2002-2009)
• Director of Económica Group (Ongoing Media) (since 2009)
• CFO Ongoing Group, vice-chairman of Ongoing Media and CEO 

of Ongoing Shared Services (since January 2013)
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The professional qualifications of the board members that have 
ceased their functions, José Manuel Félix Morgado and Jorge 
Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo, were the following:

JORGE MANUEL VIANA DE AZEVEDO PINTO BRAVO 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Bachelor’s Degree in Engineering from Instituto Superior 

de Engenharia de Lisboa
• Post-graduation in Management and Marketing with Stockley Park 

Management Center 
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Partner-in-charge Risk Advisory Service in KPMG Portugal  

(1998 to 2005)
• Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Reditus Gestão, SA  

(from 2009 to 2010)
• Director of the Grupo Tecnidata (from October 2007 to 2010)
• Managing Director of Financial Services Iberia of Logica (ex-Edinfor) 

(from January 2006 to July 2007)
• Manager of the following subsidiary companies of Inapa Group:

• Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa France SAS
• Inapa Viscom, Lda
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 

JOSÉ MANUEL FÉLIX MORGADO 

ACADEMIC QUALIFICATIONS 
• Degree in Business Economics and Administration by Universidade 

Católica Portuguesa
• Specialization in Asset and Liabilities Management with INSEAD
PROFESSIONAL QUALIFICATIONS 
• Managing Director of Seguros e Pensões (BCP), Ocidental Vida, 

Ocidental Seguros, Médis, Império Bonança, Companhia de Seguros 
de Macau and Pensõesgere (993-2005)

• Chariman of Imperio Vida y Diversos (1993-2008)
• Managing Director of ONI – SGPS, SA (2005-2006)
• Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors (since 17.05.2010) and 

Chairman of the Executive Committee of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA (since 15.02.2007)

• Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors of Gestmin – SGPS  
(since 2012)

• Chairman of Eugropa - European Paper Merchants Association 
(since 2013)

• Chairman of the Board of Directors/Management of the subsidiary 
companies of Inapa Group:
• Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
• Papier Union, GmbH
• Inapa France, SAS
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa Belgium, SA
• Inapa Luxemburg, SA
• Inapa Packaging, SA
• Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd
• Europackaging – SGPS, Lda
• Inapa Embalagem, Lda
• Da Hora – Artigos de Embalagem, Lda
• Tradembal – Comércio, Indústria, Exportação e Importação  

de Produtos Sintéticos, SA
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 
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20 Customary and meaningful family, professional 
or business relationships of members of the Board 

of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and the Executive 
Board, where applicable, with shareholders that are assigned 
qualifying holdings that are greater than 2% of the voting rights.  

There are no family, professional or business relationships 
of members of the Board of Directors with shareholders with 
a qualified stake greater than 2% of voting rights.

 

* Also reports to the Audit Committee.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION COMMISSION

AUDIT COMMITTEE CORPORATE CENTER

PORTUGAL BELUXSPAIN TURKEYSWITZERLAND ANGOLAFRANCEGERMANY

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

NON EXECUTIVE
Álvaro Pinto Correia CHAIRMAN 

Emídio Maria
João Sales Luís

Gonçalo Faria de Carvalho
Arndt Klippgen

INTERNAL AUDITING David Pedroso*
LEGAL António Alvim

IT Carlos Jorge
STRATEGY & IR Hugo Rua

ACCOUNTING Raquel Rebelo
FINANCE & PLANNING Sofia Picoto

GRAPHIC Gilbert Trepmann
OFFICE Antoine Lequitte

Diogo Rezende CHAIRMAN
António Albuquerque

Frederico Lupi

João Vieira Almeida CHAIRMAN 
Pedro Vilas Boas

Maria Isabel Trindade Salgado

Emídio Maria CHAIRMAN 
João Sales Luís

Gonçalo Faria de Carvalho

• Afonso Chaby
• Didier Nettre
• Marc Gautier

• Marcel Bigler • Ginés Ramirez
• Pedro Huidobro
• Raquel Rebelo

• Ginés Ramirez
• Raquel Rebelo

• Chris Luyten • Horácio Fonseca • Suzi Matat

EXECUTIVE
Diogo Rezende

António Albuquerque
Frederico Lupi

GENERAL MEETING

21 Organisational charts or flowcharts concerning the 
allocation of powers between the various corporate boards, 

committees and/or departments within the company, including 
information on delegating powers, particularly as regards the delegation 
of the company’s daily management. 

• Thomas Shimanowski
• Thomas Erbslöh
• Michael Potthoff
• Thorsten Moritz
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The Regulation of the Board of Directors approved on May 14, 
2013, states that:

It is Inapa’s Board of Directors competence to deliberate about 
the matters stated on paragraphs a) and m) of article 406 of the 
Companies Commercial Code, as well as:
 

1.  Delegate in an executive committee the day-to-day 
management of the company and other competences that 
may specifically deliberate for those purposes;

 
2.  Delegate, within the limits provided by the law, in one 

or more directors, the management powers, which limits has 
to establish;

 
3.  Resolve, within the limits provided by the law, on binding 

instruction to the company;
 
4.  Resolve, under proposal of the executive committee, on the 

budget and plan for the company and its subsidiaries;
 
5.  Resolve on relevant investments and divestments done 

by the company of its subsidiaries;
 
6.  Resolve on acquisition or sale of majority or dominating 

stakes, as well as any transaction subject to special process 
under the terms of Securities Market Code (CVM);

 
7.  Resolve about operations of splits, merger or dissolution 

of Inapa subordinated companies or participated companies;
 
8.  Resolve, under proposal of the executive committee, 

on setting strategic goals of the company on risk 
assumption and respective internal management controls 
systems;

9.  Resolve on any subject which any directors has required 
a resolution of the Board.

In accordance with the resolution of May 14, 2013 of the 
Board of Directors and the provisions of paragraphs 3 and 4 
of Article 407 of the Companies Act, the following powers have 
been delegated to the Executive Committee, without prejudice 
to the Board of Directors, in conformance with the provisions 
of paragraph 8 of the aforementioned Act, of being entitled 
to pass resolutions on the matters it delegated:

 
• The day-to-day management of the Company;

 
• Setting out plans for the implementation of Company and 

Group policies, objectives and strategy for approval by the 
Board of Directors;

 

• Setting out general guidelines concerning the Company’s 
internal organisation for approval by the Board of Directors;

 
• Compiling operational budgets and medium and long-term 

investment and development plans for approval by the Board 
of Directors; 

 
• Approving contracts for the procurement of goods and 

services up to a limit of € 500,000.00 or less, per category 
of goods or services;

 
• Negotiating and contracting short-term bank finance 

agreements to fund the Company or subsidiary companies, 
under the terms and conditions that most adequately suit the 
interests of the Group; 

• Negotiating and celebrating agreements that change, 
substitute or renew financing contracts, including 
commercial paper programs, under the terms and conditions 
most favourable to the interest of the company;

• Negotiating bank finance agreements with a term longer 
than a year and a day to fund the Company and its 
subsidiary companies and the issuing of corporate bonds 
and commercial paper programs, for which purpose binding 
the Company under any such transactions shall be made 
expressly conditional to a prior resolution of the Board 
of Directors to the effect;

• Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets accounted 
for as fixed assets of the Company in accordance with 
budgets approved by the Board of Directors;

• Purchasing, selling and pledging goods or assets accounted 
for as fixed assets of the Company not included in budgets 
approved by the Board of Directors up to a value of 1.5% 
of realised share capital per item and up to an annual limit 
of 5% of the aforementioned capital;

• Renting or letting out any buildings or sectional title 
properties;

• Representing the Company in court and out of court, either 
as plaintiff or as defendant, as well as proposing and filing 
any legal suits, admitting guilt, withdrawing or settling out 
of court and committing to abide by arbitrage proceedings;

• Purchasing, selling or pledging shares in other companies, 
provided the transactions in question are included in the 
budget or in approved action plans not exceeding a limit 
of € 5,000,000.00 per transaction, above which limit prior 
approval from the Board of Directors shall be required;
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• Entering into, amending and terminating employment 
contracts and exercising powers of discipline over the staff;

• Opening, transacting and closing bank accounts;

• Appointing duly mandated representatives of the Company.

It is important to note that in the aforementioned resolution 
the Board of Directors has granted to the Chairman of the 
Executive Committee, according to provisions stipulated 
in paragraph 6 of Article 407 CSC, the following duties:

• Ensure that all relevant information is provided to the other 
members of the Board of Directors regarding the operations 
and resolutions of the Executive Committee, namely, send 
to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Audit 
Committee convocations and minutes of the meeting;

 
• Ensure the fulfilling of the delegated limits, the company’s 

strategy and the duties to collaborate towards the Chairman 
of the Board of Directors.

 
2013-2015 strategic plan, which has the group priorities, 

policies and strategic goals, was discussed and approved in the 
Board of Director of May 14, 2013. 

The Chairman of the Executive Committee regularly sends 
the minutes of the Executive Committee to the Chairman of the 
Board of Directors and Audit Committee.

In conformance with the provisions of applicable legislation 
and with the aforementioned resolution of the Board of Directors 
of May 14, 2013, the following powers have specifically been 
granted to the Audit Committee:

• Supervising the administration of the Company;

• Ensuring due compliance with the law and the provisions 
of the Bylaws;

• Verifying due compliance of the accounting books, records 
and supporting documentation;

• Verifying, when and in the form deemed convenient, cash 
balances and stocks of any type of goods or assets owned 
by the Company or held in lieu of security or in trust 
or under any other entitlement;

• Verifying the accuracy of the financial statements;

• Verifying whether the accounting policies and valuation 
criteria adopted by the Company are conducive 
to appropriately represent its assets and results;

• Compiling, on an annual basis, an audit report on its audit 
and supervisory action and issuing an opinion on the annual 
report and accounts and proposals of the Board of Directors;

• Convening a meeting of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders, having a duty so to act, should its Chairman 
fail to do so;

• Auditing the efficacy of the risk management system, the 
internal control system and the internal audit system;

• Being the recipient of reports on irregularities which 
shareholders, employees of the Company or other parties 
may submit;

• Auditing the process of preparation and disclosure 
of financial statements;

• Recommending to the General Meeting of Shareholders 
the appointment of a Chartered Accountant and Auditor;

• Supervising the audit to the financial statements of the 
Company;

• Supervising the Chartered Accountant and Auditor’s 
independence, particularly with regard to provision 
of additional services;

• Notifying the Office of the Public Prosecutor of any 
contraventions of the law constituting a public crime 
of which it may have become aware;

• Contracting for the provision of expert services in order 
to assist one or more of its members in the performance 
of their duties.

In the performance of its duties the Audit Committee meets 
with the external auditor and the chartered accountant – the 
two functions are assigned to the same entity – and is the first 
recipient of the reports.

Annually, the Audit Committee makes an assessment of the 
work performed by the auditor. In case it considers adequate the 
dismissal of the auditor, the Committee proposes its substitution 
in the General Meeting. 
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B) FUNCTIONING   

22 Availability and place where rules on the functioning 
of the Board of Directors, the General and Supervisory 

Board and the Executive Board, where applicable, may be viewed.  

On May 14, 2013, the regulations of the following governing 
bodies were approved: Board of Directors, Executive Committee 
and Audit Committee.

The above mentioned regulations can be obtained in the 
company headquarters (Rua Braamcamp n.º 40 - 9.º D, Lisbon, 
Portugal) or through the website www.inapa.com.

23 The number of meetings held and the attendance report 
for each member of the Board of Directors, the General 

and Supervisory Board and the Executive Board, where applicable.  
 
From January 1 to December 31, 2015, the Board of Directors 

had the following assiduity:

• Number of meetings: 7
• Attendance of each member:

• Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia: 100%
• José Manuel Félix Morgado  

(ceased functions in 30.06.2015): 100%
• Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende  

(co-optation in 27.07.2015): 100%
• Emídio de Jesus Maria: 100%
• Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen: 100% (*)
• António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque: 100%
• Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo  

(ceased function in 31.08.2015): 100%
• Frederico João de Moser Lupi  

(co-optation in 01.10.2015): 100%
• João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís: 100%
• Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho: 100%

(*) The Board member, Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen was represented in two 
meetings of the Board of Directors.

From January 1 to December 31, 2015, the Executive 
Committee had the following assiduity:

• Number of meetings: 25
• Attendance of each member:

• José Manuel Félix Morgado (ceased functions in 30.06.2015): 
100%

• Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende  
(co-optation in 27.07.2015): 100%

• António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque: 100%

• Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo  
(ceased function in 31.08.2015): 93%

• Frederico João de Moser Lupi  
(co-optation in 01.10.2015): 100%

In any meeting of the Executive Committee a member was 
represented by a third party.

24 Details of competent corporate boards undertaking the 
performance appraisal of executive directors. 

 
The performance assessment of executive directors is done 

by the General Meeting, the Board of Directors and, within 
its own competence, the Audit Committee.

For remuneration purposes the performance assessment of the 
executive directors still lies to the Remuneration Committee. 

 

25 Predefined criteria for assessing executive directors’ 
performance.  

The performance assessment of executive directors is based on 
the following criteria that are stated in the remunerations policy: 

• Improvement of financial results of the year and pluri-annual 
plan;

• Achievement of the initiatives and strategy outlined in the 
pluri-annual plan;

• Value creation to the shareholder;
• Group image and concept in the financial markets and all 

of its stakeholders. 

 

26 The availability of each member of the Board of 
Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and the 

Executive Board, where applicable, and details of the positions held 
at the same time in other companies within and outside the group, 
and other relevant activities undertaken by members of these boards 
throughout the financial year. 

 
The 5 non-executive members are in part-time regime 

relatively to the management of the company.

The functions that each member has inside and outside the 
company are the following:

ÁLVARO PINTO CORREIA
In the Company:

• Chairman of the Board of Directors
In the Group:

• None
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Outside the Group:
• Chairman of the Board of Directors of Fundação Cidade 

de Lisboa (since 01.07.2000)
• Chairman of the General Board of Nersant – Associação 

Empresarial da Região de Santarém (since 17.07.2000)
• Coordinator of the Business Committee of Angola’s Debt 

Negotiation (since 07.02.2003)
• Coordinator of the Project Team for the follow-up of the 

study and implementation of the New Lisbon Airport, and 
coordination with the privatization of ANA, SA  
(since 12.12.2006)

• President of the Supervisory Board and Valuation Committee 
of Caixa Económica Montepio Geral (since 07.08.2015)

EMÍDIO DE JESUS MARIA
In the Company:

•  Member of the Board of Directors
• Chairman of the Audit Committee

In the Group:
• None

Outside the Group:
• None

ARNDT JOST MICHAEL KLIPPGEN
In the Company:

• Member of the Board of Directors
In the Group:

• None
Outside the Group:

• President of Foundation Hamburger Kunstsammlungen - 
Foundation for the Hamburg Art Collections (since 2015)

JOÃO MIGUEL PACHECO DE SALES LUÍS
In the Company:

• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Audit Committee

In the Group:
• None

Outside the Group:
• President of Foundation FORSDI – Fundação da Obra Social 

das Religiosas Dominicanas Irlandesas (since 2015)
• Chairman of Supervisory Committee of Unicre – Instituição 

Financeira de Crédito, SA (since 2013)

GONÇALO CRUZ FARIA DE CARVALHO
In the Company:

• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Audit Committee

In the Group:
• None

Outside the Group:
• CFO Ongoing Group, vice-chairman of Ongoing Media and 

CEO of Ongoing Shared Services 

• Director Económica Group

The 3 executive members work on a full time basis in the 
management of the company and its subsidiaries. 

The functions that each member has inside and outsider the 
company are the following:

DIOGO FRANCISCO BASTOS MENDES REZENDE
(co-optation in 29.07.2015)
In the Company:

• Member of the Board of Directors
• Chairman of the Executive Committee 

In the Group:
• Chairman / General Manager:

• Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
• Papier Union, GmbH
• Inapa France, SAS
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa Belgium, SA
• Inapa Luxemburg, SA
• Inapa Packaging, SA
• Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd
• Europackaging – SGPS, Lda
• Inapa Embalagem, Lda
• Da Hora – Artigos de Embalagem, Lda
• Tradembal – Comércio, Indústria, Exportação e Importação 

de Produtos Sintéticos, SA
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 

Outside the Group:
• Manager of:

• Bica Consult, Lda
• L.A.P. – Restauração e Hotelaria, Lda
• Doca Peixe DPLX – Restauração de Hotelaria, Lda

ANTÓNIO JOSÉ GOMES DA SILVA ALBUQUERQUE
In the Company:

• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Executive Committee 

In the Group:
• Director / General Manager:

• Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa France, SAS
• Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa Belgium, SA
• Europackaging – SGPS, Lda
• Inapa Shared Center, Lda
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi  
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Outside the Group:
• None

FREDERICO JOÃO DE MOSER LUPI  
(co-optation in 01.10.2015)
In the Company:

• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Executive Committee 

In the Group:
• None

Outside the Group:
• None

The functions that the directors that ceased functions, José 
Manuel Félix Morgado and Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto 
Bravo, inside and outsider the company were the following on the 
date they ceased functions:

JOSÉ MANUEL FÉLIX MORGADO  
(ceased function in 30.06.2015)
In the Company:

• Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors
• Chairman of the Executive Committee 

In the Group:
• Director / General Manager:

• Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa Deutschland, GmbH
• Papier Union, GmbH
• Inapa France, SAS
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa Belgium, SA
• Inapa Luxemburg, SA
• Inapa Packaging, SA
• Inapa Merchants Holding, Ltd
• Europackaging – SGPS, Lda
• Inapa Embalagem, Lda
• Da Hora – Artigos de Embalagem, Lda
• Tradembal – Comércio, Indústria, Exportação e Importação 

de Produtos Sintéticos, SA
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 

Outside the Group:
• Chairman of Eurograp - European paper Merchants Association 

(since 2013)

JORGE MANUEL VIANA DE AZEVEDO PINTO BRAVO 
(ceased function in 31.08.2015)
In the Company:

• Member of the Board of Directors
• Member of the Executive Committee  

In the Group:
• Director:

• Inapa Portugal Distribuição de Papel, SA
• Inapa España Distribución de Papel, SA
• Inapa Suisse, SA
• Inapa France SAS
• Inapa Viscom, Lda
• Korda Kagit Pazarlama Ve Ticaret Anonim Şirketi 

Outside the Group:
• None

C) COMMITTEES WITHIN THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
OR SUPERVISORY BOARD AND BOARD DELEGATES

27 Details of the committees created within the Board 
of Directors, the General and Supervisory Board and 

the Executive Board, where applicable, and the place where the rules 
on the functioning thereof is available.  

The Board of Directors has created an Executive Committee, 
in which it has delegated the daily management of the company. 

Given the small size of the company (Bearing in mind the 
provisions of article 413 number 2 of the CSC), the limited 
number of members of the Board of Directors – 8 –, the 
functions performed by its Audit Committee, and the number of 
the Directors that are part of the Executive Committee (3) and 
the Audit Committee (3), Board deems that the appointment of 
any of the indicative special committees is not justifiable.

28 Composition of the Executive Board and/or details of the 
Board Delegate/s, where applicable. 

The Executive Committee has the following composition:
• Chairman: Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende;
• Member: António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque;
• Member: Frederico João de Moser Lupi.
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29 Description of the powers of each of the committees 
established and a summary of activities undertaken 

in exercising said powers. 
  
The competences of the Audit and Executive Committees are 

detailed on section 21.

III. SUPERVISION (SUPERVISORY 
BOARD, THE AUDIT COMMITTEE 
OR THE GENERAL AND SUPERVISORY 
BOARD)

A) COMPOSITION (*THROUGHOUT THE SAID YEAR)

30  Details of the Supervisory Body (Supervisory Board, 
the Audit Committee or the General and Supervisory 
Board) representing the model adopted. 

 
 The company has adopted the model in which the Audit 

Committee is the Supervisory Body. 

31 Composition of the Supervisory Board, the Audit 
Committee, the General and Supervisory Board or the 

Financial Matters Committee, where applicable, with details of the 
articles of association’s minimum and maximum number of members, 
duration of term of office, number of effective members, date of first 
appointment, date of end of the term of office for each member and 
reference to the section of the report where said information is already 
included pursuant to paragraph 17. 

 
Paragraph 4 of article 22 of the company’s bylaws states “The 

Audit Committee of the Board of Directors will comprise of three 
members who fulfil the applicable legal requirements, one of 
whom will act as Chairperson, to be appointed by the General 
Meeting from among the members of the Board of Directors”. 

The members of the Audit Committee have been elected by the 
General meeting for a 3 years term. 

The Audit Committee has the following Board of Director 
members:

32 Details of the members of the Supervisory Board, the 
Audit Committee, the General and Supervisory Board 

and the Financial Matters Committee, where applicable, which are 
considered to be independent pursuant to Article 414/5 CSC and 
reference to the section of the report where said information already 
appears pursuant to paragraph 19.  

• Chairman: Emídio de Jesus Maria;
• Member: Gonçalo Faria Carvalho.

33 Professional qualifications of each member of the 
Supervisory Board, the Audit Committee, the General 

and Supervisory Board and the Financial Matters Committee, where 
applicable, and other important curricular information, and reference 
to the section of the report where said information already appears 
pursuant to paragraph 21.

On section 19 of this report, the qualifications of the Audit 
Committee are further described.

B) FUNCTIONING

34 Availability and place where the rules on the functioning 
of the Supervisory Board, the Audit Committee, the 

General and Supervisory Board and the Financial Matters Committee, 
where applicable, may be viewed, and reference to the section of the 
report where said information already appears pursuant to paragraph 22. 

 
The regulations of the Audit Committee are accessible to the 

shareholders and anyone that is interested in the company’s 
website – www.inapa.com – or on its headquarters.

35 The number of meetings held and the attendance report 
for each member of the Supervisory Board, the Audit 

Committee, the General and Supervisory Board and the Financial 
Matters Committee, where applicable, and reference to the section 
of the report where said information already appears pursuant 
to paragraph 23.

 

FUNCTION DATE OF FIRST 
APPOINTMENT

DATE OF END 
OF THE TERM 

OF OFFICE

Emídio de Jesus Maria Chairman 09.04.2008 31.12.2015

João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís Member 07.05.2013 31.12.2015

Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho Member 07.05.2013 31.12.2015
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From January 1 until December 31, 2015:
•  Number of meetings: 13
• Attendance of each member:

•  Emídio de Jesus Maria: 100%
•  João Miguel Pacheco de Sales Luís: 100%
•  Gonçalo Cruz Faria de Carvalho: 100%

In any meeting a member was represented by a third party.

36 The availability of each member of the Supervisory 
Board, the Audit Committee, the General and 

Supervisory Board and the Financial Matters Committee, where 
applicable, indicating the positions held simultaneously in other 
companies inside and outside the group, and other relevant activities 
undertaken by members of these Boards throughout the financial 
year, and reference to the section of the report where such information 
already appears pursuant to paragraph 26.   

The Audit Committee members are in part-time regime 
relatively to the management of the company and do not have 
any functions in the company or the Group, besides the ones 
relative to their role as members of the Board of Directors.

The function of the Audit Committee members outside the 
company and the Group are the following:  

EMÍDIO DE JESUS MARIA
• No activity

JOÃO MIGUEL PACHECO DE SALES LUÍS
• President of Foundation FORSDI – Fundação da Obra Social 

das Religiosas Dominicanas Irlandesas (since 2015)
• Chairman of Supervisory Committee of Unicre – Instituição 

Financeira de Crédito, SA (since 2013)

GONÇALO CRUZ FARIA DE CARVALHO
• CFO Ongoing Group, vice-chairman of Ongoing Media and 

CEO of Ongoing Shared Services 
• Director of Económica Group (Ongoing Media)  

C) POWERS AND DUTIES 

37 A description of the procedures and criteria applicable 
to the supervisory body for the purposes of hiring 

additional services from the external auditor. 
 
The company has established procedure to hire additional 

services to the external auditor, which require the previous 
analysis by the Audit Committee.

During the last and current term, the Audit Committee has 
give its consent to the proposed additional works given the 
limited relevance of the corresponding costs and the fact that 
they did not involve any conflict of interest, thereby safeguarded 
its independence. 

38 Other duties of the supervisory body and, where 
appropriate, the Financial Matters Committee.  

The Audit Committee has no other duties than the ones 
described on section 21 of this report. 

IV. STATUTORY AUDITOR

39 Details of the statutory auditor and the partner that 
represents same. 

The statutory auditor is the firm PricewaterhouseCoopers 
& Associados, SROC, Lda represented by José Pereira Alves 
Appointed Chartered Accountant, being  José Manuel Henriques 
Bernardo the Substitute Chartered Accountant.

 

40  State the number of years that the statutory auditor 
consecutively carries out duties with the company  
and/or group. 

The statutory auditor – PricewaterhouseCoopers – is presently 
serving his third mandate, after being appointed for these 
duties on May 31, 2007, in substitution of the company Grant 
Thornton.

 José Pereira Alves represents the stattory audit company 
PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados, SROC, Lda since 
December 16, 2011.

 

41 Description of other services that the statutory auditor 
provides to the company.  

PricewaterhouseCoopers & Associados, SROC, Lda has 
provided services fiscal consulting, certification for VAT 
recuperation purpose, opinion on public administration 
contracts, report of accounts receivable of subsidiary and 
support on capital increase in kind of affiliate.
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V. EXTERNAL AUDITOR

42 Details of the external auditor appointed in accordance 
with Article 8 and the partner that represents same 

in carrying out these duties, and the respective registration number 
at the CMVM. 

The external auditor is the firm PricewaterhouseCoopers 
& Associados, SROC, Lda represented by José Pereira Alves  
and José Manuel Henriques Bernardo as substitute.

The external auditor has the CMVM registration number 
20161485.

 

43 State the number of years that the external auditor and 
respective partner that represents same in carrying out 

these duties consecutively carries out duties with the company and/or 
group.  

The external auditor is presently serving his third mandate, 
after being appointed for the first time for these duties on 
May 31, 2007, in substitution of the company Grant Thornton.

The partner in charge is serving since December 16, 2011. 

 

44  Rotation policy and schedule of the external auditor 
and the respective partner that represents said auditor 
in carrying out such duties. 

The company has not establish formal policies and Schedule 
of rotation regarding the external auditor and respective partner. 

 

45  Details of the Board responsible for assessing the 
external auditor and the regular intervals when said 
assessment is carried out.  

In addition to the General Assembly, the Audit Committee 
evaluates the performance of the external auditor. 

The Audit Committee supervises the work performed by the 
external auditor every six months, particularly during the limited 
review of the first half accounts and full review of the annual 
accounts.

46 Details of services, other than auditing, carried out by 
the external auditor for the company and/or companies 

in a control relationship and an indication of the internal procedures 
for approving the recruitment of such services and a statement on the 
reasons for said recruitment. 

The work performed by the external auditor in addition to the 
audit, the verification of the implementation of policies and 
remuneration systems of statutory bodies, the verification of the 
efficiency and effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms 
and reporting any deficiencies to the supervisory board of the 
company, are described in section 41 of this report.

 

47 Details of the annual remuneration paid by the company 
and/or legal entities in a control or group relationship 

to the auditor and other natural or legal persons pertaining to the 
same network and the percentage breakdown relating to the following 
services (For the purposes of this information, the network concept 
results from the European Commission Recommendation No. C 
(2002) 1873 of 16 May): 

COMPANY*

Statutory account review services € 65,800 (94.6%)

Audit reliability services -

Tax consulting services € 3,750 (5.4%) 

Other non-statutory auditing services -

ENTITIES THAT ARE PART OF THE GROUP *

Statutory account review services € 433,177 (93.7%)

Audit reliability services € 17,181 (3.7%)

Tax consulting services € 11,854 (2.6%) 

Other non-statutory auditing services -

* Including individual and consolidated accounts

C. Internal Organization  

I. ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

48 The rules governing amendment to the articles 
of association (Article 245-A/1/h). 

The company bylaws, with the exception of changing the 
headquarters, in which the Board of Directors has a specific 
delegation, can only be changed by resolution of the General 
Meeting. 

The General Meeting shall meet at first call whenever 
a number of shareholders or their representatives, whose 
holdings represent at least 1/3 of share capital are in attendance; 
a second call shall be deemed valid regardless of the number 
of shareholders in attendance or duly represented and whichever 
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the percentage of share capital their holdings may represent 
(Article 383, paragraph 2 and 3 of the Bylaws).

General Meeting resolutions require a majority of 2/3 of the 
issued votes in first and second call; in the case of second call, 
if at least half of the share capital is represented, the resolutions 
can be approved by simple majority.

II. REPORTING OF IRREGULARITIES 

49 Reporting means and policy on the reporting 
of irregularities in the company.  

The Board of Directors has adopted internal regulations 
for disclosure of irregular practices, containing the following 
features:

1.  The employees of Inapa Group (management and staff 
of the parent company, Directors, and management and 
staff of its affiliate companies) are bound to report any 
irregular practices of which they may have become aware 
being perpetrated in Inapa Group companies to the 
following officials:

a)  To the Chairman of the Executive Committee 
of the Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA should such irregular 
practices involve the management and staff of the 
parent company, Directors and the management and 
staff of its affiliate companies;

b)  Without prejudice to what stated on the following 
paragraph, to the Chairman of the Audit Committee 
of the Board of Directors should such irregular practices 
involve the Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, 
Participações e Gestão, SA or of its supervisory board 
and/or its staff;

c)  To the Chairman of the Board of Directors should 
such irregular practices involve a member of the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.  In the situations referred in sub-paragraph a) of paragraph 
1 above, the Chairman of the Executive Committee 
shall submit such allegations, with the urgency deemed 
necessary, to the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors.

3.  Such allegations shall be submitted in writing, and their 
author shall be entitled to demand from the recipient a 
written statement to the effect that the information in 
question shall be treated in the strictest confidence.

4.  The reporting official shall be assured that, barring 
allegations of a calumnious nature, any information provided 
within the scope of these regulations shall neither be raised 
as grounds for instituting proceedings against him or her nor 
for any unfavourable treatment towards him or her.

To be able to act in a swift manner, the company decided that 
communications should be directed to the executive members. 
Notwithstanding this communication being performed 
normally to the CEO, the Audit Committee is informed of all 
communications that are performed, analysing any irregularities 
and monitoring its resolutions.

III. INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

50  Individuals, boards or committees responsible for the 
internal audit and/or implementation of the internal 
control systems. 

The Board of Directors approved the systems of internal 
control and risk management of the company and the group, 
on its own initiative or the Executive Committee of the Board 
of Directors. 

The internal auditor of the Group is responsible for the 
implementation and evaluation of internal control systems. 

Planning and control services of the group are responsible for 
monitoring the activity of each of the Group companies. 

Audit Committee and the External auditor, under the 
powers which he is legally committed, regularly evaluation the 
mechanisms and discusses adjustment to the needs of society 
and the group.

 

51  Details, even including organisational structure, 
of hierarchical and/or functional dependency in relation 
to other boards or committees of the company.  
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The organizational structure and hierarchical and functional 
dependencies are described in section 21. 

The internal auditor reports functionally to the Audit 
Committee and the Executive Committee, also supporting the 
first one to the good execution of its competences. 

 

52 Other functional areas responsible for risk control. 

 
In addition to the areas identified above should also be noted 

as areas with responsibility for risk control, the central IT and 
information systems department, internal control and accounting 
department in each of the companies and at the level of the 
shared services centre.

 

53  Details and description of the major economic, financial 
and legal risks to which the company is exposed 
in pursuing its business activity.  

The Group’s main activity is the distribution of paper, and as 
such, it acts as a link between the upstream paper producers and 
the downstream intermediate consumers (namely companies and 
paper manufacturing industries, such as printers, advertisers, 
media companies, and newspaper and book publishers, among 
others), modern distributors (large-scale suppliers and specialized 
retail chains) and end consumers (companies in the office 
segment and individuals).

Inapa is subject to the inherent risks of the economic sector 
where it operates and especially to fluctuations in paper price, 
short-term imbalances between demand and supply, changes 
in consumption patterns and the performance of the economy 
in general.

In this context, the most relevant risks to which Inapa 
is exposed while conducting its business are associated with 
its capacity to pass changes in the purchase price of paper and 
in its operating costs on to customers through selling prices, 
particularly costs related to logistics and transportation.

Additionally, the paper distribution business is sensitive 
to changes in the behavioural patterns of the demand, mainly 
in segments such as advertising and media, and to changes in the 
distribution structure.

Balance between supply and demand depends on a variety 
of factors, among which we highlight the trends in installed 
production capacity and the level of overall economic activity.

The Group’s ability to pass paper price and/or oil price 
increases on to its customers through the selling prices of 
its products, or the fees it charges for the services it provides, 
is not fully elastic, and so the direct margins of products sold 
and the net contribution of services rendered may be adversely 
impacted by such adverse trends, with the result that transport 
costs associated with its delivery services may increase and 
consequently adversely impact on the Group’s performance, 
financial situation, and earnings.

Inapa counts with some means of mitigating this risk, among 
which stand out its systems, which introduce various levels 
of authority according to the margin generated by the operation 
in the sales process.

The developments in the productive capacity of the different 
geographical markets, trends in paper demand in emerging 
economies such as China and India and its impact on those 
markets’ suppliers, the impact of exchange rate fluctuation 
on the competitiveness of the various markets, and a number 
of regulatory issues that affect the world paper trade are all 
factors which, either in combination or in isolation, may directly 
or indirectly impact the performance of the Company, its financial 
situation, and its earnings performance.

Furthermore, the paper distribution business has undergone 
structural changes in recent years, as a result of mergers among 
paper merchants, especially in Europe. Competitor moves may 
directly or indirectly impact the Company’s future strategic 
decisions and, therefore, its positioning in each particular market 
and, consequently, affect its economic and financial returns and 
asset allocation.

Given the fact that Inapa conducts its business in seven 
European countries, and, since 2009 and 2013, in Angola and 
Turkey, in conjunction with the fact that about 95% of its 
total turnover is originated in foreign markets, the company 
is naturally exposed to risks arising as a result of the specific 
performance of the economies of the countries where it operates, 
notwithstanding the fact that the very nature of that exposure 
may equally constitute a risk-mitigating factor as a result of the 
low probability that exactly the same economic performance 
pattern will occur at once in every one of those markets.

The exposure to currency risk is limited but real on account 
of the fact that the Group’s aggregate turnover in currencies 
other than Euro (namely Swiss Franc, US Dollar, Angolan Kwanza 
and Turkish lira) accounts for approximately 9.5% of the total 
turnover.
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As it is the case with any other company or group of companies, 
Inapa’s performance depends on its ability to retain its customer base.

In addition to serving quite a significant customer base – 
of over 70,000 customers – that are widely distributed from 
a geographical perspective and to offering a wide range of 
competitive, top-quality products and appropriate service levels, 
Inapa has been developing a customer loyalty program aimed at 
its traditional clientele through a comprehensive offer of products 
and services that complement its core business with a view 
to increasingly assert itself as a Global Service Provider.

The impact on local economies of a downturn in the world 
economy may make it difficult for customers of the Inapa Group 
to meet their obligations towards the Group.

As a credit risk mitigation factor, Inapa contracted in 2011, 
a credit insurance policy to cover for credit risk of its operating 
subsidiaries with a major insurance company in Europe. 
This insurance covers core countries of the Group (Germany, 
France, Switzerland, Portugal, Spain and Turkey), thus covering 
approximately 95% of Group sales.

Regardless of the coverage contemplated above, Inapa also 
manages credit risk by acting as follows: each Group subsidiary 
has its credit collections committee composed by the CEO, CFO 
and head of sales and purchases; credit limits are defined and 
recorded in the information system and inhibit new orders when 
limit is fully utilized; limits of credit granting are subject to annual 
review and/or whenever there is relevant information arising from 
the recommendation of the internal and external monitoring 
systems; approval of sales above the defined credit limits are 
subject to Board approval.

A slowdown in economic growth rates or a decrease in 
consumer and producer confidence indexes may, in turn, lead 
to a slowdown or fall in the paper demand, namely the demand 
for writing and printing paper, thereby adversely affecting its 
operations, sales, earnings, and the overall financial standing 
of the Inapa Group.

The Group’s ability to successfully implement the established 
strategy is a function of its ability to retain, and if necessary 
to hire, the most competent and adequately skilled staff to 
perform each duty.

Although the Group’s human resources policy strives to reach 
these objectives, it is not possible to guarantee that constraints 
may not arise in that regard.

Inapa awards supplemental retirement and subsistence pension 
benefits to the personnel of the subsidiaries Inapa France, Inapa 

Switzerland and Papier Union, having duly accounted for the 
inherent expenses and costs associated with such benefits in 
accordance with the specifications of International Accounting 
Standard 19 (IAS 19).

The balance reported in the consolidated accounts under 
liabilities for pension benefits is based on predefined assumptions 
on mortality rates, whereas the beneficiaries of the pension fund 
schemes in question may live longer than what such assumptions 
accounted for and, as such, may draw benefits from the pension 
fund in excess of the provisions for such benefits. Therefore, 
liabilities for pension benefits may have an adverse impact on 
cash flows.

As regards the consolidation of accounts, Inapa has methods 
to mitigate internal and external risks.

As in any other activity, Inapa may be a party in litigation 
arising from the conduct of its business, including legal 
proceedings which may have been ruled in favour of the Group, 
fully or partially, or sentences that may be subject to recourse 
or petition for their annulment by the counterparties in 
conformance with applicable legal procedure and until that time 
as such sentences have been upheld in a court of final appeal.

At present, the main legal suit to which Inapa is a party 
concerns a petition under ordinary procedure filed by Papelaria 
Fernandes – Indústria e Comércio, SA, in August 01, 2007, which 
claim has been valued at 24,459,906.14 Euros, relative to events 
occurring from 1991 to 1994. In the aforementioned legal suit, 
and in essence, Papelaria Fernandes is petitioning to be declared 
null the contracts and transactions entered into during the 
above mentioned period by the Group and Papelaria Fernandes. 
Notwithstanding the Group’s firm belief that it is right, Inapa 
cannot guarantee that the court case in question will be ruled 
in its favour or that any other such legal suits relative to its 
operations will be ruled in its favour in the future. Unfavourable 
rulings on legal suits filed against it may have an adverse impact 
on the operations, financial situation, and earnings performance 
of the Inapa Group.

Inapa Group’s operations require investments. It is Inapa’s 
intention to partly fund those investments with cash resources 
generated from operations. However, should its operations fail to 
generate sufficient cash resources, Inapa may be required to partly 
fund the envisaged investments with funding raised from external 
sources, including bank finance and bond issues.

In addition, Inapa Group is exposed to a number of other risks, 
namely liquidity risk, interest rate risk, market risk on the price of 
raw materials, operating, envirnoment risk and other risks.

C. INTERNAL ORGANIZATION

195Chapter printed in Munken Kristall 120 g/m2



Interest costs on most of the Group’s financial indebtedness 
bears interest at rates linked to variable market rates, on account 
of which Inapa is exposed to market risk on changes in interest 
rates.

Considering that Inapa does not hedge its exposure to adverse 
changes in market interest rates, such changes may, in turn, have 
an adverse impact on its performance, financial situation, and 
earnings.

Nevertheless, and in order to manage such risks, the Group’s 
Finance Department strives to manage the impact of changing 
interest rates by monitoring market developments on an ongoing 
basis and by being in a position to contract financial instruments 
to mitigate the impact of interest rate volatility.

In a context of sector consolidation, Inapa may be the target 
of a public tender offer. 

Despite the fact that the Group has been implementing careful 
risk management methodologies to manage every type of risk 
to which it is exposed, in the event of exceptionally adverse 
scenarios materializing, the policies and procedures employed by 
Inapa to identify, monitor, manage, and mitigate such risks may 
prove not to be fully effective.

The Company believes that it is sufficiently equipped 
to effectively control the risks arising from the business 
conducted by the Company and the companies it controls, and 
deems that the actions being conducted by the Heads of its 
Management Control and Finance Departments, who have been 
specifically charged to manage its risks, particularly Inapa Group’s 
liquidity risk, are effective.

Inapa manages the Group’s liquidity risk by acting as follows: 
striving to structure the Group’s financial indebtedness to 
feature a large percentage of medium and long-term debt, with 
a maturity that adequately matches its ability to generate cash 
resources; resorting to credit facilities it may draw on at any time 
(credit facilities on current accounts); treasury management is 
done locally in each Group company supervised by the Holding 
Company; cash flow forecast is regularly updated and monitored 
to avoid potential deviations.

On note 3 of the consolidated financial accounts there is more 
detailed information about the management of the different 
natures of financial risks (market, receivables, concentration 
of credit lines and liquidity risk).

On notes 8 and 9 of the consolidated financial accounts it 
can be analysed the goodwill and intangible assets with their 
impairment and sensitivity tests.

In the course of conducting Inapa’s normal business, and owing 
to its organizational structure, the Group is subject to certain 
operational risks, including possible interruptions in the services 
it renders or delays in providing such services, omissions, errors.

Those risks are monitored by the Company on an ongoing 
basis by means of the administrative and information systems 
it implemented for that purpose, having also arranged for 
insurance policies to cover certain operational risks.

Inapa Group’s operations are also dependent on IT processing, 
which involves the storing and processing of financial reporting 
records, monitoring and control records from its logistics, 
warehousing and delivery services, and internal accounting 
records.

Notwithstanding the ongoing assessment of the condition 
of its information systems and the fact that our capacity 
has proven to be reliable, it is not possible to absolutely 
guarantee a full identification and timely redressing of every 
single issue concerning the information technology systems 
or the unqualified success of every single implementation 
of a technological enhancement to such systems.

In this scenario, there could be significant changes in Inapa’s 
current strategy with implications for the several businesses and 
markets where it operates.

Inapa Group may be adversely affected by amendments 
to ruling legislation and to other tax legislation applicable 
in Portugal, the European Union, and the particular countries 
where it operates, including to follow environmental rules issued 
at an European level.

The Group’s units are subject to risks that are inherent to 
the conduct of any economic activity, such as accidents, faults, 
or natural catastrophes that may cause damages to the Group’s 
assets or a temporary interruption of its trading activities.

 

54 Description of the procedure for identification, 
assessment, monitoring, control and risk management.  

Risk identification and risk assessment is an ongoing process 
taking part in the Board of Directors, Executive Committee, 
Audit Committee, the external auditors and internal audit. Risks 
and mechanisms that allow its identification and assessment are 
described in the previous section. 

The monitoring, control and risk management is carried out 
continuously by the Executive Committee. The Audit Committee 
and External Auditor also conduct audits of the effectiveness 
of risk management, internal control and internal audit systems.
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55 Core details on the internal control and risk 
management systems implemented in the company 

regarding the procedure for reporting financial information  
(Article 245-A/1/m). 

The elements regarding the internal control and risk 
management systems are described in section 53. 

IV. INVESTOR ASSISTANCE   

56  Department responsible for investor assistance, 
composition, functions, the information made available 
by said department and contact details.  

The Company has an Investor Relations Office headed by the 
responsible for relations with the market.

Role of the Office:
• To provide all investors – corporate or particular – with the 

most complete and accurate information, in the strict respect 
for the applicable legislation, concerning the corporate 
structure of the Company and the Group, on the rights 
and duties of the shareholders in conformance with the 
legislation and the Company’s Articles of Association, on its 
financial and economic situation according to the disclosed 
elements and the indication of the probable calendar of the 
most relevant events of corporate initiative.

• To provide investors, in due respect for applicable legislation, 
with any additional or complementary information and 
clarification they may ask for. 

Type of information made available:
• Information published by the company with corporate 

or economic-financial nature, of at least in the last three 
years, in Portuguese and English.

• Any relevant fact that can influence the company activity, 
in Portuguese and English. 

Assess means to the office;
• By post: Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 - 9.º D, 1250-050  

Lisbon – Portugal
• By fax: + 351 21 382 30 16
• By telephone: + 351 21 382 30 07
• By e-mail: hugo.rua@inapa.pt
• By website: www.inapa.com
 

57 Market Liaison Officer.   

The Company’s representative for market relations is Mr. Hugo 
Duarte de Oliveira Rua.

58  Data on the extent and deadline for replying to the 
requests for information received throughout the year 
or pending from preceding years. 

The investor relations received 22 information requests, 
by email or phone, having answered all the requests in the same 
business day.

V. WEBSITE

59 Address (es).  

The corporate website on the internet is: www.inapa.com

60  Place where information on the firm, public company 
status, headquarters and other details referred 
to in Article 171 of the Commercial Companies Code 
is available. 

The information can be obtained in the company headquarters, 
Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 - 9.º D, 1250-050 Lisbon – Portugal.  
The information is also available in the company’s website  
www.inapa.com 

61  Place where the articles of association and regulations 
on the functioning of the boards and/or committees are 
available.  

The information can be obtained in the company headquarters, 
Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 - 9.º D, 1250-050 Lisbon – Portugal. 
The information is also available in the company’s website www.
inapa.com. 

62 Place where information is available on the names of the 
corporate boards’ members, the Market Liaison Officer, 

the Investor Assistance Office or comparable structure, respective 
functions and contact details.
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The information can be obtained in the company 
headquarters, Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 - 9.º D, 1250-050 Lisbon 
– Portugal. The information is also available in the company’s 
website www.inapa.com

63 Place where the documents are available and relate to 
financial accounts reporting, which should be accessible 

for at least five years and the half-yearly calendar on company events 
that is published at the beginning of every six months, including, inter 
alia, general meetings, disclosure of annual, half-yearly and where 
applicable, quarterly financial statements.

The information can be obtained in the company headquarters, 
Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 - 9.º D, 1250-050 Lisbon – Portugal.  
The information is also available in the company’s website  
(www.inapa.com) and the CMVM website (www.cmvm.pt). 

 

64  Place where the notice convening the general meeting 
and all the preparatory and subsequent information 
related thereto is disclosed.  

The information can be obtained in the company headquarters, 
Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 - 9.º D, 1250-050 Lisbon – Portugal. The 
information is also available in the company’s website  
(www.inapa.com) and the CMVM website (www.cmvm.pt). 

 

65 Place where the historical archive on the resolutions 
passed at the company’s General Meetings, share capital 

and voting results relating to the preceding three years are available.  

The information can be obtained in the company headquarters, 
Rua Braamcamp, n.º 40 - 9.º D, 1250-050 Lisbon – Portugal.  
The information is also available in the company’s website  
(www.inapa.com) and the CMVM website (www.cmvm.pt). 

D. REMUNERATION

I. POWER TO ESTABLISH

66 Details of the powers for establishing the remuneration 
of corporate boards, members of the executive committee 

or chief executive and directors of the company.   

The remuneration of the Governing Bodies is determined by:
• the Remunerations Committee; and
• the General Meeting.

The company considers its directors, according to paragraph 3 
of article 248 B from CVM, exclusively the members of the Board 
of Directors and Audit Committee.

II. REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

67 Composition of the remuneration committee, including 
details of individuals or legal persons recruited to provide 

services to said committee and a statement on the independence 
of each member and advisor.  

On the General Meeting of May 7, 2013 it was elected the 
following remunerations committee:

• Chairman: João Vieira de Almeida;
• Member: Millennium BCP, which nominated Pedro Vilas Boas 

as its representative;
• Member: Maria Isabel Baltazar Moreira da Silva Trindade 

Salgado.

All members of the Remunerations Committee are 
independent relatively to the members of the Board of Directors.

68 Knowledge and experience in remuneration policy issues 
by members of the Remuneration Committee. 

The elected members or entities of the Remunerations 
Committee have experience in the remunerations policy, as it can 
be verified by the curricula which was presented in the General 
Meeting, here transcript:
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JOÃO VIEIRA DE ALMEIDA
Academic qualifications

• Law Degree by University Católica
• Member of the Portuguese and Brazilian Bar Association

Professional qualifications
• Managing director of the firm Vieira de Almeida & Associados 

and partner co-responsable for the Corporate Finance e M&A 
area

• Lawyer in Vieira de Almeida & Associados (since 1985)

PEDRO MANUEL MACEDO VILAS BOAS
Academic qualifications

• Management and Administration Degree from the School 
of Economics and Business Sciences of the Portuguese 
Catholic University

• “PDO – Programa para Diretores Operacionais” (Program 
for operational managers) from the Catholic Lisbon School 
of Business and Economics

• “PADE – Progama de Alta Direção de Empresas” (Program 
for top management) from AESE – Business School 

Professional qualifications
• Central manager of BCP (Millennium bcp), responsible for 

the department of Specialized Monitoring
• Coordinator of the area of special projects in Millennium BCP
• Responsible for a department of Corporate Finance and for 

the Department of Relationship in Investment Banking

MARIA ISABEL BALTAZAR MOREIRA DA SILVA TRINDADE 
SALGADO
Academic qualifications

• Philosophy degree by Faculdade de Letras from Lisbon 
University

• Post-grad in education/organizational sciences and training 
assessement by Faculdade de Psicologia from Lisbon 
University, in collaboration with Université Pierre Mendès – 
Grenoble, France

• Professional training in general management, human 
resources, finance, law in public sector, training techniques, 
IT, modernization, quality and services evaluation, 
performance assessment and public procurement

Professional qualifications
• Deputy Secretary General of the Ministry of Agriculture, Sea, 

Environment and Spatial Planning (position currently holds) 
• Deputy Secretary General of the Ministry of Agriculture, 

Rural Development and Fisheries 
• General Secretary of the Ministry of Planning 
• Part of several committees and working groups in the fields 

of organic laws, establishing/restructuring of services, 
streamlining organizations and careers

III. REMUNERATION STRUCTURE

69  Description of the remuneration policy of the Board of 
Directors and Supervisory Boards as set out in Article 2 
of Law No. 28/2009 of 19 June. 

 The remuneration policy has been the object of a separate 
assessment by the General Meeting of May 7, 2015.

In such General Meeting, the following description 
on remuneration policy has been unanimously approved:

1.  The Remuneration Committee, elected on May 7, 2013, 
has competence to set the remunerations of the Governing 
Bodies for the mandate 2013-2015.

2.  In benefit of transparency and legitimization of the 
definition of the remunerations of the Governing bodies 
and to align with good pratices in corporate governance, 
the Remunerations Committee submits to the Annual 
General Meeting a document with the guidelines to set the 
remuneration of Inapa Governing Bodies:

a)  The remuneration of the members of the Board 
of Directors comprises exclusively a fixed sum, except 
in the case of the members of the Executive Committee 
that shall also have a variable component.  

b)  The Remunerations Committee stipulates the amount 
of the fixed sum in the remuneration of the Governing 
Bodies has to be included in the Governance Report. 

c)  The remuneration of the members of the Governing 
Bodies is determined based on general criteria: 
alignments of the remuneration with the interests 
of the Company’ Stakeholders, evaluation of the 
performance and financial conditions of the Group, 
justice and equilibrium on the evaluation and 
application. 

d)  The statutory account auditor will be remunerated in 
the terms and conditions that will be agreed between 
him and Inapa, in accordance with the market practices 
and legal and recommendation framework.

e)  The fixed remuneration of the Governing Bodies 
is maintained for the year of 2015, without prejudice 
of it is established in the legal norms that may say the 
opposite.
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f)  The setting of a variable component of the 
remuneration of the members of the Executive 
Committee should be based on the evaluation of their 
performance, following the criteria that consider the 
financial results improvement in line with the settled 
strategy and goals and the value creation for the 
shareholders;

g)  In case there is a variable component of the 
remuneration, it will be compose by two components;

i)  An annual component, based  on the annual goals 
achievement;

ii)  A pluri-annual component, based on mandate 
goals achievement (or on the years ok work, in case 
of a incomplete mandate).

h)  Considering the available information on the current 
situation of the Company, the relevant markets 
and the national and international economic 
environment, it is considered to temporarily maintain 
the exceptional restrictions on the remunerations 
in its variable component, not being attributed any 
variable remuneration or management bonuses to the 
Executive Committee relative to the year 2015.

The Remunerations Committee did not hire any individual 
or company to Support it in its role. 

70 Information on how remuneration is structured so as 
to enable the aligning of the interests of the members 

of the board of directors with the company’s long-term interests and 
how it is based on the performance assessment and how it discourages 
excessive risk taking.  

The remuneration of non-executive Directors does not 
establish any variable component.

The remuneration structure of the Executive Committee, 
described in the previous section has a fix and variable 
component, being the last one subdivided in an annual and 
pluri-annual component, in order to assure the alignment 
of interest of the Directors with the long term interest of the 
Company and discourage excessive risk taking.

71  Reference, where applicable, to there being a variable 
remuneration component and information on any impact 
of the performance appraisal on this component.  

 
The remuneration of executive directors has a variable 

component dependent on a performance assessment under the 
terms previously addressed. 

Notwithstanding what has been previously mentioned, 
the General Meeting has approved that, at exceptional level, 
no variable component of remuneration shall be distributed 
to executive Members.

72 The deferred payment of the remuneration’s variable 
component and specify the relevant deferral period.  

 
Notwithstanding what is referred regarding the suspension 

of the variable remuneration to the executive Directors, the 
variable remuneration should include a pluri-annual component, 
based on mandate goals achievement (or on the years that have 
been working, in case of an incomplete mandate).

The variable components are suspended, thus there will 
be no variable deferred payment.

73 The criteria whereon the allocation of variable 
remuneration on shares is based, and also on 

maintaining company shares that the executive directors have had 
access to, on the possible share contracts, including hedging or risk 
transfer contracts, the corresponding limit and its relation to the total 
annual remuneration value. 

 
The remuneration of executive Directors does not establish any 

component based in shares. 

The shares that are hold by directors do not result of any 
variable remuneration scheme.
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74  The criteria whereon the allocation of variable 
remuneration on options is based and details of the 
deferral period and the exercise price.  

 
The remuneration of executive Directors does not establish 

any component based in options. 

75  The key factors and grounds for any annual bonus 
scheme and any additional non-financial benefits. 

 
Notwithstanding the suspension of the variable remuneration, 

the parameters and fundamentals of bonus schemes to executive 
Directors system are mentioned in section 69.

76 Key characteristics of the supplementary pensions 
or early retirement schemes for directors and state 

date when said schemes were approved at the general meeting, 
on an individual basis.

There are no supplementary pensions or early retirement 
schemes for Board of Directors and Audit Committee members.

IV. REMUNERATION DISCLOSURE 

77 Details on the amount relating to the annual 
remuneration paid as a whole and individually 

to members of the company’s board of directors, including fixed and 
variable remuneration and as regards the latter, reference to the 
different components that gave rise to same.  

INAPA – IPG SUBSIDIARIES

Fixed 
Remuneration 

paid in 2015

Variable 
Remuneration 

in 2015

Fixed 
Remuneration 

paid in 2015

Variable 
Remuneration 

in 2015

Álvaro João Duarte Pinto Correia € 84,000 - - -

Diogo Francisco Bastos Mendes Rezende (co-optation in 29.07.2015) € 147,500

Arndt Jost Michael Klippgen € 10,500 - - -

António José Gomes da Silva Albuquerque € 259,000 - - -

Frederico João de Moser Lupi (co-optation in 01.10.2015) € 64,750

Emídio de Jesus Maria € 70,500 - - -

João Miguel Pacheco Sales Luís € 16,500 - - -

Gonçalo Faria de Carvalho € 16,500 - - -

José Manuel Félix Morgado (ceased functions in 30.06.2015) € 270,750 - - -

Jorge Manuel Viana de Azevedo Pinto Bravo (rceased functions in 31.08.2016) € 183,458 - - -
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78  Any amounts paid, for any reason whatsoever, by other 
companies in a control or group relationship, or are 
subject to a common control.  

 
No payments were done by other companies in a group 

relationship or controlled by the group are in common control.   

79  Remuneration paid in the form of profit sharing 
and/or bonus payments and the reasons for said bonuses 
or profit sharing being awarded. 

 
The remuneration scheme approved in the General Meeting 

does not establish any profit sharing. 

80  Compensation paid or owed to former executive 
directors concerning contract termination during 
the financial year. 

 
No compensation were paid to former executive directors nor 

are due compensations for the cessation of their duties during 
the last financial year. 

81  Details of the annual remuneration paid, as a whole and 
individually, to the members of the company’s supervisory 
board for the purposes of Law No. 28/2009 of 19 June.  

 
The Audit Committee members remunerations described 

under section 77.  

During 2015 the audit Committee member were:
• Emídio de Jesus Maria
• João Miguel Pacheco Sales Luís 
• Gonçalo Faria de Carvalho 

82  Details of the remuneration in said year of the 
Chairman of the Presiding Board to the General 
Meeting.  

Pursuant to a resolution of the Remunerations Committee 
dated May 21, 2008, and confirmed by the approval at the 
General Meeting of April 28, 2015 of the Declaration on the 
Remuneration Policy presented by the referred committee, 
the remuneration of the Chairman of the General Meeting 
of Shareholders is set at € 5,000,00 (five thousand Euros) 
payable for every meeting chaired.

During 2015 there was one General Meeting, for which it was 
paid as a remuneration € 5,000.00 (five thousand euros).

V. AGREEMENTS WITH 
REMUNERATION IMPLICATIONS  

83  The envisaged contractual restraints for compensation 
payable for the unfair dismissal of directors and the 
relevance thereof to the remunerations’ variable 
component.  

 
No contractual limitations have been establish to pay eventual 

compensations for the unfair dismissal of directors.  

On the adopted remunerations policy there have not been 
stated any mechanisms for anyone not requiring compensation 
or compensation, in addition to the legally due.

84 Reference to the existence and description, with 
details of the sums involved, of agreements between 

the company and members of the board of directors and managers, 
pursuant to Article 248-B/3 of the Securities Code that envisages 
compensation in the event of resignation or unfair dismissal 
or termination of employment following a takeover bid.  
(Article 245-A/1/l)).  

No agreements between the Company and members of the 
Board of Directors and/or senior management containing 
provisions on the payment of compensations upon resignation, 
unfair dismissal or termination of employment following a 
change in the company’s controlling shareholder are in force.

VI. SHARE-ALLOCATION AND/OR 
STOCK OPTION PLANS 

85 Details of the plan and the number of persons included 
therein.  

The Company does not have any share-allocation or stock 
option scheme to award shares in the capital of the Company 
to its governing bodies or personnel.
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86 Characteristics of the plan (allocation conditions, 
non-transfer of share clauses, criteria on share-pricing 

and the exercising option price, the period during which the options 
may be exercised, the characteristics of the shares or options to be 
allocated, the existence of incentives to purchase and/or exercise 
options). 

 
The Company does not have any share-allocation or stock 

option scheme to award shares in the capital of the Company 
to its governing bodies or personnel.

87 Stock option plans for the company employees and staff.
 

The Company does not have any share-allocation or stock 
option scheme to award shares in the capital of the Company 
to its governing bodies or personnel.

88 Control mechanisms for a possible employee-shareholder 
system inasmuch as the voting rights are not directly 

exercised by said employees (Article 245-A/1/e).   

The Company does not have any share-allocation or stock 
option scheme to award shares in the capital of the Company 
to its governing bodies or personnel and has no control 
mechanisms in case of eventual voting rights exercised 
by employees.

E. Related Party 
Transactions 

I. CONTROL MECHANISMS  
AND PROCEDURES 

89  Mechanisms implemented by the Company for the 
purpose of controlling transactions with related parties 
(For said purpose, reference is made to the concept 
resulting from IAS 24).  

 
The Board of Directors of Inapa – Investimentos, Participações 

e Gestão, SA has approved, on proposal of the Audit Committee, 
regulations related to business deals to be carried out between 
the Company and entity relationships with the former.

For purposes of the aforementioned regulations, the 
owners of qualifying holdings or entity relationships as well 
as the Company board members and/or of its subsidiaries are 
considered, under the terms of Article 20 of the CVM (Securities 
Code).

With such regulations it has been defined, as object of specific 
supervisory duties of the Audit Committee, the deals carried out 
between those entities and the Company and/or its subsidiary 
companies establishing three supervisory actions:

• Previous binding recommendation;
• Previous recommendation;
• A posteriori appraisal.

Under the terms of the referred regulations, the deals to be 
carried out between the Company board members and/or of 
its subsidiary companies with the Company or subsidiaries, 
are subjected to previous and binding recommendation of the 
Audit Committee, with exception of the deals within the scope 
of the company’s business itself, in which no special advantage 
is granted to the persons in question.

The relevant deals or transactions to be carried out between 
the Company and/or its subsidiary companies with owners 
of qualifying holdings or entity relationships with the former 
are subjected to previous recommendation, in conformance with 
Article 20 of CVM (Securities Code).

Given the situation of the Company and its subsidiary 
companies, and following an advice of the External Auditor, 
the following limits have been fixed, after which the business 
or transactions are deemed as significantly relevant: 
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Notwithstanding the aforementioned criteria, the deals 
or transactions with owners of qualifying holdings or 
entity relationships with the former that, due to its nature, 
value or conditions may have particular relevance in terms 
of transparency and/or conflict of interests, are also subject 
to a previous recommendation of the Audit Committee.

Finally, it is stated in the referred regulations that all 
transactions with entities having a relationship with the 
Company that do not require a previous recommendation 
of the Audit Committee (either binding or not) are compulsorily 
submitted to the appraisal by this supervisory body and, for this 
effect, shall be notified up to the end of the month subsequent 
to said transactions.

In addition, the regulations stipulate that the Audit 
Committee shall deem the reasonability and transparency of the 
business and transactions submitted to its appraisal, namely 
in what regards to pursuing the interests of the Company and 
its subsidiary companies, taking into account the normal market 
conditions where such operations are carried out and that 
they do not provide, directly or indirectly, a more favourable 
treatment than the one obtained by third parties under equal 
circumstances and, in the case of owners of qualifying holdings 
or entity relationships with the former, an unfair treatment in 
relation to the other shareholders. 

TYPE OF TRANSACTION LIMIT

Purchasing and selling of goods and services € 750,000

Financial investments € 5,000,000

Loans and other type of funding, excluding simple renewals € 10,000,000

Other transactions € 500,000

90 Details of transactions that were subject to control 
in the referred year.  

 
Review the financing lines granted by Banco Comercial 

Português to Inapa Portugal – Distribuição de Papel, SA 
of € 7,290,435.11 of i) one leasing contract and credit lines of 
€ 3,490,435.11 and ii) overdrafts of € 3,800,000.00 – approved 
by the Audit Commission on the meeting of May 21, 2015.

General framework of the Memorandum of Understanding 
with Banco Comercial Português by which it was established 
the terms and conditions for reviewing the terms of funding 
granted to this company and its subsidiaries Inapa Portugal 
– Distribuição de Papel, SA, Inapa France, SAS and Inapa 
Deutschland, GmbH – generic approval from the Audit 
Commission, without prejudice to the specific assessment  
of each of the contracts that may execute it.

91 A description of the procedures and criteria applicable 
to the supervisory body when same provides preliminary 

assessment of the business deals to be carried out between the 
company and the holders of qualifying holdings or entity-relationships 
with the former, as envisaged in Article 20 of the Securities Code. 

The procedures and criteria are described in section 89.

II. DATA ON BUSINESS DEALS 

  

92 Details of the place where the financial statements 
including information on business dealings with related 

parties are available, in accordance with IAS 24, or alternatively 
a copy of said data.   

The information about business deals with related parties 
is described on note 34 to the consolidated financial statements 
of the company.

E. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
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We invite you to see our memories heritage that 
perpetuates five decades of achievements. Images 
that reveal people, decisions and achievements that 
contributed to build the Inapa that we know today.



2

The image you see in this mirror 
reflects the enormous pride we have 
in you. The contribution, commitment 
and confidence that you have always 
placed in us.

The history of Inapa was built with the participation  
of numerous people: employees, customers, suppliers,  
partners and shareholders. 

Looking 
to the future 
together

In the following pages, we recall some of the main steps of Inapa 
over these five decades. 
We count on your contribution to continue together this success 
story.
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1 From left to right: Joaquim Rasteiro  
and Vasco Quevedo Pessanha, Inapa’s founders. 
2 April 1967. Exterior view of Socel factory. Situated 
in Setúbal, Inapa’s factory was created with a pulp producer 
of Socel, the company that gave rise later to what is now 
the Navigator Company. 
3 1972. 10 shares title.
4 The first collaborators of the Inapa to pack the paper 
dreams.

1

2

4

1965-1974
The Startup of the Paper Mill

INAPA, an acronym for National Paper Industry, was born 
following the industrialist outbreak of the 60’s, by the hand of 
two visionaries of the paper and pulp industry, Joaquim Rasteiro 
and Vasco Quevedo Pessanha, who proposed a project that would 
make a major overhaul in the paper industry.

The project included the integration of pulp industries (made 
by few companies, large and modern) and paper (made by many 
companies, small and generally obsolete) in one.

Joaquim Rasteiro invited all paper mills to integrate the project, 
but most of them declined. Nevertheless, Inapa was incorporated 
as a society, taking the first major step towards the start of the 
first paper mill on a large scale in Portugal, downstream of Socel 
pulp mill, which began its operations in February 1969.

1965-1974: THE STARTUP OF THE PAPER MILL

3
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on this page 
1 First paper cutters.   
2 Overview of the first paper machine.
3 Opening Inapa’s Factory. 
4 Exportation Inapa’s paper. 
5 First paper expeditions. 

on the right page
6 Expedition of Inapa’s paper. 

1

5
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1965-1974: THE STARTUP OF THE PAPER MILL
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1974-1987
The Time of Adulthood 

After the 25th of April of 1974, the government in Portugal 
nationalized some companies in the private sector, particularly 
in the pulp industry. Five companies of the industry, including 
Socel, merged into a single company – PORTUCEL – Company 
of Pulp and Paper in Portugal.

Despite the industry context, INAPA has retained its private 
company status.

In the following years with the internal market retraction 
and excessive state interventionism, INAPA has focused 
on exportation, and strengthening its commercial side. It has 
modernized its production capacity through the acquisition 
of a new paper machine. They made up new partnerships. 
New solutions were produced as coated papers, and has 
embarked on, the process of diversification of activity.

In 1979, INAPA celebrated its 10th anniversary of manufacturing 
activity. Increasing results showed that the company has reached 
the age of adulthood in their management model.

In 1980, INAPA was admitted to listing on Euronext Lisbon.
1

2

1 Paper machine roll.  
2 1980. Inspecting the coated paper. 
Manuel Cardoso (head of production Parel).
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4

5

6

3 1980. The start of Paper Machine 2. From left to right: 
João Sá Nogueira (Director of Production Services),  
Manuel Pais (Head of Production), Corte Real  
(Services Conservation).
4, 5 and 6 February 16, 1979. Exhibition’s photo  
of 10 years of factory activity.

1974-1987: THE TIME OF ADULTHOOD
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on this page
1 1980. Paper Machine 2.
2 and 3 February 16, 1979. 10th anniversary of the paper mill. 
Delivery of the medals to older employees.
4 1983. Inacópia reams of paper.   
5 Early 80’s. View of the manufacturing facilities of Parel (left), 
Inapa (center), Portucel Setúbal (former Socel) right.   

on the right page 
6 February 16, 1979. 10th anniversary of the paper mill.  
From left to right: Vasco Quevedo Pessanha, Fernando Cruz, 
Júlio Ferreira Lopes.

4

2

1

3

5
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1988-2000
The Group

The evolution of the political situation and the Portuguese 
economy, with the accession of Portugal to the European 
Economic Community (EEC) have facilitated corporate 
reorganizations in general, and INAPA in particular.
 
The diversity of activities carried out by the company  
led to a reorganization of the group, which started  
to be called INAPA – Investimentos, Participações e Gestão , SA. 
(INAPA – IPG), becoming an holding company which coordinates 
the development and management of the operational companies. 

The 90’s represented a process of metamorphosis for the Group. 
INAPA, which before had been a successful company in a national 
horizon, had extended its geographical frontiers and gained 
a European dimension.

In 2000, the Group sells its industrial assets, ceasing the paper 
production to be dedicated only to the paper distribution. 

1

2

1 1990. Paper Machine 3. During this time, the production 
of Inapa reached its capacity limit and studies were developed 
to better understand how it would be the best way to expand 
and optimize the manufacturing facilities. Inapa has invested 
on a new paper machine, Paper Machine 3.  
2 1990. Control room of Paper Machine 3.  
3 1990. Aerial view of industrial facilities.

3
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BLÁ BLÁ

4 1990.Construction of robotized warehouse.  
5 1996. Paper winding in Paper Machine 3.  
6 1997. Ranholas, Sintra. New facilities in conclusion.
7 1998. Ranholas, Sintra. Views of the warehouse. 

1988-2000: THE GROUP

7

6

4
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on the left page 
1 July 1991. Papéis Inapa, 25th anniversary of Inapa. 
From left to right: João Sá Nogueira, Mário Ramirez, 
José Maria Avillez, Joaquim Rasteiro, Vasco Quevedo 
Pessanha, Fernando Cruz. 
2 October 1996. Theater Luísa Todi – Setúbal. Award Gold 
Medal of the City to the President of Inapa.

on this page 
3 November 1992. SDP Commercial Meeting in Luso. 
4 1995. Nortepapel. Facilities in Bilbao.
5 1996. Filgráfica, stand of the Inapa Group.
6 1996. Papéis Inapa: Company’s day.
7 1998. The leading French distributor group, 
Mafipa – Facilities of Navarre, outside Paris.
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2001-2015
The Multinational

Over the years, the geographical boundaries of the Group 
expanded and the business strategy has changed, focusing on 
paper distribution, and in two complementary business areas: 
Packaging and Visual Communication.

INAPA is now the only Portuguese multinational of the paper 
industry holding a leading position in the markets in which 
it operates: Germany, France, Spain, Portugal, Switzerland, 
Belgium, Luxembourg, Turkey and Angola.

Although the Group has its headquarters and centre of decision 
in Portugal, most of its revenue comes from operations in other 
European countries.

1

1 30th of March of 2000. Papéis Inapa, day of the 
transmission of powers to Portucel. Vasco Pessanha with 
the principal members of the executive board of Inapa 
papers. 
2 March 2005. Igol meeting (Inapa Group Own Label) 
at the headquarters of Inapa in Lisbon.
3 September 2010. Inapa Top Management Meeting.
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4

4 Map of current operations.  
5 Paper Business.
6 Packaging Business.
7 Visual Communication Business. 

2000-2015: THE MULTINATIONAL

5 6

7

TURQUIA

ALEMANHA

SUÍÇA

ESPANHA

FRANÇA

BÉLGICA
LUXEMBURGO

PORTUGAL

ANGOLA

Chapter printed in Lumiart 130 g/m2 221



on this page 
1 Inapa Portugal.  
2 Inapa Spain. 
3 Inapa France. 
4 Korda – Turkey.
5 Inapa Switzerland.
6 Paper Union – Germany.

7 Packaging Germany. 
8 Complott – Germany. 
9 Inapa Belgium.

on the right page 
10 Interior view of the paper 
warehouse.

1

1

2
3

65
4

7 8 9

222

INAPA ANNUAL REPORT 2015
5 DECADES OF ACHIEVEMENTS



10

2000-2015: THE MULTINATIONAL

223Chapter printed in Lumiart 130 g/m2



HARD COVER Ensocoat 1 face 250 g/m2 

END LEAVES Pop’Set Cactus Green 120 gr 

CHAPTER 1 Separator Insize Modigliani Candido 200 g/m2 

CHAPTER 1 Inner pages Lumiart 130 g/m2 

CHAPTER 2 Separator Curious Metallics Virtual Pearl 240 g/m2 

CHAPTER 2 Inner pages Munken Kristall 120 g/m2 

CHAPTER 3 Separator Conqueror Smooth Liso Diamante 220 g/m2 

CHAPTER 3 Inner pages Inaset Plus Offset 120 g/m2 

CHAPTER 4 Separator Insize Modigliani Candido 200 g/m2 

CHAPTER 4 Inner pages Munken Kristall 120 g/m2 

CHAPTER 5 Separator Curious Metallics Virtual Pearl 240 g/m2 

CHAPTER 5 Inner pages Lumiart 130 g/m2 

Design Dimensão Global – Comunicação, Design e Sistemas de Informação

Printing GRAFISOL – Artes Gráficas
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